
Service Director – Legal, Governance and
Commissioning
Julie Muscroft

The Democracy Service

Civic Centre 3

High Street

Huddersfield

HD1 2TG

Tel: 01484 221000 

Please ask for: Jenny Bryce-Chan

Email: jenny.bryce-chan@kirklees.gov.uk

Wednesday 14 November 2018

Notice of Meeting
Dear Member

Health and Wellbeing Board

The Health and Wellbeing Board will meet in the Reception Room  - Town 
Hall, Dewsbury at 2.15 pm on Thursday 22 November 2018.

The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details.

Julie Muscroft
Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning

Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



The Health and Wellbeing Board members are:-

Member
Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair)
Councillor Donna Bellamy
Councillor Viv Kendrick
Councillor Musarrat Khan
Councillor Kath Pinnock
Dr David Kelly
Carol McKenna
Dr Steve Ollerton
Richard Parry
Rachel Spencer-Henshall
Fatima Khan-Shah
Steve Walker
Helen Wright



Agenda
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached

Pages

1:  Membership of the Board/Apologies

This is where members who are attending as substitutes will say for 
whom they are attending.

Contact: Jenny Bryce-Chan, Principal Governance Officer, Tel: 
01484 221000

2:  Minutes of previous meeting

To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Board held on 6 
September 2018.

Contact: Jenny Bryce-Chan, Principal Governance Officer, Tel: 
01484 221000

1 - 6

3:  Interests

The Board Members will be asked to say if there are any items on 
the Agenda in which they have disclosable pecuniary interests, 
which would prevent them from participating in any discussion of the 
items or participating in any vote upon the items, or any other 
interest.

7 - 8

4:  Admission of the Public

Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private.



5:  Deputations/Petitions

The Board will receive any petitions and hear any deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities.

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10 (2), Members of the 
Public should provide at least 24 hours’ notice of presenting a 
deputation.  

6:  Public Question Time

The Board will hear any questions from the general public.

7:  Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 
2017-2018

This report presents for information the 2017/18 Kirklees 
Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report.

Contact: Mike Houghton-Evans, Independent Chair of the Adults 
Safeguarding Board.

9 - 56

8:  Housing & Health

To receive a presentation on the role of housing in integrated health 
and social care.

Contact: Naz Parkar, Service Director for Housing. Tel: 01484 
221000

9:  Updated Kirklees Joint Strategic Assessment (KJSA) 
Overview 2018/19

To present to the Board the updated ‘Kirklees Overview’ 2018/19 
which will replace the previous Kirklees Overview (2017/18) and 
summarises the key population health and wellbeing issues and 
challenges for Kirklees.

Contact: Owen Richardson, Health Intelligence, Senior Project 
Officer. Tel: 01484 221000

57 - 58



10:  Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) 
Local Transformation Plan Refresh

The Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Board are requested to approve 
the draft 2018 Kirklees CAMHS Local Transformation Plan Refresh.

Contact: Tom Brailsford, Head of Joint Commissioning – Children. 
Tel: 01484 221000

59 - 180



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Contact Officer: Jenny Bryce-Chan 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Thursday 6th September 2018

Present:
Councillor Donna Bellamy
Councillor Viv Kendrick
Councillor Kath Pinnock
Councillor Cathy Scott
Dr David Kelly
Carol McKenna
Dr Steve Ollerton
Richard Parry
Rachel Spencer-Henshall
Fatima Khan-Shah
Helen Wright
Jacqui Gedman

In attendance: Lucy Cole, Project Lead (Kirklees Health and Wellbeing 
Plan)
Rachael Loftus, Head of Regional Partnerships
Steve Brennan, Senior Responsible Officer, Working 
Together
Phil Longworth, Health Policy Officer

Observers: Catherine Riley, Calderdale and Huddersfield Foundation 
Trust
Jane Close, Locala
Chris Walker – Attain
John Keaveny – SWYFT
Matt England – Mid Yorkshire Hospital NHS Trust

Apologies: Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair)
Kathryn Hilliam

12 Membership of the Board/Apologies
Apologies were received from the following Board members:-  Cllr Shabir Pandor 
and Katherine Hilliam.

13 Minutes of previous meeting
That the minutes of the meeting held on the 28 June 2018 be approved as a correct 
record.

14 Interests
No Interest were declared.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2:



Health and Wellbeing Board -  6 September 2018

2

15 Admission of the Public
All agenda items be considered in public session.

16 Deputations/Petitions
The Board considered a written submission from Christine Hyde, North Kirklees 
Support the NHS.

17 Public Question
No questions were asked.

18 Kirklees Health & Wellbeing Plan
Lucy Cole, Project Lead (Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan) attended the meeting 
to present the draft Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan (2018 – 2023) to the Board 
for endorsement.  The plan will be a key document for the Health and Wellbeing 
Board with the priorities informing the agenda of the Board going forward.

The plan outlines the planned objectives and key planned interventions and 
programmes of work for each of the four population cohorts.  The cohorts include:

- Living well – this segment of the population are largely healthy and 
maintaining their own health and wellbeing, they may be subject to some risk 
factors – behavioural (e.g. smoking, poor diet) or social (e.g. poor housing) 

- Independent – 84% of people over 50 have a long term condition, which they 
are managing alone and there is a huge population of unpaid carers

- Complex - this group has a number of complex needs and consume a large 
amount of resources across multiple agencies. 

- Acute and urgent – at any one time, anyone may require an urgent or acute 
intervention, this should be provided in the right environment by the right 
professional, meeting the need as quickly as possible

The Board was informed that there are five shared priorities for the Kirklees 
population within the plan:-

- Creating communities where people can start well, live well and age well
- Creating integrated person-centred support for the most complex individuals
- Developing people
- Developing estates
- Harnessing digital solutions

Through the delivery of these priorities the aim is to make a real impact, on making 
healthy weight the norm for the population, increasing the proportion of people who 
feel connected and reducing the prevalence of mental health and social isolation 
and narrowing the gap in healthy life expectancy.

The approach will be working with nine local communities of approximately 30,000 – 
50,000 across Kirklees, bringing together the NHS, social care, wider council 
services and the voluntary and community sector.

Page 2



Health and Wellbeing Board -  6 September 2018

3

The Board was advised that once the plan had been endorsed it would then be 
submitted to each organisation to present to their individual governance structures 
for approval.

The Board raised a number of questions in respect of the plan including whether 
there would be a shorter public facing document and in response was advised that a 
shorter public version of the document would be produced.

The Board questioned how it would be possible to ensure that there was equality of 
provision considering the diverse nature of the communities in Kirklees.  In 
response, the Board was informed that it was not about trying to draw new 
boundaries and there was still some work to do. Partners aimed to tailor services to 
meet the needs of the diverse communities recognising that there are dotted line 
community boundaries and communities are not always easy to define.  

Board members stated that adult social care was working in four locality teams and 
children services was also working in the same way, therefore how would working in 
nine local communities, support the four locality teams approach.  This was 
recognised but noted that all services needed some geographical boundary to 
effectively organise services, but that in practice, these would be flexible to meet the 
needs of local communities and maintain important relationships between 
professionals. The Board will have an overview to ensure that there are no gaps in 
service or support as a result of working to different geographical configurations. 

The Board felt that the plan needed to go further and address issues in respect of 
safe affordable housing with clarity on the term ‘affordable’, the aspirations and 
reality of healthy weight becoming the norm and air quality.  The Board also felt that 
there needed to be more depth about the diversity of Kirklees.

Ms Cole advised that the plan would be amended to incorporate the comments and 
suggestions made by the Board and any further comments could be submitted 
directly by email.  The amended plan would be circulated to Board members.

The Board commented that it was a good piece of work and thanked Ms Cole for the 
work and presenting the plan.  

RESOLVED - That the Board endorses the Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan and 
the plan moving into the implementation phase subject to the agreed changes.

19 Update on Integration of Health and Social Care Commissioning and Service 
delivery
Steve Brennan, Senior Responsible Officer, Working Together and Phil Longworth, 
Health Policy Officer provided the Board with an overview of the work undertaken 
over the last few months. The Board was reminded that it had previously received 
several updates on the ongoing work to integrate health and social care 
commissioning and integration. 

The Board was advised that work is progressing well and the main arrangements 
that had been put in place to oversee integrated commissioning and service delivery 
are the Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB) and the Kirklees Integrated Provider 

Page 3



Health and Wellbeing Board -  6 September 2018

4

Board (KIPB). These are supported by the Kirklees Health and Care Executive 
Group, in addition there are the existing Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Board 
arrangements.

To date, KIPB has had four meetings. It is still in its formative stages and will be 
working up formal terms of reference. Its aim is to change the relationship between 
commissioners and providers by supporting them to work together in a more 
integrated way, by joining up services and care around the needs of patients. It has 
identified areas where providers can work together to make a significant difference 
to integrating services over the next 6-9 months.

The development of Primary Care Networks is one of the key pieces of work that 
KIPB is undertaking.

To realise the vision for integrated commissioning a number of interventions have 
been identified for example, building on what is working well. There are a number of 
existing programmes which already have collaborative working.

The Board was informed that there are seven outcomes for Kirklees

- Children – have the best start in life
- Healthy – people in Kirklees are as well as possible for as long as possible
- Achievement – People in Kirklees have aspiration and achieve their 

ambitions through education, training, employment and lifelong learning
- Safe and Cohesive – people in Kirklees live in cohesive communities, feel 

safe and are protect from harm
- Economic – Kirklees has sustainable economic growth and provides good 

employment for and with communities and businesses
- Clean and Green – people in Kirklees experience a high quality, clean and 

green environment
- Independent – people in Kirklees live independently and have control over 

their lives

RESOLVED - That the Board:

- Notes the contents of the report
- Supports the ongoing work outlined in the report
- Approves the Kirklees Integrated Commissioning Strategy, subject to 

endorsement from the Integrated Commissioning Board
- Receives further updates on progress

20 Integrated Care System Development
Rachael Loftus, Head of Regional Partnerships advised the Board that Kirklees has 
been part of the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health Care Partnership since its 
inception as a Sustainability and Transformation Plan in March 2016.

In October 2017, it was agreed that a Memorandum of Understanding should be 
developed to describe the type of relationship commitment, working arrangements 
and to support the next stage of the Partnerships development.  

Page 4



Health and Wellbeing Board -  6 September 2018

5

The MOU was drafted by a working group of colleagues from across Local 
Government and the NHS.   All partners are clear that the next phase of partnership 
working is about the right systematic leadership for integration across health and 
care from across all the organisations that make up the partnership. 

RESOLVED - That the Memorandum of Understanding be circulated to Board 
members to take through their individual governance structures.

21 Director of Public Health Annual Report
Rachel Spencer-Henshall, Strategic Director Corporate Strategy and Public Health, 
presented the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018 (Ageing Well in 
Kirklees), explaining that it is a statutory requirement to write an annual report on 
the health of the population.  

The Board was informed that the report has been presented in a visually engaging 
infographic format, underpinned by an outcomes-based, asset-based and life course 
approach.  It highlights inequalities whilst also celebrating and promoting inclusion 
and diversity and includes information regarding the local population focussing on 
people aged 50 and over.

The report is sub-divided into four key sections, healthy people, care and support, 
good communities and working longer.  Each section provides an illustrative 
example of how an issues impacts across the life course, a ‘Kirklees snapshot’ 
using the latest local data and intelligence; information on local assets; and a series 
of next steps for improving local understanding and taking action.

The Board was pleased to see the focus on Alzheimer’s disease and the modifiable 
factors that people can affect from a younger age. 

The Board asked about evidence of intergenerational work and in response was 
advised that this is an area for data development as although the initial evidence is 
promising, a clear case needs to be made and this will be a focus. 

The Board was advised that the Annual Report would progress through governing 
bodies and full council.

RESOLVED - That the Board endorses a more positive and affirming view of ageing 
and use the intelligence from the report to support a system-wide, evidence and 
asset based approach to healthy ageing.

22 Winter Review
Phil Longworth, Health Policy Officer reminded the Board that in March 2018,  the 
Board supported the proposals to undertake a Kirklees health and social care 
system wide review of local experiences over winter 2017/18.   The review aimed to 
identify the key learning points and propose actions to improve outcomes and 
system efficiency and effectiveness.  

The proposed approach was based on the model being used by Care Quality 
Commission (CQC), in their Local System Reviews.  The review focused on in depth 
interviews with people from across the Kirklees health and social care system and 

Page 5



Health and Wellbeing Board -  6 September 2018

6

more than 40 people were interviewed individually and in groups.  An interim 
progress report was presented to the Board in June 2018.  

The Board was informed that there has been significant positive progress in relation 
to several of the issues highlighted through the review including building more 
positive relationships across the system. There are eight ’high impact changes’ for 
improving patient flow and key service developments such as an integrated model 
of intermediate care and re-ablement.  There are however still challenges such as: 
understanding the pressure on out-of-hospital services, especially primary care, 
community health services and social care; maintaining a focus on prevention and 
person centred care planning, and hearing the patient, user, carer voice.

It was recognised that the issues and solutions around winter pressures across 
health and social care were also experienced at various times throughout the year, 
and much of the planning and service improvements should not just focus on the 
winter period.

RESOLVED - That the Board notes the positive progress in responding to the 
lessons learnt and endorses the next steps.

Page 6



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
H

EA
LT

H
 A

N
D

 W
EL

L 
B

EI
N

G
 B

O
A

R
D

 
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3:



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 8



  

KIRKLEES HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

MEETING DATE:  22 NOVEMBER 2018 

TITLE OF PAPER:   Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2017 -2018 

1. Purpose of paper 

To present the Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2017/18  

2. Background  

2.1 The Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board (KSAB) is a statutory strategic partnership which 
brings together the main organisations working with adults at risk of abuse or neglect. 
Hence, its membership includes: the Council, West Yorkshire Police, NHS organisations 
and West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service. Its core purpose is to help and protect adults 
at risk in its area. 

2.2 In 2015 the board appointed its first Independent Chair and, in accordance with Care Act 
guidance, the Independent Chair of the KSAB reports quarterly to the Council’s Chief 
Executive on the work of the board.  

2.3 The arrangements for lay membership on the Board had been strengthened and recruited 
a second lay member. The aim was to give greater emphasis to this role and its value in 
providing critical challenge to decision-making, provide a service user and carer 
perspective and play an active role in the work of the Board, including supporting our 
Independent Chair at number of high profile events. One lay member was also on the 
Board of Healthwatch and was able to provide useful links to that organisation. Tragically 
we lost a long-standing lay member through illness and attempts to recruit were 
unsuccessful. This has led us to reconsider the Board approach to engagement and there 
is now consideration to establish a more formal reference group including users by 
experience. 

2.4 Individual Board members take responsibility for reporting through their own 
organisations, including the submission of annual progress reports to their executive 
management body/board. This is to ensure that Adult Safeguarding requirements are 
integrated into their organisation’s overall approach to service provision and service 
development. 

2.5 Each organisation actively plans and monitors its work around safeguarding, which 
contributes to evidence for the Board’s performance framework and the Board’s annual 
challenge event. The Board seeks assurance for their approach to safeguarding adults 
through the board meetings, delivery group,sub groups and challenge events.  

2.6 The principal purpose of the Board’s annual report is to identify progress made over the 
past 12 months against the intentions laid out in the Board’s Strategic Plan1 (which is a 
rolling 3-year plan updated annually alongside the Board’s annual report) which lays out 
the board’s work programme for the next 12 months. 

 

 

 

                                                      

1 http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/adult-social-care-providers/pdf/kirklees-safeguarding-adults-board-strategic-plan.pdf 

 Page 9

Agenda Item 7:

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/adult-social-care-providers/pdf/kirklees-safeguarding-adults-board-strategic-plan.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/adult-social-care-providers/pdf/kirklees-safeguarding-adults-board-strategic-plan.pdf


  
 

3. Proposal  

3.1 The document is being presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board as it is the forum 
where key leaders from the health and social care system in Kirklees work together to 
improve the health and wellbeing of the people in their area, reduce health inequalities 
and promote the integration of services.  

3.2 As part of this role the Health and Wellbeing Board receives the KSAB Annual which helps 
to further develop a shared understanding of the Board’s responsibilities and priorities 
and promote a relationship where issues of common interest and concern are shared and 
challenged, in a constructive and mutually supportive way. 

4. Financial Implications 

 None.   

5. Sign off  

 Richard Parry, Strategic Director for Adults and Health  

6. Next Steps 

6.1 The report was presented to the Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Panel on 6 
November 2018. The Panel, which is made up of democratically elected members and 
members of the public who volunteer to sit with Councillors on the Panel, has the powers 
to: 

 Hold decision makers to account 

 Challenge and improve performance 

 Support improvement that achieves better outcomes and value for money 

 Influence decision makers with evidence based recommendations 

 Bring in the views and evidence of stakeholders, users and citizens  

6.2 Panel members have a unique role to act across the whole health and social care economy. 
They are responsible for holding decision makers (i.e. the Health and Wellbeing Board, the 
Council, Clinical Commissioning Groups, NHS England and providers), to account. 

7. Recommendations 

 To receive the Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2017/18  

8. Contact Officer 

 Mike Houghton-Evans, Independent Chair, Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board. 

 

Page 10



 
 

1 
 

 

  

Annual report 
2017 - 2018 

Page 11



2 
 

 

  

 

Contents 
 
Introduction from the Chair 

 

Page 
 

3 

Kirklees 4 

Governance and accountability 5 

Our members 6 

Our vision 8 

Our key priorities 10 

Board activity, achievements and progress in 2017/18 13 

1  Leadership and collaboration 13 

2  Assurance that adults are safeguarded and supported to have choice 19 

3  Preventative Strategies 22 

4  Multi-agency workforce development and specialist training 26 

5  Effectiveness of partners’ safeguarding arrangements 29 

Agency achievements 34 

Appendices  

1. Safeguarding concerns and Deprivation of Liberty information 38 

2. Strategic Plan Overview 2018-21 43 

3. Board Members 44 

  

Page 12



3 
 

Introduction from the Chair 

 

This annual report identifies progress made over the past 12 

months against the intentions we have laid out in the 

strategic plan and to lay out our work programme for the 

next 12 months against our updated 3-year strategic plan. 

 

Over the next year we will be focusing on the following: 

 Use of data and better evaluation of the safeguarding 
effectiveness for individuals, and our own 
effectiveness as a board.  Our performance 
framework is being refined to enable the board to 
focus on key priority areas. 

 Making safeguarding personal is a key priority and we want to do better at 
understanding on how safeguarding interventions are effecting outcomes for adults 
who experience abuse and neglect 

 Continued strong collaboration with Kirklees other strategic partnerships and 
community engagement on transition issues and other areas of common ground 
relating to safety and community wellbeing. 

 

It is essential that the board continues to provide even-handed and objective oversight, and 
challenges wherever issues of poor practice and unsatisfactory outcomes are identified. We 
are clear about our function as system leaders with others to work towards achieving our 
primary aim to keep the people of Kirklees safe. As an outward facing board we are 
committed to collaborative ways of working. 
 
This Annual Report will be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board and Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel. Board members will take it through their own governance boards and in 
addition, as required by the Care Act 2014, it will be shared with the Chief Executive and the 
leader of the local authority, the local policing body and Healthwatch Kirklees. 
 
 
 
 

 

Mike Houghton-Evans 
Independent Chair 
  

Back to contents 

Page 13



4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Talking about Kirklees 
 
Around 437,000 people live in Kirklees (2017). It encompasses the two major centres of Huddersfield 

and Dewsbury, and smaller towns of Batley, Birstall, Cleckheaton, Denby Dale, Heckmondwike, 

Holmfirth, Kirkburton, Marsden, Meltham, Mirfield and Slaithwaite. It is a place where:  

• The population has increased by 11.5% since 2002, (9.1% from 2005) and is projected to rise by a 

further 5.1% by 2030 (6% by 2033).  

• Projected increases are largest in 16-24 and the over 65s, particularly 85 and over.  

• Over three-quarters of the population are of White British ethnicity.  

• One in ten people is of Pakistani ethnicity.  

• Life expectancy is increasing but there are inequalities – those in the least deprived areas live 

longer than those in more deprived areas.  

• Demand for suitable and affordable accommodation outstrips supply.  

• Asylum Seekers and European economic migrants are contributing to the emergence of new 

communities within Kirklees, though indications are that migration from the EU has declined in the 

last two years.  

 

There are a number of significant factors affecting local health and wellbeing of these people. These 

include the economic challenges facing the country and impact on those who are more vulnerable; 

the increasing numbers of older people and their needs for care and support. 1 in 6 adults in Kirklees 

are carers. 

 

Kirklees Council and its Partners have developed two important strategies to respond to these 

challenges, and the opportunities available as well, The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 

and the Kirklees Economic Strategy (KES). 

 

These two strategies set their own priorities and actions. They cover different ground and do 

different things, yet are connected.  

 

At the heart of both is commitment to achieve a shared aim, that, ‘No matter where they live, 

people in Kirklees live their lives confidently, in better health, for longer and experience less 

inequality’.  

 

It aims for people to have control and manage life challenges, be resilient and feel connected to 

others, and for them feel safe and included. The Kirklees Adults Board has its Strategic Plan, as 

required by the Care Act 2014, which takes into account this local background and context. 

  

Back to contents 

Page 14



5 
 

Governance and Accountability 

What is the Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board and what does it do? 

The Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board (KSAB) brings together the main organisations 

working with Adults at risk including the Local Authority, West Yorkshire Police and Health 

Agencies. Its core purpose is to help and protect adults at risk in its area. 

The Board has overall governance of the policy, practice and implementation for 

Safeguarding. It also has a key role in promoting the wider agenda so that Safeguarding is 

seen as a responsibility for everyone. This year the Board has held four meetings and an 

additional development session 

In accordance with Care Act guidance, the Independent Chair reports quarterly to the Local 

Authority Chief Executive on the work of the board. The board also has a formal relationship 

with the Health and Wellbeing Board ensure effective accountability of its work 

Individual Board members take responsibility for reporting through their own organisations, 

including the submission of annual progress reports to their executive management 

body/board. This is to ensure that Adult Safeguarding requirements are integrated into their 

organisation’s overall approach to service provision and service development. 

Each organisation actively plans and monitors its work around safeguarding, which 

contributes to evidence for the board’s performance framework and the board’s annual 

challenge event. The Board calls partners to account for their approach to safeguarding 

adults through regular reporting and through the challenge event.  

The Board is supported by an infrastructure – put in place 18 months ago that oversees and 

enables delivery of the work programme, coordinates Sub-Groups and Task-and-Finish 

Groups and provides analysis and intelligence for the Board.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As an effective strategic partnership partners jointly chair and constitute the membership of 
the Delivery Group and the Sub Groups. The Delivery Group is chaired by the vice chair of the 
board and this group co-ordinates the development and implementation of priorities 
outlined in the strategic plan.  

Back to contents 

Page 15



6 
 

Our Members 

The Board is made up of senior officers nominated by each member organisation. They are 

required to sign a membership agreement, which reflects the Board’s constitution, and 

information sharing agreement. 

Members have sufficient delegated authority to effectively represent their agency and to 

make decisions on their agency's behalf. If they are unable to attend Board meetings for any 

reason they send, with the chairs permission, a nominated representative of sufficient 

seniority. 

During 2017 - 18 the following agencies and organisations were members of the Kirklees 

Safeguarding Adults Board: 

 

• Kirklees Council Adult Social Care  

• Kirklees Council Commissioning and Health Partnerships 

• Kirklees Council Streetscene and Housing 

• West Yorkshire Police  

• West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service  

• NHS North Kirklees Clinical Commissioning Group 

• NHS Greater Huddersfield Clinical Commissioning Group 

• South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust  

• Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust   

• The Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust 

• NHS England 

• Locala Community Partnerships 

 

We had strengthened our arrangements for lay membership on the Board and recruited a 

second lay member. The aim was to give greater emphasis to this role and its value in 

providing critical challenge to decision-making, provide a service user and carer perspective 

and play an active role in the work of the Board, including supporting our Independent Chair 

at number of high profile events. One lay member was also on the Board of Healthwatch and 

was able to provide useful links to that organisation. Tragically we lost a long-standing lay 

member through illness and attempts to recruit were unsuccessful. This has led us to 

reconsider the Board approach to engagement and there is now consideration to establish a 

more formal reference group including users by experience. 

The expectation is that all members attend all Board meetings and despite continuous, rapid 

organisational change in all partner agencies there has been excellent attendance. If for any 

reason members have been unable to attend their nominated deputy has usually attended.  

Back to contents 

Page 16



7 
 

The following attend in an advisory capacity: 

• Kirklees Council Legal Services  

• Kirklees Safeguarding Partnership Manager  

• Kirklees Safeguarding Partnership Deputy Manager  

• Business Support Manager  

 

During 2017-18 Sub-Groups of the Board were: 

• Delivery Group  

• Safeguarding Adults Review   

• Training and Development 

• Quality and Performance 

 

All of these groups have multi-agency membership. The Sub-Groups have met regularly in 

between each board meeting.  

The Safeguarding Adults Network and the Dignity in Care and Dementia Networks are also 

Sub-Groups of the Board. Their roles are to act as an information exchange and to share 

learning and good practice for a wider group of agencies across the partnership. This year 

two network events have been held.  

Task and Finish Groups work in partnership with other Boards in Kirklees, including planning 

and delivering Safeguarding Week 2017, and across West, North Yorkshire, and York 

concluding the work on updating our Regional Policy and Procedures. 

  

Back to contents 

Page 17



8 
 

Our vision 

The Care Act 2014 aims to: 

• Promote people’s wellbeing 

• Enable people to prevent and postpone the need for care and support 

• Put people in control of their lives so they can pursue opportunities to realise their 

 potential 

 

Making Safeguarding Personal aims to develop a safeguarding culture that focuses on the 

outcomes desired by people with care and support needs who may have been abused.  

We have recognised that we need to look further into the role people play in embedding the 

‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ approach across agencies, by establishing and developing a 

broader engagement strategy, having a focus on qualitative reporting on outcomes as well as 

quantitative measures, encouraging person-centred approaches to working with risk and 

making sure policies and procedures are in line with a personalised safeguarding approach.  

‘The citizens of Kirklees, irrespective of age, race, gender, culture, religion, disability or sexual 

orientation are able to live with their rights protected, in safety, free from abuse and the fear 

of abuse’ 

This Vision is based on these fundamental principles along with the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS)  and the Kirklees Economic Strategy (KES). 

Our focus is on creating a culture where: 
 

 Abuse is not tolerated 

 Following the principles of ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’, there is common 

understanding and belief of what to do when abuse happens.  

 
To make this vision a reality it is essential that agencies work together to: 
 

 Prevent harm and reduce the risk of abuse or neglect to adults with care and support 
needs 

 Ensure that they safeguard adults in a way that supports them in making choices and 
having control about how they want to live 

 Proactively take steps to stop abuse or neglect 

 Ensure they have a competent and able workforce 

 Raise public awareness recognising the value local communities can play in prevention 
and early intervention.  
 

 
 
 
 

Back to contents 

Page 18

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/health-strategy.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/health-strategy.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/involve/entry.aspx?id=661


9 
 

 

We work to the recognised Six Safeguarding Principles: 
 

1. Empowerment 
People being supported and encouraged to make their 
own decisions and give informed consent 

2. Prevention 
It is better to take action before harms occurs 
 

3. Proportionality 
The least intrusive response appropriate to the risk 
presented 

4. Protection 
Support and representation for those in greatest need 
 

5. Partnership 
Local solutions through services working with their 
communities – communities have a part to play in 
preventing, detecting and reporting neglect and abuse 

6. Accountability 
Accountability and transparency in safeguarding practice 

 
 
These principles underpin the delivery of our vision. 
  

Page 19



10 
 

Our key priorities and achievements 

This section of the report outlines our key priorities and summarises what we have achieved 

over the year. 

Our priorities are to: 

1. Provide strategic leadership and effective collaboration including working productively 

across Kirklees in safeguarding adults 

We are committed towards the Board and its members being visible and outward facing. We 

also ensure that we work effectively with other strategic partnerships. 

Key achievements include: 

 Continuing to work closely with other strategic partnerships on themed areas 

 Joint partnership work with the West and North Yorkshire and City of York Safeguarding 
Adults Boards and implementation of new Joint Multi – Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy 
and Procedures 

 Carried out engagement activities to improve our understanding of and gain evidence of 
community awareness of safeguarding. 

 Developed an Engagement Strategy 
 

And next? 

 Continuing to strengthen links and work closely with other strategic partnerships on 
themed areas 

 Develop the Engagement Strategy further to include Communication and to improve 
community involvement 

 Explore alternative methods for Lay membership 
 

 

2.  Gain assurance that adults are safeguarded through timely and proportionate responses to 

concerns of abuse or neglect, with support for individuals to have informed choices 

We continue to work toward Safeguarding Practice being focused on outcomes and 
experience, not process. And that people who have experienced harm are empowered and 
feel outcomes are improved.  
 
Key achievements include: 
 
 New Joint Multi – Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures have been written 

to further strengthen the focus of safeguarding to be personalised and following the 
principles of ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ 

 Case file audits show improvement in working towards the principles of ‘Making 
Safeguarding Personal’. 
 

 
 

Back to contents 

Page 20



11 
 

And next? 
 

 Continuing to drive improvement of practice in line with ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ 

 Continue to undertake audits and build intelligence/data that evidence Making 
Safeguarding Personal principles are being applied and proportionate and timely 
response 

 Develop ways of gaining the views of people who have experienced abuse to ensure that 
support follows the principles of ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’. 

 

3.  Support the development of and retain oversight of Preventative Strategies that aim to 

reduce instances of abuse and neglect 

This is an essential priority area and we continue to support work on prevention and early 
intervention as well as financial abuse and domestic abuse. 
 
Key achievements include: 
 

 Continuing to Share learning from our Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
 Raised awareness in collaboration with the Kirklees Safeguarding Children Board in 

regards to Safer recruitment 
 Held a successful network event regarding “Dignity In Care”. 
 Developed short film “little things make a difference” as part of the see me and care 

campaign 
 Highlighted domestic abuse in particular in regards to those over the age of 50 
 Delivered training on controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour in conjunction with 

the domestic abuse partnership 
 Developed and implemented guidance on use of covert medication 
 Engagement Strategy was signed off 
 Contributed to the Kirklees wider prevention and early intervention work through 

participation in the work of the newly formed Joint Integration Board – Health, Social care 
and Housing. 

 
And next? 
 
• Continue to contribute to the Kirklees wider prevention and early intervention work 

through participation in this work 
• Continue with networking events as a key way of engaging and getting key messages to 

professionals from across the system 
• Re-energise ‘See Me and Care Campaign’ and the ‘Dignity in Care’ work streams 
• Continue to engage with the community and implement the Communication and 

Engagement Strategy to raise awareness and support prevention 
• Refresh self-neglect protocol and include practitioner toolkit 

• Refresh Hoarding protocol 
• Improve guidance on pressure ulcers and safeguarding  
• Improve the Safeguarding Adults Review Framework 

 

Back to contents 

Page 21

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QX2loaYPmII


12 
 

4. Promote multi-agency workforce development and consideration of specialist training that 

may be required 

This year we said we continue with networking events as a key way of engaging with 
professionals across the system and evaluate the impact of multi-agency training.  
 

Key achievements include: 
 

 We have continued to run well-attended multi-agency network events 

 Continued to deliver learning through our Workforce development plan 

 Evaluated our delivery of workforce development and developed a Multi-Agency Learning 

and Improvement Framework 

 Used innovative ways of delivery training for example An Old Lady Sings; delivering 

powerful messages about domestic abuse using performance 

 Delivered training that promoted and embedded ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ further 
 Held a successful network event regarding dementia 

 

And next? 

• Develop methods of sharing and embedding learning from  Safeguarding Adults Reviews  
• Continue to embed Making Safeguarding Personal  
• Develop a tool to evaluate the effectiveness of the Multi-Agency Learning and 

Improvement Framework 
 

5.  Gain assurance of effectiveness of partners’ safeguarding arrangements and improvement 

plans 

Last year, we said we would commence work looking at how to analyse data from our partner 
agencies, so we can increase our understanding of the prevalence of abuse and neglect and 
ensure the Board assurance mechanisms enabled it to hold agencies to account. 
 

Key achievements include: 
 

 Incorporate more partner performance data into the Boards Data Dashboard reports 

 Commenced work on evaluating the impact of wider data sources in understanding the 

prevalence of abuse and neglect 

 Sought assurance from Partners through holding a challenge event. 

 Continued to monitor improvement plans in relation to Safeguarding Adults Reviews or 

similar reviews 

And next? 

 Continue to establish ways of analysing and interrogating data on safeguarding 
notifications that increase the SAB’s understanding of prevalence of abuse and neglect 
locally that builds up a picture over time to improve the Boards Data Dashboard reports 

 Commission a Peer Challenge 

 Use analysis from data interrogation as the basis for recommending the commissioning of 
targeted audit 

Back to contents 

Page 22



13 
 

Work we have undertaken throughout 2017/18 

 
This section highlights of some of the work that has been completed over the year. It is 
organised around the key priorities described in the previous section.   

 

1) Leadership and collaboration 

 
Our Independent Chair says: 

“Board members are clear that as 

system leaders constructive 

collaboration with others ensures 

that as a strategic partnership we 

strive towards achieving our 

primary aim to keep the people of 

Kirklees safe The safeguarding 

board role is to effectively identify 

and challenge areas of poor 

practice and where unsatisfactory 

outcomes are identified” 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our members 

We continue to build on work we started when we 
appointed our first Independent Chair 3 years ago to 
the focus being to ensure that the Board and its 
members are accountable, visible and outward 
facing. This is greatly assisted through the work of the 
Vice Chair, a position taken by one of the Board’s 
statutory partners.  
 
The Vice Chair is appointed for a period of 3 years, 
and acts as deputy to the Independent Chair. This 
ensures consistent leadership across the partnership.  
In the absence of the Independent Chair, the Vice 
Chair will chair meetings of the KSAB, and provide 
impartial support and advice when requested.  
 
The Vice Chair also plays a key part in the 
development of the Delivery Group by leading and 
chairing it, and undertakes a leadership role in the 
continued development of our partnership work. 
 
The Delivery Group is a key part of the Board’s 
infrastructure and was created to strengthen 
partnership ownership of the Boards’ work. It co-
ordinates the development and implementation of 
objectives and priorities outlined in the strategic 
plan, establishes Sub-Groups, Task-and-Finish Groups 
and public engagement arrangements, as 
appropriate; and helps drive the development of 
good practice in Safeguarding Adults work. 
 
Our lay members have been key attenders of Board 
meetings and other meetings where the lay 
member’s perspective is crucial. They assess 
evidence and information provided at meetings to 
form views and opinions; they ask appropriate 
questions on issues at Board meetings and contribute 
to the formulation of Board decisions. 

Back to contents 

Page 23



 
 

14 
 

Lay membership engagement has proved to be invaluable for the board. We lost a long-
standing lay member this year and attempts to recruit a new lay member have proved 
problematic. This has provided the opportunity to consider alternatives to the current 
arrangement of 2 lay members on the board and whether there are better arrangements for 
the future such as establishing a reference group with lay and 3rd sector representation to 
support the work of the board.  
 
The Board now consistently publishes its minutes. This provides transparency of the Board’s 
actions and achievements and those of its partner agencies. We hope this is one way, which 
increases public awareness of the independent nature of the Board, and how it seeks 
assurances from its members regarding safeguarding issues.  
 

Working with Healthwatch Kirklees and developing our Engagement Strategy: 
 

In last year’s annual report we reported that we had broken new ground when Healthwatch 
independently evaluated how much learning had taken place in Kirklees following a 
Safeguarding Adults Review. This was a very successful exercise, which led to some further 
work on the SAR improvement plan.  
 
Healthwatch now regularly support our Independent Chair and lay member at our annual 
Challenge Events, when partners are asked to account for the work they have undertaken. 
This ensures an additional level of transparency and scrutiny.   We will continue to work in 
partnership with Healthwatch and our local third sector as we fully implement our 
Communication and Engagement Strategy over the coming year.  
 
Healthwatch Kirklees is the independent consumer champion for the public in Kirklees, on 
matters relating to Health and Social Care. It has a seat on the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and contributes to feedback as part of commissioning and decision making for local Health 
and Social Care Services.   
 

‘Stronger together – working for a safe and healthy Kirklees’ – Working effectively with other 
strategic partnerships and the Police and Crime Commissioner:  
 
There are five Boards who work to promote safe and healthy communities across Kirklees. 
Whilst each Board has its own specific roles, the Boards also have shared values and, often, 
shared priorities and areas of work.  
 
The Boards already work together in helping to keep local people safe and healthy within 
strong and supportive communities. At the same time, we recognise that closer, more formal 
links will support our work and achieve a wide range of benefits - contributing to a shared 
ethos of being person-centred with a focus on individual, family and community wellbeing. 
 
The five Kirklees Boards are the Safeguarding Children’s Board, the Safeguarding Adult’s 
Board, the Community Safety Partnership, the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Children’s 
Trust.  
 

Back to contents 

Page 24



15 
 

Safer Kirklees brings together the Council Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing, West Yorkshire 
Police, Fire and Rescue Service, the Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
Offender Management Services to work with local people to collectively make Kirklees a safer 
place.  Its work focusses on reducing crime, talking anti-social behaviour, improving 
confidence and protecting people from serious harm. 
 
Protecting people from serious harm includes a wide range of areas including domestic 
abuse, child sexual exploitation, human trafficking, female genital mutilation and preventing 
violent extremism. 
 
All of these areas require community safety partners to work in collaboration with those from 
Adults and Childrens to safeguard people at the earliest stage.  The Kirklees Safeguarding 
Children Board provides the framework for making sure that effective services are provided 
by partner agencies, including Kirklees Council, Health Organisations, West Yorkshire Police, 
West Yorkshire Probation, and the voluntary/community sector, to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children in Kirklees, particularly protection from harm. 
 
Three years ago, the Community Safety Partnership and the Safeguarding Boards for Adults 
and Children recognised the need to work collaboratively to ensure there were effective 
strategic and operational connections to keep people safe and protect them from harm at the 
earliest opportunity. 
 
Since then we have had some strategic workshops to take stock of the current position and 
identify areas where we needed to ensure we focused on. The work that we do feeds in to 
the outcomes of the Health and Wellbeing Boards and the Children’s Trust. 
 
As a result of this work, we ensured there were better connections with some of the areas 
mentioned above and for other areas we have ensured full involvement on cross cutting 
themes which has helped towards: 
  
• Making each body more effective and efficient for the people of Kirklees  

• Providing a better understanding of shared agendas 

• Increasing co-ordination between the Boards 

• Reducing duplication of work  

• Making better use of time and resources 

• Streamlining governance arrangements  

• Developing new training opportunities. 

 

 

 

 

 

Back to contents 

Page 25



16 
 

Undertaking joint partnership work with the West and North Yorkshire and City of York 
Safeguarding Adults Boards  

 

This was a root and branch review and update of the procedures to which Kirklees played a 

lead and active role. The new Multi–Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures are 

now in place and have been fully adopted across the region. These procedures deliver 

effective, proportional, person centred approaches that support people to be safe and 

promote their wellbeing. 

 

Interface between Safeguarding Adults Board and Domestic Abuse  

 
A significant proportion of people who need safeguarding support do so because they are 
experiencing domestic abuse. Despite the clear overlap between work to support people 
experiencing domestic abuse and safeguarding adult work, the two have tended to develop 
as separate professional fields. The Care Act 2014 requires clear strategic and practice links to 
be made between the approaches. 
 

Links to the Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board remain strong and key areas of progress are: 
 
• A short, independent report was commissioned to ensure those cases eligible for MARAC, 

and where the adult had care and support needs were identified and that an appropriate 
response was provided. Generally, the interface between MARAC and Adult Safeguarding 
was evident with some good practice demonstrated. However, there were also some 
recommendations, which are currently being considered and implemented. 

 

• The Safer Later Lives report focuses on the impact of domestic abuse and older people 
which can often be very different because of their systemic invisibility and cultural or 
generational views. As a result of this, a number of practice recommendations have been 
taken forward. 

 

• This also prompted two joint pieces of work to raise awareness which were planned to 
coincide with 2017 Safeguarding Week 

 

- An Old Lady Sings:  a monologue performance scripted to make audience members to 
think about the impact of domestic abuse throughout the course on an older lady’s 
life and the experience of this through her eyes. This was followed by an overview of 
the Safer Later Lives report given jointly by council and police safeguarding leads and 
concluded with a Q & A session with domestic abuse specialists. This was a really 
interactive and unique way of raising awareness of this issue which led to healthy 
discussions and very positive feedback. 
 

- Lecture by Professor Brid Featherstone (Huddersfield University) this session was to 
encourage attendees to consider the impact of domestic abuse across the life course. 
The session booked up within a day of being advertised, demonstrating the appetite 
that professionals have in this subject and again, excellent feedback was received. 

 
Back to contents 

Page 26

http://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Safe%20Later%20Lives%20-%20Older%20people%20and%20domestic%20abuse.pdf


17 
 

The success of both these events has been noted and we are exploring options for being able 
to repeat them in the future. 
 
 

Promoting a learning culture by undertaking Safeguarding Adults Reviews, and sharing the 
learning from them  
 

The KSAB Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) framework sets out the criteria for when the 
Board must or may commission a SAR and a menu of options for conducting one. It also 
includes how learning from our SARs and from other SARs nationally will be acted on in 
Kirklees.  
 
We continue to share learning through newsletters and network events, and by 
commissioning specific pieces of work in relation to sharing learning, but this area in which 
the MALIF and our Communication and Engagement Strategy will make an increasing 
contribution.  
 
 
Working with The Police and Crime Commissioner – supporting our approach to joint work 
  
Safeguarding is a theme that runs throughout the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Plan 
(refreshed 2017). The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) sees that whilst there are 
distinct differences between Adult and Children’s Boards and also Community Safety 
Partnerships, there are also increasing opportunities for improved working together, shared 
strategies and problem solving. The PCC’s office continues to actively support our work with 
the other partnerships here in Kirklees. Our Independent Chair has periodic meetings with 
the PCC to facilitate good communication between the Board and his office. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



18 
 

Working with elected members 
 
The Board’s leadership role involves demonstrating that there is recognised and active 
leadership by the Local Authority on Adult Safeguarding and that elected members and 
officers are knowledgeable about safeguarding and keep abreast of local and national 
developments. 
  
Our Independent Chair meets quarterly with the local authority Chief Executive and in 
addition, the Cabinet Member for Health, Wellbeing and Communities receives regular 
briefings around safeguarding performance, current safeguarding issues and challenges in 
Health and Social Care. She also receives a regular update report on key board activities and 
local and national developments. Cabinet members played a key leadership in our launch of 
Safeguarding Week.  
 
As in previous years, the KSAB Annual Report was presented to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and The Health and Social Care Scrutiny Panel. 
 
Safeguarding issues have continued to be an important part of development opportunities 
for Councillors. Core Safeguarding training on the role of Councillors was offered to all new 
Councillors in 2016. This will continue to be part of induction packages to ensure that all new 
Councillors have an early introduction to Safeguarding issues and understand their role and 
how to respond appropriately. A core session was also held in March 2017, targeted at the 
few Councillors who had been unable to attend previous sessions. A further core session took 
place in July 2017. A series of factsheets on cross cutting themes, such as Human Trafficking 
and Female Genital Mutilation are being developed on a range of subjects for elected 
members. 
 
Continuing our links with NHS England 
 

NHS England has been a member of the Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board for some years.  It 
is the policy lead for NHS Safeguarding, working across Health and Social Care, leading and 
defining improvement in Safeguarding practice and outcomes.   It has an assurance role for 
Safeguarding in healthcare and also in sharing and promoting best practice. The Government 
sets out a number of objectives relating to safeguarding which NHS England is legally obliged 
to pursue. 
 
These are set out in the revised Safeguarding Vulnerable People Accountability and Assurance 
Framework published by NHS England in July 2015.   
 
  

Back to contents 

Page 28

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/safeguarding-accountability-assurance-framework.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/safeguarding-accountability-assurance-framework.pdf


19 
 

2)  Assurance that adults are safeguarded and supported to 
 have choice  
 
 

~ A moment to reflect ~ 

Making Safeguarding Personal  
– What does good look like? 

 

 
Making Safeguarding Personal means adult safeguarding: 

 is person-led 

 is outcome-focused 

 engages the person and enhances involvement, choice and control 

 improves quality of life, wellbeing and safety. 
 
Making Safeguarding Personal must not simply be seen in the context of formal safeguarding 
enquiries but in the whole spectrum of safeguarding activity, including prevention. 
 
These statements, provide by the Department of Health, are a useful aid for us to reflect on 

our practice - wherever we work; 

 

‘I am asked what I want as the outcomes from the safeguarding process and these directly 
inform what happens’ 

‘I receive clear and simple information about what abuse is, how to recognise the signs and 
what I can do to seek help’ 

‘The least intrusive response appropriate to the risk presented’ 

‘I am sure that the professionals will work in my interest, as I see them and they will only 
get involved as much as needed’ 

‘I get help and support to report abuse and neglect.  I get help so that I am able to take 
part in the safeguarding process to the extent to which I want’ 

‘I know that staff treat and personal and sensitive information in confidence, only sharing 
what is helpful and necessary’ 

I am confident that professionals will work together and with me to get the best result for 
me’ 

‘I understand the role of everyone involved in my life and so do they’ 

 
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is the key driver in making sure that adults are 
supported to have a choice. It is about making sure that people are at the centre of and are 
better informed about what Safeguarding is. The Care Act reinforced the key principles of 
MSP, by requiring person centred practice.  

Back to contents 

Page 29



20 
 

A part of national work underpinning this is ‘The Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 
Temperature Check’ which was commissioned by the Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services. This was undertaken in the form of a ‘coaching conversation. Kirklees, along with 
many other Local Authorities, participated in this project. 

 

The Board has a responsibility to assure itself that an effective and accountable safeguarding 
system operates within Kirklees. This includes having an assurance that the partnership 
complies with the implementation of government guidance and legislation and implements 
recommendations from major national reviews.   
 
Key Highlights: 
 
• Joint Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy & Procedures 
 
The Combined Area Multi-Agency Safeguarding Policy and Procedures have undergone a 
substantial review this year bringing it up to date, incorporating changes to Care Act 
Guidance which have come about since the Care Act was first introduced and other linked 
agendas.  We worked collaboratively with 6 other Safeguarding Adults Boards (Leeds, 
Wakefield, Calderdale, Bradford, North Yorkshire and City of York) and all have adopted this 
policy and procedures so that there is consistency across the combined area in the way in 
which adults are safeguarded from neglect or abuse.   
 
Briefing sessions were held across Kirklees for all staff working in the sector to alert them to 
the key difference between the old and new policy and procedures.  
 
 
  

Back to contents 

Page 30

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/adult-social-care-providers/pdf/joint-ma-adults-policy-and-procedures-final.pdf


21 
 

• Audit Activity: 
 
In order to gain assurances about the adherence to policy and procedures and that adults are 

safeguarded in a way that gives them choice, adherence to Making Safeguarding Personal 

there is a range of audit activity that has taken place over the year. 

Key themes of audit activity included: 

 Quality of recording 

 Management of risk and protection planning 

 Proportionality/ reasoned decision making and appropriate intervention signposting 
and actions taken 

 Appropriate involvement of agencies 

 Appropriate use of procedures 

 Use of Mental Capacity assessments 

 Use of advocacy and providing appropriate support 

 Views of the person or organisation alleged to have caused harm  

 Checking the adult at risk was the focus of the intervention following principles of 
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 

 Checking the adult at risk was supported, listened to and their outcomes were met 

The audits have shown improvement in practice and recording. Practice is following the 

principles of: Making Safeguarding Personal; ensuring people are supported, mental capacity 

is being considered, as well as multi-agency involvement. There is continued work to ensure 

monitoring and improvement that ensure the adult at risk is the focus of any work. 

There have been two specific audits which have been looking at the interface with 

Safeguarding Adults and Domestic Abuse. The audits revealed there was effective multi-

agency working with significant information sharing and joint work as part of the MARAC and 

safeguarding processes and where safeguarding procedures have been exited appropriately 

and the case continued to be supported through the MARAC response. Furthermore a 

recommendation was made to ensure that the recording system for concerns prompted 

practitioners to consider domestic abuse and MARAC at the point of initially working with 

people. The second audit findings revealed that practitioners in these circumstances were 

considering domestic abuse and the local authority recording system had robust prompts to 

remind people to consider domestic abuse as part of dealing with safeguarding concerns. 

 
Furthermore, audit activity and the KSAB challenge event focused on Making Safeguarding 
Personal. 
 
 
• New recording systems 

 
Adult social care supported to ensure recording systems and practice focuses on making 
safeguarding personal. This included new forms, learning events and follow on audit activity. 

  

Back to contents 

Page 31



 
 

22 
 

3) Preventative Strategies 

Learning from our Safeguarding Adults Reviews  
 
The Board has continued to give 
high profile to work on 
preventing abuse and neglect. By 
developing a series of strategies 
to prevent abuse or neglect, and 
by supporting a number of 
initiatives, including learning 
from Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews, we aim to improve the 
quality of care and prevent 
safeguarding issues arising in the 
first place. 
 
When an adult who needs care 
and support either dies or suffers 
serious harm, and when abuse or 
neglect is thought to have been a 
factor, Kirklees Safeguarding 
Adults Board needs to undertake 
a Safeguarding Adults Review.  
  
Sometimes Safeguarding Adult 
Boards will also arrange for a SAR 
to take place in other situations 
where they feel there need to be 
lessons learnt about the way 
organisations worked together to 
support the person who suffered 
harm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The KSAB have published a Safeguarding Adult Review 
(SAR) and improvement plan following the death of Mr 
G. The actions on the improvement plan have all been 
carried out. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This case involves a white British adult male (Mr G) 
who suffered a brain injury due to hypoxia during a 
cardiac arrest in 2008 / 2009; this resulted in him 
requiring constant care and support. Mr G moved in 
with his brother, Male M and Female P in their home 
in Kirklees.  There had been no contact between the 
brothers for up to 20 years.  
 
Male M and Female P have multiple convictions for 
various offences including fraud, theft, assault, and 
burglary; there are also many safeguarding and 
domestic violence records relating to them both on 
West Yorkshire Police’s local system.   
 
Mr G was referred to Kirklees Adult Social Care and 
some services were provided. During a period of 
time MR G absconded and was found and 
discharged to Male M’s care.  
 
Social Care Assessment requested by Mr G’s GP and 
a safeguarding concern relating to a facial bruise was 
received from the day care service by Kirklees Adult 
Social Care 
 
A further anonymous safeguarding concern received 
on by Kirklees Adult Social Care, regarding care and 
treatment concerns of Mr G and a facial bruise. 
 
Home visit by Kirklees Adult Social Care. Mr G found 
to be cold and unwell; admitted to respite care.  
Admitted to Intensive Care Unit with septicaemia.  A 
few days later Mr G died.  A forensic Post Mortem 
determined the primary cause of death to be 
peritonitis, and malnutrition as a secondary cause.   
 
The report and improvement plan can be found on 
the Kirklees Safeguarding Adults webpage.  

Back to contents 

Page 32

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/adult-social-care-providers/kirklees-safeguarding-adults-board.aspx


 
 

23 
 

The Safeguarding Adults Board has been kept appraised of this piece of work because of the 
crossover with the Safeguarding Adults Review.  A number of other actions have been 
undertaken by partner agencies and the Board is still monitoring improvements made. They 
include multi-agency actions to improve coordination of all the different services there are to 
support Care Homes, to prevent issues of abuse in care settings arise in the first place, and to 
provide a better coordinated response if a Care Home sadly closes.  
 
The Board is still maintaining an oversight of a recommendation from a Serious Case Review 
published in 2014, where an elderly man with dementia (Mr F) died in tragic circumstances. 
 
The Dementia Challenge in Kirklees: A joint dementia strategy, (2015 - 2020) incorporates a 
comprehensive action plan, which sets out the actions required to improve the health, 
wellbeing and experience of services by individuals living with dementia and of the people 
who care for someone living with dementia and the recommendations identified following 
this Serious Case Review.  
 
Continuing to support a partnership approach to Early Intervention and Prevention  
 
Last year we committed, through the work across the 3 Boards, to ensure the KSAB supports 
the work of the council’s Early Intervention and Prevention Programme (EIP).  
 
EIP aims to address problems at the earliest opportunity before they escalate, to work in 
partnership to improve outcomes for everyone, and help more people in the most 
appropriate way with the limited amount of money available to public bodies.  It involves 
doing things differently; focusing more on prevention as well ensuring people are kept safe.  
The Board continues to receive regular updates on the Early Intervention and Prevention 
approach and to work to support and influence this work programme.   
 
Refreshing the ‘See ME and Care’ campaign  
  
Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board began the first ‘See ME and Care’ campaign in 2013, with 
phase 2 following soon after in 2014.  
 
A key prevention approach - The campaign (targeted at health and social care workers) is 
about challenging poor practice in care and promoting a message for staff about treating 
people how you would want your own family and friends to be treated. It is part of the 
continuing work to promote Dignity In Care and to prevent adults at risk being abused. In 
2014 the campaign focused on sharing good practice and was widened to include other 
partner agencies, re-enforced by training and awareness programmes for staff.  
   
Following a positive evaluation of the most recent campaign, the Board decided to refresh 
the campaign and the brief was to make it relevant to everyone. 
 
Everyone has their own part to play in the lives of others, be they; care workers, the police, 
mobile library staff, boiler repair men, housing staff, people coming to read the utility meter, 
neighbours - everyone.  
 

Back to contents 

Page 33



24 
 

With this in mind, KSAB teamed up with Curtain Up Players (a local community drama group) 
and Huddersfield based media company, Quickfoot Films, to produce a short film.  
 
Written and performed by members of Curtain Up Players, the film highlights a very real 
situation that could, and does happen every day in family life.   
 
The powerful message “Little things make a difference” can be viewed at 
www.kirklees.gov.uk/seemeandcare. 
 
The Board extends special thanks to Curtain Up Players for taking time to be part of this 
campaign. 
 
Many issues can be dealt with quickly and resolved immediately. The ‘See ME and Care’ 
campaign encourages staff to take responsibility for their actions, noticing when things are 
not quite right, challenging others and taking action, and if necessary raising the issue with 
their manager.  
 
As part of this campaign the Board has a checklist ‘Early Indicators of Concern Form’ to be 
used by professionals across the Safeguard Partnership when visiting care settings within 
Kirklees.  
 
The information from these forms is collated by partner agencies and used to form an 
overview of practices within care settings. This is a really useful way of addressing and 
recording concerns about poor practice before it becomes abusive.   
 

 
Promoting safer and value based recruitment 
 
One of the areas where we can focus on when thinking about preventing abuse happening is 
in encouraging safe recruitment practices for all.  KSAB jointly with the Kirklees Safeguarding 
Children Board actively promote helpful advice to ensure effective and safe recruiting.   
 
We published a ‘Spotlight on Safer recruitment’ feature which was shared online, and 
circulated via the KSAB newsletter to all relevant and interested staff and partner agency 
contacts.  The feature included information about SAFER jobs; a non-profit organisation 
created by the Metropolitan Police and supported by DWP and other government and 
industry organisations, which raises awareness and combats criminal activities that may be 
attempted on those seeking a job, those within the recruitment industry or through the 
services provided by the industry.  It also include comprehensive  information on writing job 
adverts which clearly displays dedication towards safeguarding and safer recruitment, 
shortlisting candidate, interviewing candidates, pre-appointment checks and the candidate’s 
induction. 
 
Partnership approach to communications the use of social media 
 
KSAB carried out extensive research into social media practices of Safeguarding Adults Boards 
nationally and the merits of using a variety of platforms, linking in with Healthwatch to seek 

Back to contents 

Page 34

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/adult-social-care-providers/dignity-in-care.aspx#seemeandcare


25 
 

their views and advice in relation to their experience.  The resulting report presented all 
findings to the board which concluded that because SABs are an umbrella for the partner 
agencies who work together to safeguard Adults, SABs do not need their own social media 
accounts but instead should tap into pre-existing groups/sites.  The following 
recommendations were proposed in the report and were agreed: 
 
• KSAB utilises partner media Twitter and Facebook accounts 
• KSAB encourages partner agencies to use their accounts more 
• KSAB provides partner agencies with material to share to their followers 
• KSAB produces an annual calendar/timetable highlighting key messages to share 
• KSAB should compile a list of groups outside the partner circulation to reach more 

people. 
 
Monitoring Deprivation of Liberty pressures   
 
Deprivations of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) are part of the Mental Capacity Act 2005.  The aim 
of DoLS is to ensure that if a person’s life is being so restricted that their liberty is taken from 
them, there should be an independent assessment and authorisation process for the 
deprivation.  
 
DoLS is a lengthy and complex process which if not followed precisely can lead to individuals, 
particularly in care home and hospitals, being unlawfully deprived of their liberty. This is a 
breach of Article 5 of the Human Rights Act.  
 
The Board has had an approach for a number of years now where any work around Mental 
Capacity has been integrated into the work of its sub-groups, and any activity around 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) has been reported as part of the Annual Report.  
 
 
There continues to be a significant 
national increase as a result of a Supreme 
Court Judgement which widened the pool 
of those who might be considered to be 
deprived of their liberty. The Local 
Authority, who leads on this process, has 
undertaken specific actions to monitor 
activity and risk assess the demand. The 
Board has ensured it is regularly updated 
about the impact of the continuing 
increase in the number of Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) applications 
being received by the Council and the risks 
associated with this increase. 

  

Back to contents Page 35



 
 

26 
 

4) Multi-agency workforce development and specialist training  
 
 
Feedback from practitioners who 
have attended our training.   

 

Safeguarding Adults at Risk - 

Undertaking Enquiries in the 

Workplace: 

“The training was the most 

interesting/useful training I have 

attended for a long time.  The 

different teaching methods used 

encouraged a high level of 

engagement.  Really enjoyed, even 

though a difficult topic.” 

Safeguarding Adults at Risk - Basic 

Awareness:  

“It’s good to have a refresher in 

Safeguarding as I have learnt 

something new, which has 

changed since I last attended.” 

Hoarding Awareness: 

“Very interesting.  Plenty of time 

for discussion.  Heather is very 

good and as it is her role was able 

to give examples of real life 

situations.  Very good and 

informative.” 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Multi-agency workforce development and specialist 

training  

Training in 2017 – 2018 

The Training Sub Group aims to deliver and 

implement a strategic approach to workforce 

development and learning, support partner agencies 

in raising the skills and competencies of staff and 

volunteers, and promotes inter agency collaboration.  

It also contributes to the implementation of multi-

agency policy, procedures and guidance to safeguard 

adults at risk from abuse or neglect in Kirklees, and 

help them to live a life free from abuse and neglect.  

The sub group oversees the development of the 

board’s workforce development plan and ensures all 

training it commissions or delivers is consistent with 

policy and promotes best practice. It also ensures that 

Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and Making Safeguarding 

Personal are integral to the delivery of all 

safeguarding learning events. It links to other areas of 

training, for example Dignity in Care and Deprivation 

of Liberty and also focuses on learning from our 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews.  

It works in partnership with the Kirklees Safeguarding 
Children Board training work stream and Kirklees 
Community Safety Partnership on shared 
agenda/delivery where appropriate. 
 
Multi-agency learning is complex, and the Care Act 
enables Boards to rethink the approach laid down in 
‘No secrets’ statutory guidance of 2009. Last year the 
sub group commenced a major piece of work on 
evaluating the whole multi-agency approach to 
learning, and to develop a learning framework to help 
the Board have a more up to date approach. This year 
the Training Sub Group have been focusing on how to 
action the recommendations from the evaluation and 
put into practice the learning framework. The next 
section summarises key safeguarding training activity 
for 2017 – 2018. 

Back to contents 

Page 36



27 
 

 

Key workforce development achievements 2017 – 2018 

 

Joint Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy & Procedures West Yorkshire, North 

Yorkshire and York 

In April 2018 the new Joint Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy & Procedures were 
launched. To support the implementation a series of Train the Trainer events and briefing 
sessions were delivered. 

All adult safeguarding courses were updated to reflect the changes with a particular focus on 
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) and ensuring Mental Capacity is considered. The  
updated  courses  aim to give professionals the skills and  confidence to  assess, report and 
support  adults  at  risk of  abuse. The courses are available to all partners of the KSAB with a 
particular focus on the voluntary and smaller private sectors who may not have the resources 
to provide this essential training. The Safeguarding Adult’s Basic Awareness Workbook has 
also been updated to reflect these changes. 

 

 

Multi Agency Learning Improvement Framework (MALIF)  

Professionals and organisations involved in safeguarding adults work need to reflect on the 

quality of their services and learn from their own practice and that of others. Good practice 

should be shared so that there is a growing understanding of what works well. Conversely, 

when things go wrong there needs to be a rigorous, objective analysis of what happened and 

why, so that important lessons can be learnt and services improved to reduce the risk of 

future abuse and neglect. In March 2017 the Training Sub Group developed the MALIF to 

support this objective and to provide a framework for further developing learning cultures 

across the partnership. Its effectiveness and implementation will be reviewed in December 

2018. 

 

 

Learning from our Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR)  

The KSAB Safeguarding Adults Review Framework sets out the criteria for when KSAB must or 

may commission a SAR; a menu of options for conducting SARs, guidance on how adults at 

risk and their families and staff involved will be supported in SARs; how learning from our 

SARs and from other SARs nationally will be acted on in Kirklees.  

The KSAB published a report following its serious case review concerning Mr G in 2017. The 

lessons from this have been incorporated into adult safeguarding courses and further 

briefings are planned for 2018. 

 

 

 

Back to contents 

Page 37



28 
 

The Safeguarding Adults and Dignity in Care Networks  

The Safeguarding Adults and Dignity in Care Networks are now well established with regular 

attendees and a wide range of representation from organisations across Kirklees. The events 

continue to attract over 100 attendees, who enjoy the opportunity of new learning and to 

reflect upon their own practice. The 2017 DIC Network focused upon ‘Promoting Dignity to 

Avoid Institutionalised Care’. 

The board is grateful to all those who give freely of their time to speak and on occasions, 

travel considerable distance, to ensure the continued success of our Network Events. 

 

 

Forced Marriage, Female Genital Mutilation and Honour Based Violence (FM, FGM &HBV) 

The Kirklees FGM strategy 2016 produced by Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board, Kirklees 

Safeguarding Children Board and Community Safety Partnership is focused on preventing 

FGM through education, and identifying women and girls at risk so that they can be 

protected from harm. Throughout 2017 / 2018 briefings on FM, FGM and HBV were 

delivered and further sessions are planned. This is in line with government guidance that all 

practitioners who work with affected women and girls, or those at risk, and with their 

families should receive education and training. 

 

Controlling Coercive Behaviour in an intimate or family relationship (CCB)  

The Care Act requires us to consider domestic abuse as a form of adult abuse.  
This means we need to think much more closely about our practice and make links between 
what were often, two separate areas of work. The latest area for us to reflect on is how much 
we know about controlling and coercive behaviour in an intimate or family relationship - it is 
now included as an offence. Throughout 2017   briefings on CCB were delivered to front line 
professionals and further sessions are planned.  All adult safeguarding courses have been 
updated to ensure that the impact of CCB is understood and taken into account during 
assessment of adults with care and support needs. Oversight of the effectiveness of partners’ 
safeguarding arrangements and improvement plans. 
 

  

Page 38



 
 

29 
 

5) Oversight of the effectiveness of partners’ safeguarding 
arrangements and improvement plans 
 
Our Independent Chair says:  
 

“As an effective strategic partnership this is a fundamental role for the board. We must act at 
arms lengthy and ensure that we challenge poor practice and do all we can to facilitate 
improvement”. 
 

 
 

The KSAB have continued to seek assurances of safeguarding arrangement and monitor 
improvements plans. The structure of the KSAB allows for the relevant sub groups to ensure 
improvement plans are completed and are reportable to the Delivery Group. Completed 
improvement plans are signed off by the KSAB 
 
Our Independent Chair  
 

In accordance with Care Act guidance, the Independent Chair reports quarterly to the Local 
Authority Chief Executive about the work of the Board, including presenting the Annual 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board and to Scrutiny Panel. 
 
 
Quality Assurance Framework 
 

The Quality Assurance Framework is 
designed to enable the board to check that 
Safeguarding arrangements are effective 
and are delivering the outcomes that 
people want. The framework is the 
mechanism by which the board will gain 
assurance of the effectiveness of the 
Safeguarding work of statutory and other 
partner agencies, and that the board is 
meeting its key priorities. 
  
The Quality Assurance Framework ensures 
that there are methodologies in place to 
ensure performance. It enables the board 
to triangulate a variety of information, 
both about quantity and quality, from 
different sources to objectively evaluate 
the effectiveness of arrangements, rather 
than relying on a single means of 
assessment.  
 
The Framework consists of 4 key areas, 
which are all interlinked.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Back to contents 

Page 39



 
 

30 
 

Integrated Performance Dashboard 
 

The KSAB has a Performance Dashboard which is continually being improved to ensure the 
KSAB has ways of analysing and interrogating data on safeguarding notifications that increase 
the SAB’s understanding of prevalence of abuse and neglect locally that builds up a picture 
over time. 
 

Are Safeguarding arrangements delivering the outcomes that people want? 
 

As well as audit activity that has taken place over the year which has shown safeguarding 
practice continues to improve and ensuring in MSP is embedded in to practice, the KSAB now 
have an Engagement Strategy which has been implemented with ongoing work to establish 
links with users and the community. There has also been ongoing work to ensure learning 
from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) and other similar reviews is evaluated and 
embedded into service and practice. 
 

Evidence of Effectiveness of Partners of the Board 
 

This year the Board Challenge Event was led by the Independent Chair and supported by the 
Director of Healthwatch Kirklees. At this event Board members are asked to account for 
performance in their own agencies – particularly in the area of Making Safeguarding 
Personal. Feedback has been incorporated into the update of the 3-year strategic plan. 
 
All members of the Board were asked to complete a self-assessment tool and this   formed 
the basis of the challenge event undertaken in February 
 

Key themes arising from self-assessment and further exploration through challenge event 
 
MSP is being embedded across the partnership, however there is still work to be done  
 
It was said that whilst organisations felt that staff were working to the principles it was 
difficult to evidence this through recording. 
Some comments made: 
 
• Still work to be done 
• General assumption that all frontline staff apply MSP in their work – poor recording 

may not reflect this. Changes in way of recording are required 
• Mandatory inclusion in training to new starters, slow roll out to long serving staff 
• Culture change - recognition that it needs to become part of culture not box ticking 

exercise (constant relaying of MSP message) 
 
Dissemination of learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews  
 
Organisations are able to evidence a wide range of excellent channels of sharing learning in 
regards to SARs, but few were able to evidence effectiveness of learning from messages 
relayed. 
  

Back to contents 

Page 40



31 
 

Main channels used across the partnership: 
 

• Newsletters 
• Business unit reports 
• Governance meetings 
• Forums 
• Training evaluations/supervision 
• Learning lessons events 

 

Some comments made: 
 
• Some policy change has resulted from shared learning  
• Looking at ways of ensuring shared learning is effective and embedded – culture change 
• Uncertainty on whether learning is getting to frontline staff 
 

Key areas that partners deemed as amber were discussed: 

• Strategy 
 

Partners are looking at their organisation’s safeguarding strategy and implementation 
plan; requiring further work, updating or developing. 
 

• Systems 
 

Implementation of planned prompts into internal systems to assist their staff in recording 
Safeguarding and in particular MSP 
 

• Training 
 

Look at training versus effectiveness  
Changes to training in relation to competency of dealing with safeguarding 

 

Key collective themes partners are planning to develop over the coming year: 

• Embedding MSP into daily work routine 
• More involvement with cross cutting agendas 
• System changes for recording purposes 
• Mental Capacity Act and self-neglect 
• Revised training plans 
• Safeguarding at Leadership meetings 
 
 

  

Back to contents Page 41



32 
 

Performance of the KSAB  
 

The KSAB and its sub groups have been well attended and by the appropriate members. The 
work has been delivered to the strategic plan. There are plans to have an independent peer 
review in 2018/19. 
 

 
1  There is a deputy chair that covers when the chair is unable to attend 
2 Lay membership - 25% of KSAB and 33% of Delivery Group attendances provided by 

written comments rather than physical attendance (pre-agreed) 
 

 
Resourcing the Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board 
 
Statutory partners share the cost for the effective operation of the board. The following 
report was received and approved by the KASB in April 2018. 
 
The board is a statutory formal strategic partnership and resourcing of the board and its work 
is a partnership responsibility. This is separate to partners’ individual safeguarding 
responsibilities. Resourcing the work of the board can be through financial contribution as 
well as in kind e.g. though providing human resource input or venues.  
 
It is the responsibility of the Local Authority to work with partners to ensure that there is an 

 Attendance (percentage) 

Agency  Board Delivery  SAR Q&P Training 

Chair - Mike Houghton-Evans 75%1 N/a N/a N/a N/a 

Kirklees Council - Safeguarding Adults Partnership Team 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Kirklees Council – Economic Resilience - Housing 
Services 

100% N/a 83% 75% 0% 

Kirklees Council - Director of Commissioning, Public 
Health and Adult Social Care 

75% N/a N/a N/a N/a 

Kirklees Council - Social Care and Wellbeing for Adults 75% 83% 100% 75% 100% 

Kirklees Council - Legal Services 75% N/a N/a N/a N/a 

Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust 100% 25% N/a 50% 75% 

Greater Huddersfield & North Kirklees Clinical 
Commissioning Groups 

100% 100% 67% 75% 50% 

The Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust 75% N/a N/a 100% 100% 

South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust 

100% N/a N/a 75% 50% 

West Yorkshire Police 100% 67% 67% 50% 50% 

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 75% N/a N/a N/a N/a 

Locala Community Partnerships 100% N/a N/a 75% 75% 

NHS England  100% N/a N/a N/a N/a 

General Practitioner 0% N/a N/a N/a 0% 

Lay Membership2  75% 100% N/a N/a N/a 

 

Back to contents 

Page 42



33 
 

effective safeguarding board in place. The capacity to support the board will ultimately rest 
with the Local Authority. In accordance with the Care Act, partnership funding will therefore 
contribute to this capacity.  
 
As a strategic partnership it is important that the board infrastructure, sub-groups and task 
and finish groups are seen as a partnership responsibility both in sharing the chairing of these 
groups and ensuring appropriate participation. 
 
It is important to have a clear understanding of the resource requirements to ensure the 
board can operate effectively and deliver the agreed work programme. This is the basis for 
agreeing contribution levels required with partners and should be reviewed annually as the 
work programme is agreed.  
 
The KSAB Strategic Plan 2017-20 outlines the main areas requiring partner support and 
investment, which are as follows: 
 
• Development, review and updating of local policies and procedures 
• Board professional and administrative/secretarial support 
• Support to task-and-finish and sub-groups, including engagement activity  
• Ensuring capacity for multi-agency training and development 
• Providing the Board with Quality and Assurance reports through the preparation and 

analysis of data provided by all partners 
• Legal advice to the Board 
• Funding of the Independent Chair 
• Costs associated with commissioning Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
• Themed audits commissioned as determined through the Board 
• Independent evaluation of effectiveness of changes introduced following 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
 
Not included in the in the Gross Expenditure is the continued requirement for additional 
partner’s infrastructure resources utilised to support the Board - for example; dedicated 
input for collection/coordination/analysis and preparation of partnership data is essential to 
enable the Board to deliver its statutory quality and safety assurance role provided by the 
business performance unit, legal advice to the KSAB provided by Kirklees legal services. 
Equally, promotion of the board’s work through the use publicity, materials, and occasional 
campaigns aimed at preventing abuse and having an effective on-line presence is essential. 
  

Back to contents 

Page 43



34 
 

Agency achievements 
 

Kirklees Council  
Adult Social Care 

Clearer understanding of end to end 
system with practitioner led re-design 

work, now becoming embedded 

Independent review reported “Good 
screening - leading to good decision 

making”, “Experience, consistency and 
proportionate responses are evident” 

“Senior Safeguarding Consultants 
received as a positive resource”. 
“Maximise the opportunity for 
reflective practice and develop 

practice standards to support new 
model” and “Continue to embed MSP 
and support partners to embed MSP” 

Clearer understanding of operational 
pressures and performance, some 

improvement but challenge remains 

Increased emphasis on locality 
working offers opportunities to 

improve prevention and partnership 
working 

Recent Peer review challenged the 
importance of co-production with 
people who use services and their 

carers 

Joint work with the 2 Kirklees CCGs to 
create a single approach to Quality 

Assurance and investment in the care 
home sector including 'Early Support' 

 Domiciliary care contracts have been 
retendered - greater focus on quality, 

personalisation with financial 
investment to improve pay, training 

and working arrangements 

Continued system leadership in 
embedding new ways of working, 
through ensuring safeguarding is 

promoted and understood across all 
social work teams 

Continue to embed an organisational 
(and partnership) culture of quality 

improvement and ‘no surprises’, 
through opportunities for learning 

from incidents and reviews 

 
 

North Kirklees and 
Greater Huddersfield 

Clinical Commissioning 
Groups 

Developed a ‘Covert Medications’ 
guide. Development of care home 

early intervention policy 

Scrutiny of safeguarding 
arrangements and improvement plans 

with commissioned providers 

Developed a suite of template policies 
for GP Practices to utilise 

including:  MSP, MCA/DoLS, Prevent, 
Domestic abuse Facilitate the Health 

Alliance: for staff working in main 
provider safeguarding roles 

Bi-annual GP Safeguarding Leads 
meetings. Developed a Safeguarding 
Adults at Risk workbook to support 

practice staff 

CCG Safeguarding Team were audited 
in 2017 to provide assurance that the 

CCG comply with the NHS England 
guidance‘ Assurance was delivered in 

all areas audited 

Engaged in work to deliver safeguards 
to people who are health funded and 

living within supported living 
arrangements and may be being 

deprived of their liberties. 

Continued to deliver work supporting 
the progression of DoLS applications 

to the Court of Protection for NHS 
funded clients. 

We Chair and participate in the 
Delivery Group, and have continued 

engagement with all the main 
subgroups of Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 

West Yorkshire Police 

Continue with dedicated adult 
safeguarding team consisting of a DI, 

3 DS and 29 Constables and all 
safeguarding matters within the 
District are referred to the Police 

Adult Safeguarding Unit for further 
assessment and dissemination   

All safeguarding matters within the 
District are referred to the Police 

Adult Safeguarding Unit for further 
assessment and dissemination and 
Successful prosecutions for crime 

related offences 

We work towards the protecting and 
safeguarding vulnerable adults as a 

key priority as well as supporting 
victims and witnesses by tackling 

crime and making sure offenders are 
dealt with appropriately 

We proactively deliver on WYP 
Strategic Plans 

  3 dedicated misper coordinators  

Working towards a dedicated 
domestic abuse team 

All front line officers have been 
trained domestic abuse and 

vulnerability and this is a rolling 
training programme 

Increase in MH nurses physically being 
present in the Police Control Hub at 

peak periods 

DRAMM established and now co-
located within MASH/ Front Door for 

children 

The DRAMM is a daily meeting taking 
place Monday to Friday due to 

partner commitments, albeit it should 
be spread out to 7 day cover. The 

DRAMM assess all medium and high 
risk DV incidents and is in effect a 
strategy meeting to address the 

action that should be taken 

 
 

Back to contents 

Page 44



35 
 

Kirklees Council  
Housing Services 

We have around 40 members of staff 
from both Housing Services and KNH, 
who have come forward to take on a 

safeguarding “champion” role 

Our champions act as a “go to” person 
for their team or area of work. Their 
role is to raise awareness and offer 

signposting and guidance not to take 
on cases directly 

Our champions have  developed a 
number of fact sheets and 

information resources, held 
awareness raising activities, regularly 
contribute to staff newsletters  and 

recently, organised and held the first 
Champions Network 

Reviewed KNH processes in relation to 
recording, monitoring and reviewing 
Domestic Abuse including MARAC. 

Workshops to explain the purpose of 
MARAC and the process took place in 

November 2017. This resulted in 
improved early intervention and risk 
management of medium to high risk 

cases at MARAC 

Work is underway with the champions 
to produce a workflow/flowchart 
which can be to logging  of all DA 
concerns accurately and identify 

partners who can support customers 

KNH have completed a self-
assessment identifying good practice 
and areas for improvement around 

supporting tenants and staff 
experiencing domestic abuse. KNH 
have committed to achieving the 
West Yorkshire Domestic abuse 
quality standard and expect to 
achieve this by the end of 2018 

 Awareness raising and case studies 
highlighting best practice for MSP, 

Hoarding and self-neglect have been 
featured in briefly speak and staff 

matters as part of the communication 
strategy. This has improved KNH 
understanding and knowledge in 

these areas 

 
 
 
 
 

Calderdale & 
Huddersfield NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Policies on Domestic Abuse, Adult 
Safeguarding and Supervision have 

been updated 

Implemented MCA/DoLS training and 
reviewed level 3 Adults safeguarding 

training package 

Actively involved throughout 
Safeguarding week 

Hosted a Trust wide event - Mental 
Capacity and Mental Health in the 

acute setting 

Implemented MCA/DoLS training as 
part of the Essential Skills Framework 

A team member won the CHFT Star 
award for innovative practice -- 

setting up the Domestic Abuse Hub in 
Calderdale. Received Chief 

Superintendent Commendation 
Award for this contribution 

Implemented a Trust wide Network of 
Safeguarding Champions 

Improved Safeguarding and Prevent 
Health Wrap training compliance at all 

levels. Deliver NICE guidance 
Domestic Abuse training 

Developed monthly virtual newsletter 
delivering key messages 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

South West Yorkshire 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust 

SWYPFT have been accredited with 
the West Yorkshire Quality  Mark in 
relation to our training package for 
domestic abuse and our policies to 
support both service users and staff 

The Safeguarding Team have co-
produced and delivered ‘Parental 

Mental Health’ training with the Local 
Authority Families Team, Kirklees 

In March 2018 SWYPFT hosted a 
Safeguarding Conference which 

focussed on Human Trafficking, CSE, 
raising awareness of people with 
Learning Disabilities around the 

potential for exploitation and issues of 
consent, Radicalisation and Honour 

Based Violence 

The Safeguarding Team have merged 
the adult and children’s safeguarding 
link professional forums and opened 

these forums up to partner 
organisations, thus promoting a rich 
and diverse body of experience and 

expertise 

The Safeguarding Team developed a 
self-neglect/hoarding presentation 

following a serious incident to enable 
staff to learn from the incident and 
support them with future decision 

making 

SWYPFT supported West Yorkshire 
Safeguarding Week; delivering a 

presentation on “Perinatal mental 
health and Safeguarding” 

The Trust exceeded the new 85% 
training target for PREVENT as set by 
NHS England and achieved 93% and 
have produced a case study for NHS 

England to utilise in training 

The Safeguarding Team have 
produced and disseminated a number 

of briefings around a number of 
subject areas, including Harmful 

Sexual Behaviour, Parenting as an 
abuse Survivor and  Sexual 

Exploitation of boys and young men 

 

Back to contents 

Page 45



36 
 

Mid Yorkshire Hospitals 
NHS Trust 

Established a mechanism to record all 
contacts and queries received by the 
Safeguarding Adult team from staff 

within the organisation 

Positive feedback from (CQC) 
following their inspection of the Trust 

in May 2017 regarding the 
safeguarding function in the Trust. 

The CQC noted that staff knowledge 
of MCA and DoLS was good 

Awarded an outcome of ‘Significant 
Assurance’ by Audit Yorkshire 

following their audit of safeguarding 
in 2016, which was also rated 

‘Significant Assurance 

Developed a mechanism whereby In-
patient areas can submit requests for 

DoLS authorisations to the 
Safeguarding Team electronically 
whilst retaining the ability to see 

these requests 

Improved compliance with PREVENT 
WRAP3 awareness across the Trust to 

62%  (March 2018) from a figure of 
28.5% March 2017) 

Maintained levels of compliance with 
Safeguarding Adult training 

throughout the year – 95% for Level 1 
and 82% for Level 2 (March 2018) 

Continued to provide ‘reasonable 
adjustments’ for in-patients and 
elective surgical procedures for 

people living with a Learning 
Disability, with positive feedback from 

patients and carers 

Continued to work with the Mental 
Health Act Offices at South West 

Yorkshire Partnerships NHS 
Foundation Trust to maintain 

compliance with the requirements of 
the Mental Health Act 

Was a key partner in the planning and 
delivery of Safeguarding Network 
events in Kirklees and Wakefield 

Maintained strong partnership work 
with Kirklees adult social care through 
undertaking case file audits with the 
local authority to quality assure the 

safeguarding response. 

 
 

Locala Community 
Partnerships 

The Safeguarding Adults at Risk Policy 
was updated this year to included 

information how to respond to self-
neglect, hoarding concerns and early 

indicator of concerns 

A revised safeguarding template was 
introduced into all adult service 
electronic health records that 

promotes person centred care in line 
with Making Safeguarding Personal 

when concerns are identified 

A data base of early indicators of 
concerns has been maintained and 

the information provided to the Care 
Home Early Support and Prevention 

Group Meeting 

An adult core assessment template 
was introduced from September that 

incorporates a consent page with 
explicit reference to the Mental 

Capacity Act to support practitioner 
assessments 

Safeguarding team developed a 
process where all incidents where 
adult safeguarding concerns have 

been indicated have been reviewed to 
ensure all appropriate actions have 

been taken and followed up if further 
intervention is required 

Flow charts and procedures on 
safeguarding adult issues e.g. what to 
do if you are worried about an adult 
at risk, DoLS, Forced marriage etc. 

were developed and are readily 
available to all colleagues on the staff 

intranet 

Worked closely with operational 
managers to promote the 

safeguarding adult agenda within the 
business units. Used multiple ways of 
disseminating learning from incidents 
e.g. patient safety summits, electronic 

newsletter and briefings 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

West Yorkshire Fire & 
Rescue Service 

WYFRS) Safe and Well Visit 
programme was launched in April 
2017. We continued to deliver fire 

prevention safety advice but extended 
focus to include the identification of 

additional risk factors and 
vulnerabilities that may have adverse 
impact on an individual’s health and 

well-being 

These visits resulted in the fitting of 
appropriate interventions or 

equipment, tailored advice and 
information and referrals to specified 

partners for targeted support The 
additional areas of risk that we and 
our partners in identified are: Falls 

and Mobility; Smoking cessation; Cold 
homes; Crime prevention; Social 

isolation 

The Safe & Well Programme has 
already strengthened our links with 

Adult Social Care and Safeguarding in 
Kirklees and it will be a priority for us 

to review our formal partnership 
agreement and referral pathways to 

reflect these changes 

WYFRS have been lead partner in 
organising a review of Kirklees 

Hoarding Panel‘s Terms of Reference 
and referral procedures. The review 

process introduced a more structured 
and coordinated response to 

individuals referred into panel and the 
new procedures are due to be 
formally ratified in May 2018 

In response to a number of fatalities 
across the region including Kirklees, 
relating to smoking and the use of 

paraffin-based skin products, WYFRS 
have produced an awareness raising 
video which is being disseminated to 

key partners across the District, health 
and care professionals 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Back to contents 

Page 46



37 
 

NHS England 

A North region newsletter is now 
circulated weekly to safeguarding 

professionals. Learning is also shared 
with GP practices via quarterly 
Safeguarding Newsletters, and 

annually safeguarding newsletters for 
pharmacists, optometrists and dental 

practices across Yorkshire and the 
Humber are produced 

An annual North region safeguarding 
conference is hosted by NHS England 

North for all health safeguarding 
professionals, this year’s event 

included learning on neglect, hoarding 
and asylum seekers. Due to the 
success of last years named GP 
conference in Yorkshire and the 

Humber NHS England North also held 
a conference for named GPs to share 

good practice and learning; topics 
included homelessness, domestic 
violence, travelling families and 

safeguarding 

Designated safeguarding professionals 
are jointly accountable to CCGs and 

NHS England and oversee the 
provision of safeguarding training for 

primary care medical services. The 
main source of training for other 

primary care independent contractors 
is via e-learning training packages 

NHS England, in 2017/18, updated 
and circulated to health colleagues 

the Safeguarding Adults pocket book 
which is very popular amongst health 
professionals and has launched the 
NHS Safeguarding Guide App and a 

North region safeguarding repository 
for health professionals. A training 

needs analysis has also been 
undertaken to ensure all NHS England 
employees receive appropriate levels 

of safeguarding training 

 
A number of leadership programmes 

for designated safeguarding 
professionals have been 

commissioned by NHS England in 
addition to a 2 day resilience course.  
The CSE training provided by BLAST 

'Not Just Our Daughters' has also been 
provided for front line health 

professionals 
 

NHS England Yorkshire and the 
Humber have appointed an 

Independent Care Sector (ICS) Lead to 
support organisations in the delivery 

of the Enhanced Health in Care 
Homes framework. The key work 

streams in this programme for the ICS 
leads are the delivery of the red bag 

scheme and the roll out of an 
electronic bed state tool. 

Complaints and Concerns NHS 
England Customer Contact Centre 
review all complaints and concerns 

received and identify those containing 
a safeguarding element for 

appropriate action. Following receipt 
of complaints and concerns at NHS 

England North local offices these are 
reviewed again and any safeguarding 

concerns identified are referred to the 
safeguarding lead for review and 
appropriate action. Priorities in 

2017/18 around complaints 
were:   NHS England North regional 

safeguarding team in partnership with 
NHS England local offices reviewed 

and agreed a standard process for the 
management of safeguarding 
concerns within complaints. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Back to contents 

Page 47



 
 

38 
 

Appendix 1 – Safeguarding and Deprivation of Liberty 

information  

Safeguarding concerns 2017/2018  
 

 

 
 
 
A concern is a sign of suspected abuse or neglect that is reported to the council or identified 
by the council.  
 
An enquiry is where a concerns has met the care act criteria called section 42 enquiries:  
(a) the adult has needs for care AND support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of 
those needs)  
AND  
(b) the adult is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect  
AND  
(c) as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or 
neglect or the risk of it. 
 

An enquiry is the action taken or instigated by the local authority in response to a concern 
that abuse or neglect may be taking place. An enquiry could range from a conversation with 
the adult, right through to a much more formal multi-agency plan or course of action. In the 
majority of cases the enquiries have been dealt with through minimum intervention  
 
The KSAB have been working towards refining their data on enquiries. Previously the data 
only showed the enquiries that involved a formal multiagency plan. However now we have 
captured all cases where concerns met the Care Act criteria. This does not mean that that 
cases of abuse have risen significantly in the Kirklees areas.  
 

Both regionally and nationally there is ongoing work in regards to interpretation of the care 
act and what a section 42 enquiry as this is open to interpretation and the KSAB is involved in 
this work. 
 
While continuing to make sure people are safe, we are continued to move away from 
encouraging our wider partners ‘to refer if in doubt’ to thinking more about the reason why 

Back to contents 

Page 48



39 
 

they may wish to raise a concern with the local authority, and to consider consent of the 
adult at risk and the best way of achieving their desired outcomes. 
 

Some caution must be exercised in comparing data over time, due to changes in the 
definition and requirements of national returns. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Back to contents 

Page 49



40 
 

Deprivation of Liberty 2017/2018: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Requests for Deprivation of Liberty authorisations received by the Local Authority have 
continued to increase over the year.  
 
All Local authorities have significant challenges in meeting the demand.  

NB: ‘Other’ refers to requests 
that were either withdrawn due 
to change of circumstance or 
where request that were 
awaiting sign off at the end of 
the reporting period. (This 
information has only been 
recorded since 2014).The total 
number of request received was 
1928. The figure on the table is 
for allocated applications. 

 

 

Back to contents 

Page 50



41 
 

The following trends follow the same patterns nationally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Back to contents 

Page 51



42 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Back to contents 

Page 52



43 
 

Appendix 2 -  Strategic Plan Overview 2018-21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Back to contents 

Page 53



44 
 

Appendix 3 - KIRKLEES SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 
Board members June 2018 

 

Name Job Title Service/Organisation 

Mike Houghton-Evans Independent Chair  Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board 

Penny Woodhead 
Chief Quality & Nursing Officer  
Vice Chair 

Greater Huddersfield Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Helen Geldart Head of Service Kirklees Council Housing Services 

Lindsay Rudge 
Deputy Chief Nurse, Corporate 
Nursing 

Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Clive Barrett Head of Safeguarding 
The Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS 
Trust 

Julie Warren Sykes 
Assistant Director of Nursing 
and Quality 

South West Yorkshire Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust 

Amanda Evans 
Service Director for Adult 
Social Care Operations 

Kirklees Council 

Penny Renwick Lay Member Member of the public 

Marianne Huison 
Superintendent – Crime & 
Protecting Vulnerable People 

West Yorkshire Police 

Richard Parry 
Strategic Director for Adults 
and Health 

Kirklees Council 

Tanya Simmons 
District Prevention Manager - 
Kirklees    

West Yorkshire Fire & Rescue 
Service 

Clare Jones Director of Nursing & Quality Locala 

Chloe Haigh 
Senior Nurse NHS England 
Yorkshire & Humber 

NHS England North (Yorkshire and 
Humber) 

Asif (Ash) Manzoor 
Service Manager - 
Safeguarding Adults Board and 
Partnerships 

Kirklees Council/ Kirklees 
Safeguarding Adults Board 

Razia Riaz Senior Legal Officer Kirklees Council Legal Services 

Nikki Gibson Head of Safeguarding 
Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS 
Trust 

  

Back to contents 

Page 54



45 
 

Kirklees Council Adult Social Care – Reporting a Concern 
Gateway to care  
First point of contact for reporting safeguarding adults concerns and for advice 
and support: 
Tel: 01484 414933 
For further information on how to report a safeguarding concern 
 

Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board 
(not for reporting safeguarding concerns) 
Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board 
4th Floor, Civic Centre 1, High Street, Huddersfield, HD1 2NF 
Tel: 01484 221717  
Email: protection@kirklees.gov.uk  
Please do not report safeguarding concerns to this email address or telephone number) 

www.kirklees.gov.uk/safeguarding  
 

Police 

Emergencies: 

Always dial 999 in an emergency where there is a danger to life, or a crime is in 
progress.  
This number is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  
From a mobile phone, please dial 999 or 112. 

Non-Emergencies: 

Telephone 101 (24 hours a day, 7 days a week) for non-emergencies where:  

• police attendance is required 

• to report a crime 

• to report other incidents 

 

West Yorkshire Police Safeguarding Unit 
The team of specialist police officers have expertise in supporting the 
vulnerable and in partnership working.  
Tel: 01924 335075  
Where possible please use the email address below which is checked daily:  
ea.safeguarding@westyorkshire.pnn.police.uk  

Back to contents 

Page 55

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/adult-protection/report-abuse.aspx
mailto:protection@kirklees.gov.uk
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/safeguarding
mailto:ea.safeguarding@westyorkshire.pnn.police.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



FORMAT FOR PAPERS FOR DISCUSSION AT THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  
 

KIRKLEES HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD 

MEETING DATE: 22/11/18  

TITLE OF PAPER: Updated Kirklees Joint Strategic Assessment (KJSA) Overview 2018/19   

1. Purpose of paper 

To share the updated ‘Kirklees Overview’ 2018/19 with the Board (slides to be presented and 
hard copies to be circulated). This will replace the previous Kirklees Overview (2017/18) and 
summarises the key population health and wellbeing issues and challenges for Kirklees. It 
provides a useful context for the more detailed KJSA sections being updated during 2018/19. 

2. Background 

The Health and Social Care Act (2012) requires the Health and Wellbeing Board, working 
through local authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups, to produce a Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) of the health and well-being of their local community. In February 2015 the 
Board endorsed a new approach to JSNA development - an ongoing process focussed on both 
needs and assets which outlines medium and longer term challenges for the district. 
Subsequent papers have updated the Board on the progress of the KJSA, including the 
development and continuous improvement of the KJSA website.  

It was agreed by the Board in May 2016 that the Kirklees Overview would be updated annually 
and published on-line following approval from the Board. The Overview provides a useful 
context for the more detailed sections of the KJSA by summarising the ‘big issues’ and ‘key 
challenges’ for health and wellbeing using infographics and simple messages. 

Not all the data used in the Kirklees Overview has changed since the last version was approved 
by the Board in September 2017. However, the latest available data has been used in this 
2018/19 update wherever possible.  

3. Proposal 

The Board is asked to endorse and support the updated Kirklees Overview 2018/19. Together 
with the more detailed KJSA summaries and sections this will provide population-level 
intelligence to support the delivery of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the 
forthcoming local Health and Wellbeing Plan and to enable intelligence-led commissioning and 
service delivery. A member of the Public Health Intelligence team will be available to talk 
through the slides and answer any questions at the meeting. 

4. Financial Implications 

None 

5. Sign off  

Rachel Spencer-Henshall, Strategic Director – Corporate Strategy and Public Health 

6. Next Steps 

Subject to amendments highlighted in the meeting, the 2018/19 Kirklees Overview will be 
published online (replacing the current version here). 

7. Recommendations 

To endorse and support the updated Kirklees Overview 2018/19. A draft copy of the Kirklees 
Overview slides will be circulated prior to the meeting. Page 57

Agenda Item 9:

http://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/kirklees_overview
http://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/kirklees_overview
http://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna
http://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/kirklees_overview


FORMAT FOR PAPERS FOR DISCUSSION AT THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  

8. Contact Officer 

Owen Richardson, Senior Project Officer, Public Health Intelligence team 

Owen.richardson@kirklees.gov.uk; 01484 221000 

 

Page 58

mailto:Owen.richardson@kirklees.gov.uk


KIRKLEES HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

MEETING DATE:  22nd November 2018 

TITLE OF PAPER:   CAMHS Local Transformation Plan Refresh  

1. Purpose of paper 

The Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Board are requested to approve the draft 2018 Kirklees 
CAMHS Local Transformation Plan Refresh which NHS England specified had to be published by 
31st October 2018.  This deadline did not naturally align with the Health and Wellbeing Board 
scheduled meetings so an initial sign off of the draft was approved by the Chair and Deputy 
Chair of the Board.   The published refresh document remains a draft until the full approval has 
been made.  

2. Background 

In 2015, Kirklees developed a co-produced a five year Transformation Plan to improve local 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and other services for children, young people and 
families by 2020.  The plan included 49 ambitious local priorities which were quality assured by 
NHS England. 

There is a requirement to publish quarterly progress reports and a refresh of the plan annually 
in October of each year.  This refresh adheres to the NHS England’s Key Lines of Enquiry 
recommendations to inform on progress since 2015, identify commitment and local 
engagement in 2017/2018 to planning commitments to improve access, capacity and capability 
by making necessary preparations for future years. 

In 2015 and 2016 we continued to report on our original 49 local priorities, some have 
progressed well and are now beginning to support expected changes by 2020.  The 2017 
document reflected systematic changes over time where we have been able to reduce and 
refine our original 49 local priorities down to 25 concentrated priority areas which can begin to 
respond to changing local services and need. The 2018 Refresh has further refined these 
priorities to 23.  

Implementation of the Kirklees Integrated 0 -19 Healthy Child Programmes began on the 1st 
April 2017.  Commissioned services are working in partnership with Locala CIC under a delivery 
umbrella title of Thriving Kirklees.  This includes a number of previously independent local 
delivery elements all of which are expected to support achievement of many of our revised local 
priorities. 

The refresh also draws together a number of regional and national programmes which integrate 
across our local systems and population, for example the Transforming Care Programme, SEND 
requirements, the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, the local NHS Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan,  The 10 point Children’s Improvement Plan and the Kirklees Early Support 
Strategy  offer. 

3. Proposal 

The accompanying refresh plan considers the Q2 period July to September 2018 and our 
intentions over the next twelve months from October 2018.  The draft has been published on 
line at www.kirklees.gov.uk/futureinmind. The Board are asked to endorse the refresh and 
support ongoing proposed progress from a strategic level.  

4. Financial Implications  

Greater Huddersfield CCG        £653,000 

North Kirklees CCG                     £530,920 

Total allocation                           £1,183,920    
Page 59

Agenda Item 10:

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/futureinmind


 

5. Sign off  

Helen Severns, Service Director – Integrated Commissioning   

Jo-Anne Sanders .Service Director Learning and Early Support 

Approved draft report on 31st October 2018.  

6. Next Steps 

Once formal sign off has been agreed, first paragraph of the foreword on page 3 will be revised, 
the draft watermark removed, formal signatures applied and the final document re-published, 
together with an easy read version. Both documents will be accessible to the public at 
www.kirklees.gov.uk/futureinmind  

7. Recommendations 

The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to : 

1. Approve the Kirklees CAMHS Local Transformation Plan refresh (2018). 
2. Maintain a strategic oversight of the plan. 

8. Contact Officer 

Tom Brailsford 

Head of Children’s Joint Commissioning  

Tom.Brailsford@northkirkleesccg.nhs.uk 

 

Page 60

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/futureinmind


Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update 31 October 2018   1 

Page 61



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   2  

 

Contents 

 

Section 

 

Contents 

 

Page(s) 

 Foreword 3 

1. Executive Summary 4 - 6 

2. Introduction 7 - 10 

3. Baseline Needs and Current Services 11 - 14 

4. Service Provision Update 14 - 26 

5. Key Engagement Messages. 27 - 30 

6. Theme 1 - Promoting resilience, prevention and early 
intervention for the mental wellbeing of children and 
young people. 

31 - 40 

7. Theme 2 - Improving access to effective support – a 
system without tiers. 

41 - 53 

8. Theme 3 - Caring for the most vulnerable. 53 - 59 

9. Theme 4 - To be accountable and transparent. 60 - 65 

10. Theme 5 - Developing the workforce. 66 - 75 

Appendix A Revised Priorities Matrix  76 - 85 

Appendix B Baseline Data Refresh 2018  86 - 88 

Appendix C Risks to Delivery . 89 

Appendix D Kirklees Children’s and Young Plan  Draft 90 

Appendix E Kirklees Early Support Strategy 2018 Draft. 91 – 103 

Appendix F School Bid Pilot Part A  104 - 111 

Appendix G School Bid Pilot Part B  112-118 

                            Appendix H – Q 

 Kirklees CAMHS Local Transformation Plan 2018 

 

 

11. References 119 

12. Glossary and Acronyms 120 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/working-with-children/future-in-mind.aspx


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   3  

 

Foreword 

The 2018 Transformation Plan has been published in draft form as Kirklees Health 

and Wellbeing Board will not formally sign off the plan until November 2018. The 

draft has been approved by the Chair and Deputy Chair of Kirklees Health and 

Wellbeing Board.  

The 2018 Transformation Plan will be the fourth plan to be produced following the 

original 2015 plan.   

Since 2015 we have come a long way on our transformation journey, the content of 

this refresh will demonstrate the real impact and benefit of the increased focus and 

investment in Children and Young Peoples mental health.  

In Kirklees we acknowledge that in order to effect real and sustained improvement in 

children and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing, whole system 

transformation is required. We know the level of demand for CAMHS services both 

locally and nationally  is growing, alongside an increase in the complexity of the 

challenges that children and young people face in today’s society. To respond to 

both of these aspects radical, creative  and innovative solutions need to found.  

We feel, through our local innovation in areas such  as the Thriving Kirklees contract 

we are demonstrating such thinking, although  acknowledge more systemic change 

is required. The whole system change required in Kirklees is underpinned by our 

agreed approach to integration across Kirklees Council, Greater Huddersfield and 

North Kirklees CCG, providers and 3rd sector partners.  

The approach is gathering pace and significant integration between health, social 

care and education is underway, which will improve outcomes across the board for 

children, young people and families.   

This refresh aims to reflect the progress from last year, and highlight the remaining 

challenges we have as a partnership, whilst demonstrating the integrated way in 

which we are addressing these challenges.  

 

 

 

Steve Walker  

Director of Children’s Services 

Kirklees Council 

 

 

 

 

                    Cllr Shabir Pandoor  

Leader Of Kirklees Council and Chair of 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

 
                  Dr Steve Ollerton  

Deputy Chair of Health and Wellbeing Board 

 
Carol McKenna 

    Chief Officer - Greater Huddersfield and 

North Kirklees CCG 

Page 63



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   4  

 

 

 

1. Executive Summary 
 

This report updates and summarises our original 2015 Kirklees Future in Mind 

Transformation Plan for Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing, 

and outlines our continuing long term transformation priorities for 2018/19. 

This refresh reflects systematic changes since 2015; In 2017 we reduced and refined 

our original 49 local priorities down to 25 concentrated priority areas. In 2018 we 

have further refined our priorities to 23.    

  

 Theme 1 Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention for the 

mental wellbeing of children and young people. 

We will: 

 Implement clear joint working arrangements between schools and emotional 

health and wellbeing provision. This will include: 

o A CAMHS school link model supporting schools, primary care and 

other universal provisions. 

o Implement a joint training programme to support the link roles within 

primary care, schools, CAMHS provisions and to support joined up 

working across services. 

LPS 2 (1.2), LPS 8 (2.4) and LPS 9 (2.5) 

 Implement the Mental Health Support Teams Trailblazer and 4 week waiting 

time Pilot in collaboration with Schools. LP3 

 Co-produce with young people, peer education programmes for children and 

young people that promote resilience, and assist with early identification of 

emotional health and wellbeing issues.  LPS 4 (1.4) 

 Implement an early support offer in conjunction with children’s social care 

,ensuring Thriving Kirklees fits in the proposed model to help deliver a 

common set of outcomes improving emotional health and wellbeing LPS1.5 

 Ensure the nurturing parent programme is delivered throughout early help 

services, children’s centres and voluntary sector provision, to improve 

maternal bonding and attachment, having an increased focus on supporting 

and improving perinatal mental health provision.  LPS 1.6 and 1.7 

 Implement a comprehensive training programme to develop children and 

young people’s resilience, and raise their awareness of emotional health and 

wellbeing issues.  LPS 1.8 

Page 64



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   5  

 

 Continue to develop a range of innovative social media based interventions to 

provide support to children and young people, helping to build resilience and 

improve health and wellbeing. This will include Kooth and Mindmate    LPS 

1.9 and 1.1 

 

Theme 2 Improving access to effective support – a system without tiers 

We will:  

 Implement Thrive Elaborated across our local CAMHS provision.  LPS 5 (2.1) 

 Ensure that Parents and Carers are co-producing service developments with 

Thriving Kirklees including Single Point of Access and the Autism Spectrum 

Condition services. LPS 31 

 To consider the required resources and  implement the required system 

change in order to reduce Tier 2 waiting times and further reduce Autism 

Assessment waiting times  LPS 6 (2.2) 

 To explore All Age Psychiatric Liaison Models across Kirklees   LPS 12 (2.8) 

and LPS 29 (2.9)  

 Further strengthen the assertive outreach Intensive Home Treatment model in 

partnership with West Yorkshire New Care Models.  Preventing admission to 

Tier 4, assisting transition back to a community setting and developing safe 

spaces in Kirklees    LPS 2.10 and 3.7 

 To increase access to prevention and treatment services for 

underrepresented groups particularly LGBT Children and Young People LSP 

30  

 Implement the recommendations from the Lenahan review, “Building the right 

support” and the recent NHS England Guidance “Developing support and 

services for children and young people with a learning disability, autism or 

both”.  LPS 2.15 

Theme 3 Caring for the most vulnerable. 

We will: 

 Continue to provide and further enhance a CAMHS link and consultation 

model for the most vulnerable children including looked after children, children 

in the youth offending team, children experiencing sexual exploitation, care 

leavers and children on child protection plans across Kirklees. 

LPS 13 (3.1) and LPS 14 (3.2) 

Page 65



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   6  

 

 Jointly implement the Kirklees Council Sufficiency Strategy for Looked after 

Children and ensure they Looked after Children CAMHS provision meets 

locally identified needs LPS 3.10 

 Ensure that commissioning for the most vulnerable involves supporting those 

CYP who are transitioning out of Secure Children Homes/YOIs back into the 

community, those CYP attending Child Sexual Assault Assessment Services 

(CSAAS) and those CYP attending Liaison and Diversion provision. LPS 32 

 

 Ensure Forensic CAMHS, Family Group Conferencing, Multisystem Therapy 

and the Family Mental Health Team provision is integrated within our local 

treatment system new priority  LSP 33 

 

 Theme 4 To be accountable and transparent 

We will: 

 Continue to provide a single set of quality, performance and outcomes 

measures across the whole emotional health and wellbeing provision. This will 

report to relevant bodies including Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Board.  LPS 

4.11 

 Undertake a focused review of the reporting of the Mental Health Service 

Dataset to ensure the access target is achieved. LSP 34 

 

Theme 5 Developing the workforce 

We will: 

 In line with the new Health and Wellbeing Workforce Strategy develop a 

comprehensive workforce strategy for CAMHS across Kirklees.  The strategy 

will inform and direct how workforce development will be supported and 

implemented across all providers involved in the delivery of a tier less service.  

LPS 28 (5.4)   

 Ensure CAMHS providers are fully participating in Children and Young People 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) programme core 

curriculum in 2017/18.  LPS 25 (5.1) 

 Support school based staff, parents . carers and other providers to deliver 

interventions at a universal level to increase resilience in children ,young 

people and families.  LPS 5.6 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   7  

 

2. Introduction 
 

Our 2015 Transformation Plan included our first year priorities which shaped the 

foundations of our longer term vison to improve local Child and Adolescent Mental 

Health Services and other services for children, young people and families by 2020. 

 

Our refreshed plan published in October 2016 reported on progress in the first twelve 

months and our intentions to continue the improvement journey. The 2017 refresh 

refocused our original 49 priorities to 25, and reported on progress and our 

commissioning intentions for the coming year.  We have further refocused our 

priorities this year and the 2018 refresh should be read in conjunction with the 

original and refreshed plans, which can be found with other supporting information at 

www.kirklees.gov.uk/futureinmind. 

 

We continue to publish an easy read accessible format version of the key headlines 

for children and young people, parents, carers, those with a learning disability and 

those from other sectors and services beyond health. We will continue to publish our 

online newsletter which provides the public with headline updates on progress. 

 

This refresh adheres to the NHS England’s Key Lines of Enquiry recommendations 

to inform on progress since 2015 and identify commitment and local engagement in 

2018/2019 to deliver planning commitments to improve access, capacity and 

capability by making necessary preparations for future years. 

 

The refresh also draws together a number of regional and national programmes 

which integrate across our local systems and population, for example the 

Transforming Care Programme and SEND requirements, the Five Year Forward 

View for Mental Health,  and the local NHS Sustainability and Transformation Plan.  

 

The refresh also reflects and integrates a number of our local strategies and 

documents. They include Kirklees Early Support Offer (appendix E.) Kirklees 

Children’s Services 10 Point Improvement Plan (appendix I ), Kirklees Integrated 

Commissioning Plan ( appendix M) , The CCGs Joint Operational Plan ( appendix 

N)The CCGs joint operational plan in section 7 gives a summary of the Five Year 

Forward View deliverables and our progress against them. We will also be 

committed to delivering the Kirklees Children’s Services Pledge (appendix O), as 

part of our CAMHS local transformation plan.  

 

Appendix A, details our annual progression as a timeline to demonstrate our journey 

since 2015 in relation to our original 49 priorities and the subsequent adaptations 

made to begin to respond to changing local services and need. 

 

Page 67

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/futureinmind
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/working-with-children/pdf/future-in-mind/2017-18/camhs-e-bulletin-april-june-2017.pdf
http://www.nhsconfed.org/news/2016/07/implementing-the-five-year-forward-view-for-mental-health
http://www.nhsconfed.org/news/2016/07/implementing-the-five-year-forward-view-for-mental-health
https://www.wakefieldccg.nhs.uk/fileadmin/STP/Publications/Final-draft-submission-plan.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   8  

 

Appendix Q provides additional referencing to identify progress towards our revised 

Kirklees Transformation Plan Priority Themes and the services which contribute to 

the process. This appendix also identifies original priorities that have been achieved 

and whilst they are archived they remain in sight for review as required. 

 

Appendix B provides the 2016/2017 baseline information on Finance, Activity and 

Workforce.   

 

West Yorkshire and Harrogate Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

Since the development of the Kirklees CAMHS Transformation Plan, Clinical 

Commissioning Groups Sustainability and Transformation Plans have become more 

established to include developed and detailed priorities for their local populations. 

 

The West Yorkshire and Harrogate Sustainability and Transformation Plan include 

key overarching themes including mental health.  The mental health proposals 

states: 

“The providers of mental health services, working with commissioners and 

partners, are developing a Shared Outcomes Model to reduce variation in 

quality, improve outcomes and drive efficiency to ensure the sustainability of 

services”. 

 

Work is ongoing to cross reference and map the CAMHS Transformation Plan 

refreshed outcomes with the Kirklees Sustainability and Transformation Plan.  

High level aims include: 

 The development of the Early Intervention and Prevention Programme 

including a thriving voluntary and community sector. 

 Implementing and building on the Thriving Kirklees Healthy Child 

Programme. 

 Improving the capacity and quality of primary care (including GP Forward 

View). 

 Making social care provision more sustainable and more effective, including 

the development of vibrant and diverse independent sector. 

 Implementation of the Transforming Care Programme for people with learning 

disabilities. 

 Changes to the commissioner landscape, including more integrated 

approaches. 

It has been important to ensure the CAMHS Transformation Plan is closely aligned 

to the Sustainability and Transformation Plan as a key driver in supporting shared 

outcomes for the population of Kirklees. 

 

Page 68

https://www.wakefieldccg.nhs.uk/fileadmin/STP/Publications/Final-draft-submission-plan.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   9  

 

 

A review of both plans shows that they are closely aligned and have the 

underpinning ethos of the Future in Mind report. From the development dialogue so 

far, we are confident that both plans look to: 

 Develop robust connections between commissioners and workforce 

development leads. 

 Ensure that every child and young person enjoys a happy and healthy 

childhood, become confident adults who can cope with the demands of 

everyday life and contribute to their community. 

 Contribute to the children’s agenda and meeting the changing needs of local 

populations. 

 Compliment strategic visions and approaches to improve the efficiency, 

quality and New Models of Care. 

 Provide visible accountability, improving existing partnerships and formulating 

new partnerships and collaboration with key stakeholders. 

 Deliver local visions in addressing gaps in health and quality of care, 

efficiency and finance. 

 Provide frameworks for overall delivery of improved support around emotional 

wellbeing and mental health. 

 Ensure the Local Digital Roadmaps further advances partnerships and 

supports the enablement of joined up actions to meet local priorities. 

 Across our local footprint and at a West Yorkshire level collaboration and a 

joined up approach exists in joint commissioning initiatives and delivery of 

accessible support. 

 To have shared visions around the whole workforce development plans. 

 

The West Yorkshire Sustainability and Transformation Plan have been developed 

from the 6 local ‘place based’ plans. The West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and 

Care Partnership Next Steps to Better Health and Care for Everyone document 

describes the progress made since the publication of the initial plan in November 

2016. 

 

The Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan (appendix J) has recently been endorsed by 

the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Transformation of CAMHS is a local challenge and 

as such is central to the Improving Services for Children priority and associated 

Changes to the Commissioner and Provider Landscape priority. 

 

Reference to inter-relating CAMHS priorities are made in the Kirklees Health and 

Wellbeing Plan on pages 22, 28, 31, 33.   

Page 69

https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/download_file/view/452/499
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/application/files/7315/0184/5403/Final-draft-submission-plan.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   10  

 

 

In 2018 the QCQ undertook a Review of health services for Children Looked-after 

and Safeguarding in Kirklees .  We were particularly pleased with the positive 

feedback in relation to the Thriving Kirklees provision.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70

https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20180504_clas_kirklees-final_report.pdf
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20180504_clas_kirklees-final_report.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   11  

 

3. Baseline Needs and Current Services 

Kirklees has an online Joint Strategic Assessment (KJSA) resource which is 

accessible to the public and provides a picture of the health and wellbeing of Kirklees 

people which is used to inform the commissioning strategies and plans of the 

council, Greater Huddersfield CCG, North Kirklees CCG and the local voluntary and 

community sector. It includes information about health needs and assets across 

Kirklees. Health assets help people and communities to maintain and sustain their 

health and well-being, such as skills, knowledge, their networks and connections and 

community spaces.  

The content uses a life course approach to explain who is affected and where and 

outlines what actions commissioners and service planners can consider and reflects 

our ambition to balance information about health needs with information about 

available services and resources. We will continue to find ways to engage with local 

communities, councillors, the voluntary and community sector and Kirklees partner 

organisations to develop the format and content of the KJSA to make it as easy as 

possible for people to understand the full picture of health and wellbeing needs and 

assets in Kirklees. This includes providing mental health and emotional wellbeing 

information around the needs of children and young people and their families. To 

keep up to date with the latest information a blog is available.  The blog highlights 

key pieces of insight and signposts to newly published updated information.  

In July 2017, we updated the vulnerable children section which is a really important 

part of the commissioning cycle in making sure our current provision is based on 

local intelligence needs, available services and resources and allows us to see if our 

current commissioning is addressing identified issues of need. The vulnerable 

children content describes the wide range of problems this group faces which helps 

us think more broadly as commissioners about how we support vulnerable children 

and their families. The content also provides really useful insights and intelligence 

about specific cohorts of children within our vulnerable population, such as levels of 

emotional wellbeing amongst our local looked after population. 

In January 2018, we published a comprehensive Mental Health and Wellbeing 

Needs Assessment which includes sections relating to family and early years, 

children and young people and the transition between CAMHS and adult mental 

health services. 

The Kirklees Young People’s Survey was undertaken in July 2018, which gathered 

unique insight into the wellbeing, opinions and behaviours of year 9 students across 

Kirklees.  Around 2,000 young people took part in the survey providing new 

intelligence relating to worrying, coping techniques, and key differences between 

groups, including LGBT+ young people.  Some of the emotional health and wellbeing 

finding are summarised below: 

Page 71

https://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/kirklees_overview
http://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/blog
https://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/specific-groups-life-events/vulnerable_children
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/HNA-report.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/HNA-report.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/involve/entry.aspx?id=910


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   12  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   13  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Health Inequalities 

A ‘healthy’ child or young person is one who: “Enjoys a positive state of physical, 

mental and social wellbeing, not merely the absence of disease, and is able to 

identify and realise their aspirations, satisfy their needs and change or (at least) cope 

with their environment.” (WHO,1986). 

This means working together to: 

• Give every child the best start in life (‘Starting Well’ Life course stage); 

• Ensure that all children, young people and adults are able to make the 

best use of their strengths and abilities and to have control over their 

lives. (Marmot, 2010). 

To improve health inequalities locally, ensuring children and young people receive 

the right care, at the right time and in the right place, delivery of the Thriving Kirklees 

model includes: 

Page 73



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   14  

 

 A five year Section 75 pooled funding agreement, with management oversight 

by the Integrated Commissioning Group, both Clinical Commissioning Groups 

and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 Directing and targeting services to where there is greatest need, 

differentiating between universal services and targeted services to overcome 

access barriers. 

 Re-orient health and care services towards primary prevention and 

improvement in health, especially emotional health. 

 Prioritising child and adolescent mental health to ensure timely access to 

services to meet levels of need through a single point of contact. 

 Implement strategies to reduce waiting times which ensure children and 

young people access appropriate levels of care and treatment. 

 Providing safe appropriate mental health facilities for crisis and in-patient 

care. 

 Strengthening public health responses to children, young people, their parents 

and carers. 

 Co-production is central to strengthening community action, focussing on 

assets and strengths 

 

4. Service Provision Update 

Implementation of the Kirklees Integrated 0 -19 Healthy Child Programmes began on 

the 1st April 2017.  The commissioned services work in partnership with Locala CIC 

under a delivery umbrella title of Thriving Kirklees which includes a number of 

previously independent local delivery elements of: 

a. ASK CAMHS – a single point of access telephone number. 

b. ChEWS - Children’s Emotional Wellbeing Service,  

c. Specialist CAMHS. 

Under Thriving Kirklees, services report that working practices between ChEWS and 

Specialist CAMHS have already begun to develop best practice approaches based 

on the Thrive Elaborated model as an early step towards change where they are no 

longer being referred to as tiers of service in our delivery model and local priorities. 

 

 

Page 74

http://www.annafreud.org/media/3214/thrive-elaborated-2nd-edition29042016.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   15  

 

4.1 Single Point of Contact 

The 24/7 Single Point of Contact (SPoC) (which superseded the existing ASK 

CAMHS referral pathway) continues to provide access to help and advice 24 hours a 

day, seven days a week for all the following 0-19 services functioning under Thriving 

Kirklees, which includes: 

 Health visiting and School nursing 

 Specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

 Children’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Service (ChEWS) 

 Autistic Spectrum Condition assessment and diagnosis 

 Children and Young People with Learning Disabilities Team 

 Home-Start 

 Healthy Start Vitamin Scheme 

 Safety in the Home 

 Safety Rangers 

By providing a single front door and triage approach, service users are now directed 

to the relevant and appropriate professionals from the outset.  This includes onward 

referrals to the ASK CAMHS pathway processes through Northorpe Hall Child and 

Family Trust. 

To compliment the new Single Point of Contact a Thriving Kirklees website is under 

development to provide information about Thriving Kirklees services, health advice 

and an online referral form for practitioners and the public to request support for 

children, young people and families – this includes young people themselves who 

can access help and support directly.  

During June, July and August 2018 the SPoC had taken 4,623 calls. 2.64% of these 

calls were for CAMHS services, to demonstrate true demand future reporting needs 

to include any calls going directly to ASK CAMHS as opposed to going through the 

SPoC pathway. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

http://www.thrivingkirklees.org.uk/


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   16  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   17  

 

2.2 ChEWS - Children’s Emotional Wellbeing Service 

Northorpe Hall Child and Family Trust continues to provide short term direct 

interventions for those aged 5 to 19 whose emotional needs are impacting on their 

day to day lives but does not provide an immediate response service. The service is 

a Thriving Kirklees partner and functions under the working title of ChEWS. 

Between April 2017 and March 2018, ChEWS received 3,563 support requests, 666 

of these were directly made by schools or school nurses.  In the same period, 1766 

new young people started a face to face intervention or to receive planned support 

calls. 

Whilst children and young people may be referred to CAMHS with a single issue 

once assessed by the service many are identified as having several presenting 

issues which all need to be addressed to improve their emotional health and 

wellbeing. 

 

The above chart shows the spread of presenting issues from the 3294 telephone 

assessments started between April 2017 and March 2018. 

Average waiting times for April to June 2018 were reported at 29.4 weeks with 246 

children and young people on a service waiting list.  At the end of August 2018, there 

were 339 children and young people on a service waiting list. The average waiting 

time in August 2018 was 27.1 weeks. 

The following chart shows some of the most common presenting issues for the 1411 

children and young people for whom a telephone assessment was started between 

April 2018 and August 2018. 

Page 77



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   18  

 

 

The length of interventions was, on average, 74 days (10.6 weeks) in April 2018 and 

72 days (10.3 weeks) in August 2018.  The average intervention length last year was 

74.3 days (10.6 weeks).  

Of the 339 on the waiting list in August 2018, 107 were waiting for counselling, 47 to 

see a Senior Practitioner, 141 for an Emotional Health Worker and 25 for group 

work. 19 were on an exception list (i.e. they have postponed care or chose to wait for 

a practitioner of a certain gender or at a certain location).  The table below provides 

a monthly breakdown. 

 

N.B. The above table only includes young people about whom a decision has been 

made with regards to the service to be offered. It does not include young people who 

are in information gathering phase or who are awaiting a decision meeting (either 

with ChEWS or Specialist CAMHS).  At the time of writing (9th October 2018) there 

are 719 young people where a decision has been made or service offered. 

The average service waiting time has increased significantly over the past year from 

22.7 weeks to 29.4 weeks. As the waiting times have increased in this service area 

other areas of service such as Generic CAMHS have seen a significant reduction. 

This in part is thought to be because clearer pathways and the SPA have ensured 

that children young people’s needs are met at the lowest possible level of 

intervention. We have commissioned an independent consultant to examine the 

Page 78



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   19  

 

whole CAMHS and Thriving Kirklees system to understand current demand and 

needs in relation to the current resource allocation across the system.  

 

4.3 Specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) 

Specialist CAMHS is a Thriving Kirklees partner delivered by South West Yorkshire 

NHS Foundation Trust.  The service works with children and young people up to the 

age of 18 and offers a range of assessments and treatment options. The specialist 

element delivers generic CAMHS, the CAMHS LAC provision, Crisis provision, 

learning disability provision, ASC provision and ADHD provision. Each provision will 

be outlined below. 

Generic CAMHS.  

During the months of June, July and August 2018, Generic CAMHS received 98 

referrals. Referrals were received from Self-Referrals (35%), GPs (20%), Education 

(12%), NHS Hospital Staff/Paediatrics (3%), Social Services (1%) and Other (29%). 

70 of these referrals for Generic CAMHS have so far received direct support from the 

service. This doesn’t include ADHD, ASC, LAC/VYP, LD or Crisis. 

 

The average wait to first treatment contact for those seen by the service at the end of 

September was 31 days, which has reduced from 14 weeks in October 2017. 80% of 

generic CAMHS referrals seen within 10 weeks.  At the end of September 2018, a 

total 33 young people were waiting for treatment across the Generic CAMHS 

provision.  The active caseload of generic CAMHS provision by September 2018 

was 239. 

 

4.4 Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC) / ADHD and Learning Disability  

We continue to invest a significant amount in our Autism Spectrum Condition 

provision which provides a multidisciplinary team model that is compliant with 

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and managed within 

Thriving Kirklees. 

ASC assessments are on track to hit the 12-month trajectory by the end of 

September 2018. Staff have worked incredibly hard over the summer to increase the 

number of assessments in order to achieve this trajectory.  From October the extra 

funding will have finished therefore the number of assessments will be reduced this 

will be closely monitored. The development of the neuro-developmental pathway is 

ongoing, and staff will be undertaking further training over the next few months in 

order to roll out this new process. This will mean a more efficient journey for the child 

and family and will remove duplication. 

Page 79



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   20  

 

 

An ASC meeting held with Locala and Commissioners in June 2018 discussed the 

trajectory for assessments and confirmed being on track to meet trajectory but with a 

potential for a month’s delay due to non-attendance of families during the months of 

February 2018 and March 2018 due to poor weather conditions.  Staff turnover has 

also impacted on the number of assessments offered.     

 

The provider has discussed with commissioners the development of a new 

neurodevelopment pathway which will assist in maintaining the waiting times.  This is 

currently under development by the ASC/ADHD team and commissioners are 

considering future potential investment.  For this pathway the service is considering 

a new assessment tool which will require further funding for training of staff and 

licences; however this will reduce the amount of time families are waiting and 

remove the duplication of families waiting on different pathways. 

 

The service continues to complete 24 ASC Assessments each month. In year 1 the 

priority was to increase the number of assessments completed, which has been 

achieved.  Year 2 requires services to work with the wider 0-19 provision to 

understand and develop the support for families both pre-diagnosis and post-

diagnosis. 

During the months of June, July and August 2018, ASC received 29 referrals.  

Referrals were received from NHS Hospital Staff/Paediatrics (21%) and Other (79%). 

During June, July and August, 102 children and young people had an assessment 

for ASC. As reported in 2017, we continue to see a maintained increase in referral 

numbers for Autism Spectrum Conditions; referrals have increased from an average 

of 13 a month to an average of 20 a month. 

There were 267 young people waiting for an assessment at the end of October 2017. 

At the end of quarter one there were 171 children and young people on the waiting 

list. By the end of August 2018 there were 123 waiting. The average waiting time for 

an ASC assessment is now 15 months and by December 2018 is on target to be 12 

months. In 2017 the average waiting time was an average of 26 months.  

Referrals for ADHD assessment year to date have been 26 an average of five a 

month, with an active caseload of 338 in August 2018 and 76 children and young 

people waiting for support.  

Referrals into our Learning Disability service referrals total 35 year to date, an 

average of seven a month. The average waiting time is 52.2 days and an active 

caseload of 93 as of August 2018.  

 

 

Page 80



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   21  

 

4.5 Community Eating Disorder Service 

The South West Yorkshire NHS Foundation Trust wide Community Eating Disorder 

Service was originally commissioned in 2016 to cover the geographical areas of 

Barnsley, Calderdale, Kirklees and Wakefield. A Regional Commissioning Group co-

produced a service delivery model and agreement for the existing service to continue 

until 2020.  Both North Kirklees and Greater Huddersfield Clinical Commissioning 

Groups are partners in the eating disorder cluster with the other areas involved. 

The Community Eating Disorders Team for Barnsley, Wakefield, Calderdale and 

Kirklees have clear service pathways document which have been shared with GPs 

and local networks to bring into line published information with other CAMHS 

pathways. 

The area wide Specialist Community Eating Disorder team operates a network of 

smaller teams of eating disorder clinicians in neighbouring areas, via a ‘hub and 

spoke model’ which is described in the Access and Waiting Time Standard for 

Children with an Eating Disorder (National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health, 

2015) and is in line with the model recommended in NHS England’s commissioning 

guidance. 

The services functions within three local teams/areas (Barnsley, Wakefield, 

Calderdale/ Kirklees) and is integrated within the Generic Child and Adolescent 

Mental Health Service (CAMHS) management arrangements. 

The ‘hub’ comprises of a lead Consultant Psychiatrist and the Eating Disorder 

pathway leads (specialist clinicians) from each local team alongside the CAMHS 

Operational Lead and Practice Governance Coaches who are co-opted as required.  

Outcome monitoring aims to inform, quantify and demonstrate how treatment 

interventions impact on the lives of the children and young people using the services.  

Routine Outcome Monitoring (ROM) is embedded across clinical pathways being 

established in accordance with Access and Waiting Time Standard for Children with 

an Eating Disorder.  To ensure data quality the monitoring process includes 

individual case file audits.  Whilst successes are being achieved, the full impact of 

the Eating Disorder Service has yet to be evaluated. 

The service offers a training programme to universal services which is subject to 

ongoing development with the potential in the future to include: 

 Schools, targeting years 10 and 11 

 Healthy eating – all ages 

 Primary Care – contribute to GP training programme, or ad hoc in 

house training 

 Paediatrics 

Page 81



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   22  

 

 Adult mental health 

Referrals received between Feb 2017 and Feb 2018 for an assessment for those 

with a suspected eating disorder are outlined below. This data shows that referrals 

from 2016/17 have more than doubled across Kirklees: 

 

The service shares data nationally by quarterly submissions using Unify which is a 

secure system, used across the NHS for collection of patient data.  Commissioners 

have agreed a number of key local performance indicators.  These relate to children 

and young people (up to the age of 19) referred for assessment or treatment for an 

eating disorder who should receive NICE-approved treatment with a designated 

healthcare professional within one week (seven days) for urgent cases and within 

four weeks (28 days) for routine cases.  

For North Kirklees CCG the percentage of routine cases that were seen within four 

weeks between August 17 and August 18 is 90%, and the number of cases that 

were urgent seen within one week was 75%.  

For Greater Huddersfield CCG the percentage of routine cases that were seen within 

four weeks between August 17 and August 18 is 93%, and the number of cases that 

were urgent seen within one week was 79%.  

 

Page 82



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   23  

 

4.6 Crisis Provision and Home Treatment Provision 

The service activity shows that from April 2018 until August 2018 204 referrals were 

seen by the crisis provision (an average of 40.8 a month). From April 2018 to August 

2018 the response time of four hours was met 98.46% of the time  

The development of our intensive and home treatment provision has ensured that 

children and young people who may have previously needed admitting to hospital 

are able to have close monitoring and support in the community.  This has been 

particularly utilised in cases subject to Care Education Treatment Reviews and 

cases of self-harm. 

The New Care Models pilot has been live since April 2018.  Its first key task is to 

appoint three Care Navigators (one in each area across West Yorkshire).  Their role 

is to act as the advocate for the young person and their family and they are working 

closely with clinical colleagues in CAMHS, CEDS, IHT and crisis team to ensure that 

admissions to an inpatient bed only happen when it is necessary and that it is for the 

shortest amount of time possible.  The Care Navigators also work actively with 

NHSE Case Managers to repatriate young people back to West Yorkshire where this 

is clinically safe when they have been admitted to units far from home.  

In the first two quarters of 2018/19 throughout West Yorkshire they have worked with 

64 young people who have been in an inpatient bed (of whom eight have had two 

admissions) and there were 47 admissions and 50 discharges. 21 young people 

have been cared for in the community, and stayed well, since the clinical 

conversations with the Care Navigators. 

As the work of the pilot and the local areas reduce the OBDs this allows investment 

to be released into local community services and into service across West 

Yorkshire.  At the end of August 2018, the Programme Board for the New care 

Models have agreed just under half a million pounds worth of investment in 

community services across the patch. The investment for Kirklees will be used to 

enable the current crisis service to expand to offer a seven day intensive home 

based treatment service. We propose expanding the current crisis team to enable 

the team to offer intensive home-based treatment service seven days a week, from 

9am until 5pm. The crisis team would continue to offer crisis assessment and 

support to young people and families in working hours and expand provision to be 

able to offer cover at weekends. 

The savings have arisen from the reduction in OBDs made since the pilot went 

live.  The reduction in the OBDs (at 30 Sept 2018 is shown as the first six months 

figure doubled) and also distance from home and LoS is shown below (median in 

used for distance and LoS) 

Page 83



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   24  

 

 

The main benefit of the NCM will be to young people and their families.  We firmly 

believe that the new model will ensure that some young people avoid admission and 

others will have their admission reduced in length.  Young people and families tell us 

that this is what they want.  The other expected benefit of this will be an improved 

ease of access to the beds we have commissioned as demand will be less and this 

means that for those young people who have a clinical need for a bed they will be 

able to access these more swiftly.   

. 

4.7 Tier 4 

Current figures from North of England Commissioning Support data shows there 

were 25 CAMHS inpatient admissions from Kirklees. Seven of these referrals were 

from the Greater Huddersfield Clinical Commissioning Group catchment area and 18 

referrals made from the North Kirklees Clinical Commissioning Group catchment 

area.  This appears to be changing the trend from previous years were referrals from 

Greater Huddersfield were much higher than from North Kirklees. During the quarter 

1 of 18/19, 13 children and young people were still shown as being inpatients. 

 

Page 84



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   25  

 

 

 

 

 

 

As outlined above we are working closely with the West Yorkshire New Models of 

Care to prevent admission and facilitate timely discharge.  We still have local issues 

in terms of accessing Tier 4 provision in a timely manner and this year have had 6 

young people aged 16 to 17 years who were placed on adult wards due to delays in 

Page 85



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   26  

 

finding appropriate beds.  We also have issues where children and young people are 

being held on paediatric wards until beds can be found.  We know NHS England is 

beginning to try to address this issue as outlined in Theme 2. 

 

4.8 Vulnerable Children 

The Vulnerable Children’s Service offers a discrete provision for the most vulnerable 

children and young people and is embedded within children’s social care settings.  

This involves looked after children, care leavers, children in need, those at risk of 

child sexual exploitation and young offenders.  The service offers consultation to 

professionals, carers, social workers and foster cares as well as one-to-one 

interventions for children and young people. 

Between April and August 2018, the service received 87 referrals for one-to-one 

interventions with an active caseload of 21. The average waiting time from referral to 

first intervention at the end of August 2018 was 12.7 days. In August 2018 the 

referral with the shortest wait time being one day and the longest being 48 days. 

For those vulnerable children referred into Specialist CAMHS at the end of August 

2017, there were four children and young people waiting for treatment. The average 

waiting times from referral to treatment between April and August 2018 was 15 days. 

In terms of consultation, between August 2017 to April 2018, 180 appointment slots 

where made available to social workers, foster carers and other staff, of which 124 

were utilised.  Between April 2018 and 11th October 2018, 160 appointment slots 

where made available to social workers and foster carers and other staff, of which 

137 were utilised 

The consultation model allows a wide range of professional advice and support to be 

offered to several different groups of staff and carers.  It also allows children and 

young people with emotional health and wellbeing needs to be met by the most 

appropriate person in their life. 

Care Leavers/ Transition provision. 

In the first six months of this new provision, 27 young people have been referred 

and: 

 64 one-to-one young adult appointments offered  

 34 sessions cancelled or did not attend 

 15 clients have attended at least one session 

 seven clients engaged at least twice  

 three clients actively engaging in weekly assessment/treatment 

Page 86



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   27  

 

There have been 26 consultations with PA’s, who are the allocated workers for care 

leavers. Some of these have led to a referral to the transition CAMHS worker while 

others are advice only and some are signposting.  

 

5. Key Engagement Messages 

What do young people think of CAMHS? 

“...it would be ideal if all services transitioned [to adult services] at the same age. 

Across trust services are delivered differently.” 

“The support given was amazing but always room for improvement.” 

“…give young people as much detail as you would anyone else. It allows us to have 

a clear expectation of service and our health.” 

“…it really helped solve my problems, and deal with my emotion a lot better.” 

“…don’t under estimate the knowledge of Young people. Let them manage elements 

of their care.” 

“You make me happy and make my life better….it helps me be nicer to my sisters.” 

“My worries and bad experiences seemed to improve quite a lot and it seemed to be 

friendly.” 

What is missing that matters to parents/carers of children/young people 

accessing CAMHS? 

More support for Young People living with ASD 

“The service does not in any way prioritise assessments for ASD assessments.” 

“There seems to be an assumption that if a person with autism has anxiety it isn't 

something CAMHS can help with…Invest in training for practitioners to deliver a CBT 

type approach aimed at dealing with anxiety in autistic young people?” 

“Please have staff who understand ASD and it’s different presentations.” 

“Educate the educators and all school staff including lunchtime supervisors in terms 

of the complexities of autism as so few understand it.” 

“Learn that autism comes in all shapes and sizes, it’s not one size fits all!” 

Earlier intervention 

“…If my child had been supported early on when we tried to get help when she was 

7 she would not have had the difficulty she has now and would still live with us as a 

family” 

Page 87



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   28  

 

“We need to do so much more and really work within early intervention and 

prevention mindset, and ensure we have immediate and urgent care and support for 

those in crisis....” 

“You look at the very short term as does the government. If these children are 

supported NOW when they need it they are less likely to need support when they are 

older and less likely to be dependent.” 

Better transitions 

“Please look at the transition pathway for those moving from different areas. The 

whole situation was ridiculous.” 

“Transition from service to service for children who are looked after or complex. My 

son was transferred to a different service which lacked any facilities to meet his 

needs.” 

More timely care 

“Child was referred nearly a year ago. Still not been seen.” 

“My son was on the waiting list for too long without any contact.” 

“It’s fine going through the assessment process, but my child has been on a waiting 

list for 8 months with no sign of him seeing anyone face to face.” 

“4 months wait in the children's service - this isn't really acceptable.” 

“Waiting times are horrific, we waited 5 months for an emergency appointment 

following my son's threatened suicide.” 

We need to consider long term impact and additional needs and issues that may 

arise due to having to wait for such a long time for support, if lucky to get any. 

Improvement in handling transition from children’s to adults’ services 

“You’re discharged from children’s at 16, giving a 2 year gap before you move into 

adults at 18.” 

“There are different ages for different services?? 16 and 18 and school leavers age 

(19/20) so no sycronicity[sic]!!” 

“This referral cannot be made before age 18 yet liaison between child and adult 

services needs to happen as the waiting list to see someone at CAMHS can last 

longer than the period before the child's 18th birthday.” 

“Transition and over to adult services from 16 rather than 18” 

“I think there should be an 18-25 transition period which can include post 16 

school/college and day care for younger adults. My daughter is small (age 14/15) 

Page 88



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   29  

 

vulnerable and an easy target so the thought of her mixing with older adults who are 

bigger scares me to death.” 

“One outstanding thing that would need changing, would be to have it where service 

users, can move strait into adults from when they are discharged from children’s at 

16, rather than having the 2 year wait.” 

“Being a carer for a child who has turned 16 i still think that it is too soon for them to 

move as physically they might be of that age but mentally it is too early to move.” 

What do professionals think of the referral process? 

“Easy to refer via phone and email - was informed by letter the outcome of the 

support.” 

“Phone call contact can be challenging during school times, so liaison is difficult and 

emails are not secure, therefore communication is still difficult. The referral process 

is now clearer, e.g. Thriving Kirklees or phone call.” 

“The referral process was quicker this time than normal, however we all appreciate 

just how busy this service is.” 

“The referral process is quick and easy initially. It is a shame about waiting times but 

that is understandable and I know how stretched the services are.” 

“Easy to refer over the phone and it's better than completing a form because you get 

to have a conversation with someone.” 

“Too long. Information is constantly being asked for by different people so it can be 

summarised when in fact all details need to be relayed.” 

SWYPFT also gained some insight from young people using CAMHS and their 

parents/carers outlined on the next page: 

Page 89



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   30  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   31  

 

6. Theme 1.  Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention for  

   the mental wellbeing of children and young people. 

   Chapter 4 Future in Mind 

What will our transformed provision look like? 

“Our aim is to act early to prevent harm, by investing in the early years, 

supporting families and those who care for children and building resilience 

through to adulthood. Strategies should be developed in partnership with 

children and young people to support self-care. This will reduce the burden of 

mental and physical ill health over the whole life course” 

 

Kirklees CAMHS Transformation Plan 2015 

6.1  What have we achieved so far in 2018 

Prevention, early intervention and resilience building in children and young people are 

critical aspects of our whole system redesign to realise our original 2015 CAMHS 

Transformation Plan ambitions. We have begun system re-design to move services 

towards early intervention and prevention, but we still have much to do in order to fully 

realise our ambition in this area. Outlined below are our key achievements in relation to our 

priorities in this area.  

Work with Schools 

The majority of our children and young people in Kirklees spend most of their time in 

educational settings, spending significant amount of time with teachers, support staff and 

other pupils. Therefore, when intervening early and building resilience a focus on 

educational settings in order to achieve this is essential. We continue through our 

Integration Commissioning Board to collaboratively commission provision with our schools, 

including Thriving Kirklees provision. We are strengthening our collaboration further with 

our Schools as Community Hubs, by supporting the coordination aspect of the hubs to 

ensure services for children and young people are coordinated on a multiagency level. This 

will include formulising the coordination through an agreed SLA between schools and the 

Local Authority. This will further strengthen our commissioning relationship with schools on 

both a strategic and operational level.  

The Thriving Kirklees contract was awarded in April 2017 and brings together a number of 

services including School Nursing, Health Visiting, the new Autism Spectrum Disorder 

provision, our traditional Tier 2 and Tier 3 CAMHS, the Learning Disability provision, peer 

education and support programmes with a Public Health focus, for example the Nurturing 

Parent Programme.  

The contract has now been delivering for over a year now and we have already begun to 

see the benefits of bringing together a diverse range of services for children, young people, 

their families and the wider community. This has included the Thriving Kirklees provision  

Page 91



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   32  

 

mirroring our Community Hub Programme based around school clusters working as co-

located area teams to support the emotional health and wellbeing needs in each of the 

eight hub areas.   

Public Health Intelligence Leads (PHILs) Team Leaders continue to work across the Hubs 

working with communities, attending children and family joint working co-ordination 

meetings to highlight specific needs of their area. This approach is supported by the 

creation of 9 new skill mix 0 – 19s practitioner teams, compromising of Health Visitors, 

School Nurses, Nursery Nurses and Assistant Practitioners, co-ordinating with the eight 

Community Hub areas and CAMHS workers. This aims to ensure our 0 -19 practitioners 

and peer supporters can get involved much earlier around emotional health and wellbeing.  

To support this approach the Kirklees School Link Programme is embedded with the 

Thriving Kirklees contract. The schools link programme is part of the local strategic vision 

to shape a sustainable system wide transformation to better support children and young 

people in the area of emotional well-being and mental health.  Kirklees continues to 

develop school link approaches based on the national pilot and lessons learned from the 

Kirklees pilot and in doing so responds to several overlapping local priorities detailed in the 

Kirklees October 2017 Transformation Plan Refresh. 

The Education Links Worker has continued to support the aims of the programme including 

having a : 

 A named link practitioner within CAMHS for every school. 

 A named led professional within each school with responsibility for mental health, 

developing closer relationships with CAMHS in support of timely and appropriate 

referrals to services. 

 Provision of a joint training programme for named school leads and CAMHS. 

Work undertaken this year includes.  

 Consultation  with Schools to agree a shared language in relation to integrated 

approaches as a partnership and remove barriers maintaining language such as 

‘escalation’, ‘de-escalation’, ‘rejected’ and ‘accepted’ through the Tiered approach 

and introducing Thrive as a shared concept. 

 Thrive principals have begun to be shared across the school workforce and for 

workers to begin considering how this impacts on practice.  

 The Emotional Wellbeing Lead Network Meeting has been established. Emotional 

Wellbeing Lead Networks are planned in for the academic year 18/19.The start of 

the Network was positively received with over 50 attendees. The network meetings 

will take place each term and each half term there will be a newsletter with 

information and updates useful for the EHW leads. 

 There are now 114 Kirklees schools identified as having a designated Emotional 

Wellbeing Lead.  

Page 92



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   33  

 

 

Currently alongside 1 to 1 interventions and group work for children and young people, 

training is available within the Core offer to schools. A total of 31 schools have actively 

engaged in additional training. This training  is developed in consultation with schools 

and specialist CAMHS and includes: 

 Introduction to Children and Young Persons Mental Health  

 Understanding Behaviour as Communication  

 Understanding Attachment Theory  

 Introduction to Self-Harm  

 Understanding and Supporting Anxiety  

 The Teenage Brain  

 Maintaining Positive Emotional Well being 

 Mental Health Services/Pathways in Kirklees  

 Making Appropriate Referrals  

Although much has been achieved in terms of our strategic relationships with schools and 

service delivery, we acknowledge a more focused and adequately resourced approach is 

required. This will ensure early intervention and prevention approaches are embedded 

within all our schools and to ensure children and young people are receiving high quality 

timely interventions when required.  Engagement sessions with Kirklees School Governors 

in October 2018 mirrored many of the findings in this refresh and as such are incorporated 

into the priorities for 2018/19. Key themes that emerged included: 

 Evidencing outcomes for Children and Young People not just focusing on access or 

waiting times 

 Ensuring transparency throughout the referral process 

 Ensuring training was available in schools to support children and young people’s 

emotional health and wellbeing 

 Ensuring families were involved as part of the services CYP were receiving   

 Ensuring that mental health was linked with other factors within children and young 

people’s lives including domestic violence and debt issues.  

We are excited to have applied to become one of the trailblazer sites for the Green Paper 

recommendation in relation to school based mental health support teams We are also 

applying to be part of the 4 week waiting time pilot. The Kirklees trailblazer pilot will 

address some of the issues outlined above by School Governors; will consist of two mental 

health support teams and aims to: 

Page 93



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   34  

 

 Support a whole school approach to promoting children and young people’s 

emotional health and wellbeing in line with the 8 principles of  Promoting children 

and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing  a whole school and college 

approach 

 Ensure that where required children and young people have rapid access to 

evidence based interventions.  

 Based on co-production – building on strengths and respectful of pre-existing 

capabilities of schools, parents/carers and pupils as experts in their own 

circumstances.  

 Pull together the 3 key areas of support within schools; mental health, SEND and 

safeguarding 

 Place Leadership and Management at the centre, ensuring social and emotional 

wellbeing feature strongly in plans, policies and systems. 

 Support schools to develop a community vision (PATH) where development is 

informed by audit. 

 Cover key area of focus: Ethos and environment, curriculum teaching and learning, 

staff development and wellbeing, student voice and working with parents/carers.    

 Deliver interventions that are evidence based and underpinned by knowledge of 

child development, promoting well-being and resilience, emotional and social skills, 

adverse childhood experiences, and mental health.   

 Enable a bespoke programme of support for schools which enhances the existing 

whole school offer. 

 

We are currently awaiting the outcome of the bid; the detail of the bid is attached in 

appendix F and G. 

Social Media. 

Social media and use of technology remains a key facet of building children and young 

people resilience and intervening as early as possible.  

The Northorpe Hall website continues to offer resources and self-help material. Approved 

apps are suggested to young people to use along with national helplines.  

https://www.northorpehall.co.uk/young-people/support-young-adults  

We are currently exploring the implementation of Kooth online counselling within Thriving 

Kirklees to ensure responsiveness and open access to children and young people. We are 

particularly keen for Kooth to be part of our early intervention and prevention approach 

Page 94

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414908/Final_EHWB_draft_20_03_15.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414908/Final_EHWB_draft_20_03_15.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414908/Final_EHWB_draft_20_03_15.pdf
https://www.northorpehall.co.uk/young-people/support-young-adults


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   35  

 

offering anonymous support online for the children and young people of Kirklees.  

We continue to the pilot Brain in Hand application which is an assistive cloud based 

solution designed to help adults and young people diagnosed with autism or traits of 

autism without a diagnosis, or have general mental health issues. 

Users, support staff, parents/carers are trained to use the phone app to support users 

access individual customised support and where necessary get help from a parent, carer 

or named trained professionals.   Please see attached year 1 evaluation in appendix L 

.Development of Early Support  

Development of cohesive early support is a priority for Kirklees which is being overseen 

through the Ofsted Improvement 10 Point Plan (see appendix I). The latest draft of The 

Kirklees Early Support Strategy can be viewed in appendix E. All partner organisations 

across Kirklees have been included in the consultation and plan to develop this strategy. 

The next steps for the partnership are to agree how this will be implemented and put into 

practice. We have worked collaboratively across the partnership to ensure the strategy is 

cohesive across all partners and as such have agreed to use the Thrive Elaborated 

quadrants as a framework for delivery. This approach supports a shift of focus away from 

short-term crises and towards effective support for children and young people and their 

families at an earlier stage, with them at the centre of enabling communities rather them 

being dependent on statutory public services. 

Early support needs to focus on those adverse experiences and help both the child and the 

parents deal with these. We want to forge a relationship between agencies and children 

and families so that the emphasis of practice is on working with children and families, 

rather than doing things to them or for them.  “Working with” involves high support and high 

challenge so that families find their own lasting solutions to the challenges they face, and 

are equipped with the resilience to move forward successfully. We are working towards a 

position where working with is the default option;  basic entitlement for all children, young 

people and families who come into contact with services throughout the district, with the 

child at the heart of decisions that affect them. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95

http://braininhand.co.uk/


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   36  

 

Nurturing Parent Programme   

Nurturing Parents is an approach rather than a parenting programme. It focuses on 

enabling and supporting parents, along with wider family members and communities, to 

have close and loving relationships with children.  The main aims are to build resilience, 

create supportive and strong family units and to ensure a consistency in the information 

and support provided to parents-to-be, parents and carers of young children, and the wider 

community. This will be achieved by embedding a shared understanding of Nurturing 

Parents principles amongst services and systems engaged with our local communities. 

The care a child receives during their first 1001 days (from conception to age two), and the 

relationships that they form with their parents and other caregivers, creates the foundations 

for their future emotional wellbeing and mental health. This period of time is an important 

opportunity for early action to ensure that parents and their children form strong and 

healthy relationships, known as a secure attachment. This requires support from a caring 

community and a local infrastructure that understands and values the importance of family 

relationships.  

The Nurturing Parent Programme (NPP) content is embedded within the preparation 

course that is delivered to all potential Home-Start volunteers before they become engaged 

in supporting families.  This ensures that all families have the key messages cascaded and 

all volunteers have an awareness of the NPP model. 

 

Improving Perinatal Mental Health (PnMH)  

The Kirklees Perinatal Mental Health Network group meets on a two monthly basis. 

Representation in the group is drawn from a wide range of services including:  Calderdale 

and Huddersfield NHS Trust, Mental Health Services, 0-19 Healthy Child provisions, Public 

Health, Commissioners, Family Nurse Partnership, voluntary 3rd sector services and an 

invitation extended to service users. 

The Network functions to terms of reference to: 

1. Work collaboratively with appropriate services to achieve a positive change to 

address maternal mental health for Kirklees. 

2. Develop and review Kirklees Pathway for Perinatal mental health using evidence 

based practice, building on current good practice and encourage innovative working. 

3. Steer the implementation of national recommendations concerning maternal mental 

health i.e. MBRRACE reports and NICE guidance. 

4. Contribute to regional workstream and share knowledge of resources, apps and 

websites. 

5. To have an overview of Perinatal training available locally and nationally and to 

influence priorities for training programmes. 

Page 96

https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/mbrrace-uk
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   37  

 

6. Consult with and report to users of services and their carers and develop 

mechanisms to achieve this. 

The Network group met in June 2018 where progress and activity reports include the 

following headlines: 

a. IHV training has been successful.  Adjustments have been made to the training and 

positive feedback is being received. 

b. Planning is progressing to develop a 6 week antenatal programme for low level 

anxiety and depression between the Perinatal Midwife (Mid York’s) and IAPT. This 

will also be duplicated in Huddersfield with the Perinatal Midwifery Lead and IAPT. 

c. Mid-York’s have a de-brief clinic for women who have a traumatic birth which can 

then lead to an onward referral. 

d. A Clinical Psychologist (from Talk Thru charity) is to deliver a birth trauma group in 

September 2018 running on Tuesdays offering 5 places on a 12 week course. 

e. Birth trauma conference is to take place on 28 September 2018. 

f. Monthly meetings are taking place to discuss individual cases between the Mid-

York’s Midwife and the Perinatal Mental Health Practitioner for Dewsbury and 

Wakefield. 

g. Monthly meetings are taking place to discuss individual cases between the 

Calderdale and Huddersfield Midwifery Lead and the Perinatal Mental Health 

Practitioner for Huddersfield and Calderdale. 

Peer Education    

Building resilience and offering support at the earliest opportunity using peer education is 

another key facet to achieving our ambitions in relation to this theme. This year we have 

started to embed this practice within Thriving Kirklees, but further work is required to 

produce a peer education programmes primarily aimed at emotional health and wellbeing.    

Northorpe Hall Child and Family Trust’s Kirklees Youth Mentoring project is funded by the 

Big Lottery, and continues working with a number of schools to train young people so that 

they can mentor their peers . 

Home-Start Kirklees supports young parents aged 14-20 years (referred by professionals) 

with multiple complex issues by delivering group based support and Peer Educator 

support. Young parent’s progress is tracked whilst in group support and focuses on 

wellbeing, resilience and safer relationships as well as parenting and practical help with 

day to day issues e.g. budgeting.  Group work is currently funded by British Red Cross and 

Co-op and supports young mums up to 24 years.  From October Big Lottery is funding 

group work for 3 years. 

 

Page 97



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   38  

 

Young parents that achieve positive outcomes and no longer need 1 to 1 support are 

nurtured and trained to become Peer Educators upon which they then role model and 

support other young teenage parents.   

  

6.2 What are our local challenges in relation to this theme? 

Whole system approaches to reorienting resource and provision towards early intervention 

and prevention are challenging, but necessary to achieve our aims for this theme. We are 

continuing the journey in order to balance the need for responsive interventions when 

required and ensuring that there is a cohesive early intervention offer also. 

Looking at the priorities from 2017 it is clear that the two areas we haven’t progressed well 

on are the development of peer led approaches and also the development of a 

comprehensive training offer to develop children and young people’s resilience.   

It also remains a challenge to develop educational settings and schools as a cohesive 

whole that can be influenced or engaged as a single system. We need to continue our 

approaches in engaging and developing our education provision in line with local 

established structures. We also need to recognise clear links between emotional health 

and wellbeing and educational attainment to fully support educational settings to embrace 

enhanced support roles.   

6.3 What priorities will we begin to achieve over the next twelve months? 

We will: 

a. Implement the Mental Health Support Teams Trailblazer and 4 week waiting time 

Pilot in collaboration with Schools 

b. Co-produce with young people peer education programmes for children and young 

people that promotes resilience, and assists with early identification of emotional 

health and wellbeing issues.  LPS 4 (1.4) 

c. Ensure the nurturing parent programme is delivered throughout early help services, 

children’s centres and voluntary sector provision, to improve maternal bonding and 

attachment, having an increased focus on supporting and improving perinatal 

mental health provision.  LPS 1.6 and 1.7 

d. Implementing an early support offer in conjunction with children’s social care, 

ensuring Thriving Kirklees fits in the proposed model to help deliver a common set 

of outcomes improving emotional health and wellbeing.  LPS 1.5 

e. Implement clear joint working arrangements between schools and emotional health 

and wellbeing provision.  This will include: 

o A CAMHS school link model supporting schools, primary care and other 

universal provisions. 

o Implement a joint training programme to support the link roles within primary 

care, schools, CAMHS provisions and to support joined up working across 

services.    LPS 2 (1.2), LPS 8 (2.4) and LPS 9 (2.5) 

Page 98



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   39  

 

f. Implement a comprehensive training programme to develop children and young 

people’s resilience, and raise their awareness of emotional health and wellbeing 

issues.  LPS 1.8 

g. Continue to develop a range of innovative social media based interventions to 

provide support to children and young people, helping to build resilience and 

improve health and wellbeing. This will include Kooth and Mindmate  LPS 1.9 and 

1.10 

 

 

6.4 What outcomes will this impact on? 

1. Improved public awareness and understanding, where people think and feel 

differently about mental health issues for children and young people, where there is 

less fear and where stigma and discrimination are tackled. 

2. Children and young people will have timely access to clinically effective mental 

health support, when they need it. 

3. Improved access for parents to evidence-based programmes of intervention and 

support to strengthen attachment between parent and child, avoid early trauma, 

build resilience and improve behaviour. 

4. Mental health support will be more visible and easily accessible for children and 

young people. 

5. Professionals who work with children and young people are trained in child 

development and mental health, and understand what can be done to provide help 

and support for those when and where they need it. 

6.5  Theme 1 - Measurement of Impact 

Through the Thriving Kirklees contract monitoring process a number of performance 

indicators will be provided to commissioners to help demonstrate impact against each of 

the above five theme outcomes: 

1 % of children and young people who feel that they are supported by: 

a. Thriving Kirklees Partnership 

b. Family 

c. School 

d. Community and wider networks 

 to have good emotional wellbeing and can easily get help and support whenever they 

may have worries or concerns, by life course stage. 

 % of children, young people and families reporting they feel included in community life, by 

life course stage. 

2 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report feeling they were supported in a timely and 

appropriate manner. 

 % of children and young people who are receiving the following groups of the Thrive 

Elaborate Model: 

a. Signposting, self-management and one off intervention (Getting Help) 

b. Goal focused, evidence informed and outcome focused intervention (Coping). 

Page 99



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   40  

 

c. Extensive treatment (Getting more help). 

d. Risk management and crisis response (Getting Risk Support). 

to support them to have good mental and emotional wellbeing, by life course stage 

3 % eligible parents-to-be attending antenatal parent education programme. 

 % parents attending antenatal parent education programme who report feeling more 

confident about parenting, keeping their child safe. 

 % of mothers who received a Maternal Mood assessment in a timely manner. 

 % children and parents assessed as having good relationship/attachment (using 

evidence-based assessment tools). 

 % of children, young people or families using self-help resources for support, to be able to 

help themselves without needing specialist support. 

4 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report: 

a. They have appropriate access to resources, information and materials to support 

them with their identified issue. 

b. Feeling they were supported in a timely and appropriate manner. 

 % of children, young people or families:  

a. Using Self-Help resources for support to be able to help themselves without needing 

specialist support. 

b. Who access support via approaches based on use of technology and assistive 

technology. 

c. Reporting that they receive appropriate, supportive and a timely response to their 

needs.  …………… by life course stage. 

5 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce:  

a. Who feel they have the confidence, skills and knowledge to be able to promote good 

emotional wellbeing to children, young people and their families and be able to 

identify and support low level mental health problems should they arise (for example, 

in schools). 

b. Who feel that the Thriving Kirklees plays a clear and integral role within larger 

evidence based multi-agency pathway of support for Children and Young People. 

c. Able to demonstrate awareness of and understand of the importance of the parent-

infant relationship. 

d. Who report they have the appropriate knowledge, skills and expertise to carry out 

their role. 

e. That report they feel that knowledge, skills and expertise are shared and 

disseminated appropriately throughout the workforce and with those that interact with 

it. 

f. Who feel that Thriving Kirklees plays a clear and integral role within larger evidence 

based multi-agency pathway of support for Children and Young People. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   41  

 

7.  Theme 2. Improving access to effective support – a system without  

     tiers. 

     Chapter 5 Future in Mind 

What our transformed provision will look like? 

“Our aim is to change how care is delivered and build it around the needs of 

children and young people and families. This means moving away from a 

system of care defined in terms of the services organisations provide to 

ensure that children and young people have easy access to the right support 

from the right service at the right time” 

Kirklees CAMHS Transformation Plan 2015 

 

7.1  What have we achieved so far in 2018 

In Kirklees since our original transformation plan in 2015 , we have seen significant 

investment and innovation to transform our local service provision. This has meant we 

have a more diverse, innovative, responsive treatment system that is integrating across a 

number of services both locally and regionally. We have clear public pathways( see 

appendix K) and encourage self-referral through our local SPoC.  

In this section the achievements in 2018 will be outlined alongside strategic partnerships 

and developments in relation to specific areas of our local system.   

Implementing Thrive Elaborated 

The Thrive Elaborated model has been written into the service specification for the Thriving 

Kirklees Partnership.  The whole service provision is being built around Thrive Elaborated 

functions. 

We are continuing to undertake a focused piece of work to support the partnership in 

implementing the Thrive functions and model in 2018/19. There have been a number of 

delays in the implementation of Thrive Elaborated one of which has been ensuring the 

wider children’s partnership is signed up to the model and principles. This is to ensure the 

partnership and Thriving Kirklees are working to the same principles and outcomes for all 

children and young people and understand the function of the 4 quadrants in how we think 

about children and young people’s needs. This will ensure that regardless of the level of 

need from children, young people and families, their needs will be met at the right time, at 

the right place, at the lowest possible and earliest level of intervention. 

The early support strategy is based on the Thrive Elaborated model, thus ensuring  we 

have a multi-agency understanding and acceptance of Thrive Elaborated across Kirklees in 

2018/19. Additionally as outlined in theme 1, work has also begun with schools on 

embedding Thrive Elaborated as a concept. 

Although we would have liked more progress implementing Thrive, we have seen positive 

transformation in relation to our local system and as such have achieved the following.  

Page 101

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjXo734pf_WAhULHxoKHbtBBOMQFggmMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.annafreud.org%2Fmedia%2F3214%2Fthrive-elaborated-2nd-edition29042016.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0tPyw_780aMW5mHj-C4Wmt


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   42  

 

 A reduction in ASC waiting times to 14 months being on track for 12 months by 

December 2018.  

 Generic CAMHS waiting times are reduced to an average of 31 days reduced from 

14 weeks.  

 Looked After Children waiting times are currently an average of 15 days 

 For North Kirklees CCG the percentage of routine cases that were seen within 4 

weeks between August 17 and August 18 is 90%, and the number of cases that 

were urgent seen within 1 week was 75%. For Greater Huddersfield CCG the 

percentage of routine cases that were seen within 4 weeks between August 17 and 

August 18 is 93%, and the number of cases that were urgent seen within 1 week 

was 79%. 

 Our access performance against the 32% access standard target is 32.3% for 

Greater Huddersfield CCG and 25.8% for North Kirklees CCG comparable with 

regional averages.  

 Having a fully functioning 24/7 Single point of contact in Kirklees.  

 

However, we continue to have concerns in relation to the increase in Tier 2 waiting times 

across Kirklees which have now risen to 29.4 weeks. Thriving Kirklees are transforming 

some processes and practice in order to be able to meet need and reduce waiting times, 

but currently it is apparent this having little or no impact on waiting times. We have 

therefore employed an external consultant to look at our local system in order to provide an 

independent view of the whole treatment system and particularly the issue of waiting times 

at a tier 2 level. The consultant will report in December 2018 and will include 

recommendations in relation to the distribution of current resources across the treatment 

system and how the model can be changed to be more efficient .We as commissioners will 

also refocus the waiting time elements of the Thriving Kirklees contract to oversee what 

activity is taking place with children and young people whilst they are waiting for an 

intervention.  

Although we are pleased to have reduced waiting times for ASC assessments from 4 years 

to 12 months, we recognise that the waiting time needs to reduce further.  The provider has 

discussed with Commissioners the development of new neurodevelopment pathway which 

will assist in maintaining the waiting times.  This is currently under development by the 

ASC/ADHD team and Commissioners are considering future potential investment.  For this 

pathway the service is considering a new assessment tool which will require further funding 

for training of staff and licences. However  this will reduce the amount of time families are 

waiting and remove the duplication for families waiting on different pathways. In year 1 of 

the new service the priority was to increase the number of assessments completed, which 

has been achieved.  Year 2 requires services to work with the wider 0-19 provision to 

understand and develop the support for families both pre diagnosis and post diagnosis 

 

 

 

Page 102



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   43  

 

Transforming Care for Children and Young People 

An area wide Transforming Care Plan partnership involving Kirklees, Calderdale, 

Wakefield and Barnsley has established a Children and Young people’s workstream.   

This work stream is implementing recommendations from the Lenahan review, “Building 

the right support ” and NHS England Guidance “Developing support and services for 

children and young people with a learning disability, autism or both.  

The nine principles outlined in the NHS England guidance are being embedded across the 

partnership led by the Children and Young People work stream. The work stream 

comprises of CAMHS transformation plan commissioning leads and representation from 

local authorities including Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) leads across 

the region. The workstream is chaired by the lead future in mind commissioner for Kirklees, 

who subsequently works closely with NHS England.   

The children and young people Transforming Care Programme dovetails and complements 

local CAMHS transformation plan priorities and reporting arrangements and augment 

existing joint Children and Families Act arrangements for each area. 

NHS England is overseeing implementation of the TCP and regular highlight reporting is 

taking place in relation to the agreed actions of the work stream.  We have made good 

progress in terms of needs assessment, planning and projection for the groups of children 

and young people affected and also in implementing the CETR process and reviews 

across the footprint. In July 2018 our at risk of admission register was fully implemented 

across Kirklees, Calderdale and Barnsley and Wakefield , the first in the region which is an 

extremely positive step. We recognise however the scope of the register needs to be 

widened out over the coming months to include a wider cohort of Children and Young 

People.  The most recent feedback from NHS England has also highlighted the following 

positive aspects in relation to our local TCP for children and young people: 

 

 You have provided very accessible and helpful information for parents 

including a video about CETRs which is included on all your Local Offers. 

 

 You have established sound partnership links between CCGs and Local 

Authorities in the implementation of the SEND reforms particularly in the 

issue of EHCPs where the CCG’s are an essential part of the sign-off process.  

 

 You have systems in place to track through the actions of the CETR via the 

TCP coordinator who liaises with the Band 7 nurses and advanced social 

work practitioner who are the in the process of developing and implementing 

quality measures 

 

 

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/lenehan-review-into-care-of-children-with-learning-disabilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/lenehan-review-into-care-of-children-with-learning-disabilities
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/developing-support-and-services-for-children-and-young-people-with-a-learning-disability-autism-or-both/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/developing-support-and-services-for-children-and-young-people-with-a-learning-disability-autism-or-both/


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   44  

 

NHS England also highlighted areas of focus over the coming months which are: 

 

1. Fully implementing Dynamic and At risk of Admission Registers ensuring they 

are in place and working.  

 

2. Current performance is that 25% of community CETRs are being 

completed prior to hospital admission this needs to be improved, but is 

thought to be underreporting.  

 

3. Engaging local CYP to consult and include in the discussion processes 

around the development of services. 

The areas for further focus will inform the priorities in the 2018 refresh of our CAMHS LTP 

and will be monitored through the work stream and through quarterly reporting to NHS 

England.  

Across Calderdale, Wakefield and Barnsley we have employed a Band 7 Mental Health 

Nurse to undertake the CETR chairing role, and in Kirklees also focus on clinical need 

across LAC and SEND alongside transition. This is providing much needed clinical 

governance in relation to individual cases and packages of care, whilst also helping 

integrated practice across respective teams and roles.  

. 

Development our of Learning Disability Service.  

Prior to moving the learning disability provision into the Thriving Kirklees arrangements our 

local learning disability offer consisted of the Children’s Community Learning Disability 

Team ( CCLDT) (4 Whole Time Equivalent  Learning Disability Nurses) managed by adult 

Learning Disability services. The referral criteria was 0-18 with primary diagnosis of 

Learning Disability (any level) offering nursing assessment and interventions around 

behaviour, sleep, continence, medical conditions, support to parents/carers and multi-

agency working.  

Separate to this, there was a CAMHS Learning Disability Pathway (1 Whole Time 

Equivalent Clinical Psychologist). The referral criteria at the time were a diagnosis of 

Learning Disability (any level) with comorbid severe behavioural, psychological or 

emotional difficulties.  The service offered complex psychology assessment and 

formulation, individual therapy and Positive Behavioural Support. 

In April 2017 as part of the Thriving Kirklees partnership and to meet the requirements of 

the commissioned learning disability provision, the Kirklees CAMHS Learning Disability 

service was created with the aim to provide a service for children & young people who 

have a Learning Disability at any level and coexisting mental health concerns that requires 

input from a specialist service. 

Page 104



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   45  

 

 

Dedicated clinician time was created within the current workforce including a 0.6 WTE LD 

Clinical Lead, 0.2 WTE Clinical Psychologist, 0.2 WTE Assistant Psychologist, 4.0 WTE LD 

Nurses, 0.4 WTE Mental Health Practitioners, 0.2 WTE Health Care Assistant and a 

named Consultant Psychiatrist for consultation.  

The referral criteria changed to: a child or young person (0-18) with a Learning Disability 

(any level) and this is having a significant impact on their emotional health and well- being. 

There is a robust weekly screening process via SPoC and all referrals accepted are offered 

a face-to-face initial assessment. Current data shows that the service is now within the 

target KPI of 28 days for initial face-to-face contact and treatment waiting times reduced 

from 372 days to 48 days. Following assessment there is a clear formulation and treatment 

plan and the service offers a wider range of interventions including Positive Behavioural 

Support, psychological therapy, sleep training, sensory profiling, specific systemic or 

individual interventions, and care co-ordination for all young people who are treated with 

psychotropic medication for challenging behaviour.  

Requests for professional development have been supported and have included ACT 

training, sleep practitioner training and MSc advanced clinical practice in order to ensure 

the service has the correct level of skill and expertise to offer treatment/interventions in line 

with NICE guidance.  

The CAMHS Learning Disability service have been instrumental in other wider service 

developments including the creation and implementation of the Children’s LD/ASD risk 

management and family support register and ensuring CAMHS Learning Disability  

representation for SEN/EHC processes. We have presented at our local CAMHS 

development meeting and also at a regional West Yorkshire New Care Models CAMHS 

Learning Collaborative. We have worked closely with our partner agencies to improve 

relationships and ensure there is a clear understanding around the CAMHS Learning 

Disability service offer.  

  

Children and Family Act and Education , Health and Social Care Plans  

In Kirklees the CCG’s work very closely with education and social care to ensure that the 

needs of children and young people with special education needs and disability are fully 

met and positive outcomes are achieved for children, young people and families. We have 

2 FTE nurses that are embedded within the local authority SENDACT team offering input 

and advice into Education Health and Social care plans from a physical and mental health 

point of view.  

The CCGs lead for the Children and Families Act is a joint post with the local authority and 

as such strategy and practice is decided jointly and agreed through our local integrated 

commissioning board. We have a number of integrated commissioning arrangements 

which underpins the provision for children and young people with SEND needs including 

Thriving Kirklees provision and our local therapy services for OT, Physiotherapy and SALT.  

We are also jointly producing a SEND needs assessment and commissioning strategy to 

Page 105



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   46  

 

support a joint strategic vision for Kirklees. This will include aspects such as the local high 

needs review, our local sufficiency strategy, our all age disability and transition ambitions 

and link clearly with the CAMHS LTP priorities.  

Our SEND commission group oversees the Children and Family Act action plan and we 

are currently updating our local Self Evaluation Form which is being overseen by the 

group. We have representation for our Local Parents Group forum PCAN on the 

commissioning group 

Our Kirklees Local Offer  contains relevant information to support emotional health and 

wellbeing. 

 

Suicide Prevention.  

The Kirklees Suicide Prevention Action Group has been formulated to secure attendance 

from a wide range of professionals and 3rd sector providers connected with suicide 

prevention responding to the following structural processes: 

 

The Group meets quarterly with representation from a wide range of professionals and 3rd 

sector providers connected with suicide prevention.  The group works to agreed terms of 

reference and a local action plan to share concerns and develop co-ordinated support and 

actions associated with suicide prevention. 

The main aims of the group is to reduce the levels of suicide, attempted suicide and self-

harm within Kirklees by implementing an effective Kirklees Suicide and Self harm 

Prevention Action Plan, in line with the national suicide prevention strategy.  The Group will 

agree its remit regarding prevention of self-harm within the context of suicide prevention. 

In terms of children and young people, the group is concerned with levels of self-harm in 

Kirklees, so is trying to work more with CAMHS providers to find out what levels of referrals 

are centred around this issue and what can be done to raise awareness with teachers and 

parents but also with children and young people themselves. Commissioners are also 

applying to become a Kirklees Time to Change HUB which will involve working more 

closely with the colleges to provide training around what it means to be a mental health 

Page 106

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/local-offer/the-local-offer.aspx


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   47  

 

champion and to try and recruit children and young people champions to do more early 

intervention and prevention mental health work in schools. 

Local issues of consideration include: 

1. Suicide Prevention for LGBGT young people and non-gender communities and 

other vulnerable groups. 

2. Providing outreach via Samaritans to reach specific groups in the farming 

community. 

3. Implementing a real time surveillance approach to suicide prevention to access 

data quickly and plan more efficiently. 

4. Developing a self-harm pathway for Kirklees. 

5. As a group agreeing about suicide prevention activities that would be beneficial 

to us on a West Yorkshire footprint, initially including: 

• Access to suicide bereavement support for those living in Kirklees. 

• Access to regional and locally developed campaigns/resources. 

• Access to suicide prevention/mental health training for people who 

work or live in Kirklees. 

Gender identity is one of the protected characteristics in the Equality Act and there is 

increasing awareness of the needs of pupils and issues for schools. In June 2018, senior 

leaders, teachers with pastoral responsibilities and school governors were provided with an 

opportunity to attend a briefing to understand Transgender for Schools. 

This briefing offered clear and succinct advice in this complex area and provided practical 

suggestions and resources for schools. Participants were also provided with a 

comprehensive pack covering the following: 

 Explanations on gender identity and the experience of transgender people. 

 Clear information on the law, expectations and terminology. 

 Comprehensive pack of up to date guidance. 

 

Tier 4 and New Care Models  

Progress continues following the Mental Health Service Review for CAMHS, with a working 

bed reconfiguration plan that is now seeing new build developments in the Humber region 

for General adolescent and PICU services. For West Yorkshire, developments  are at the 

planning stage however the St Mary’s hospital site in Leeds has been announced as the 

new build site; again this will see General Adolescent and PICU services.  Within South 

Yorkshire collaborative provider partnerships are being formed to enable further bed 

reconfiguration. This high level reconfiguration will see the distribution of beds being more 

able to meet young people’s needs more locally and support a  positive pathway 

experience.  The overall plan is aimed for delivery within 2020, and this will also include 

Page 107



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   48  

 

Low secure for MI and LD, for which Yorkshire and the Humber have not had prior.  

A further progression to meeting local population needs, is the announcement that ‘New 

Care Models’ being seen as the steady state of commissioning, which is essentially aiming 

for collaborative and devolved commissioning. We already have a wave one (North 

Yorkshire) and a Wave two (West Yorkshire) sites for CAMHS. Progress in South 

Yorkshire on implementing a provider partnership is ongoing and being supported.  Both 

the bed reconfiguration and New Care Models support each other in refining clinical 

models and enabling local innovation.   

The New Care Models pilot has been live since April 2018.  Its first key task is to appoint 

three Care Navigators (one in each area across West Yorkshire).  Their role is to act as the 

advocate for the young person and their family and they are working closely with clinical 

colleagues in CAMHS, CEDS, IHT and crisis team to ensure that admissions to an 

inpatient bed only happen when it is necessary and that it is for the shortest amount of time 

possible.  The Care Navigators also work actively with NHSE Case Managers to repatriate 

young people back to West Yorkshire where this is clinically safe when they have been 

admitted to units far from home.  

In the first two quarters of 2018/19 throughout West Yorkshire they have worked with 64 

young people who have been in an inpatient bed (of whom eight have had two admissions) 

and there were 47 admissions and 50 discharges. 21 young people have been cared for in 

the community, and stayed well, since the clinical conversations with the Care Navigators  

As the work of the pilot and the local areas reduce the Occupied Bed Days this allows 

investment to be released into local community services and into service across West 

Yorkshire.  At the end of August 2018 the Programme Board for the New care Models have 

agreed just under half a million pounds worth of investment  in community services across 

the patch. The investment for Kirklees will be used to enable the current crisis service to 

expand to offer a seven day intensive home based treatment service. We propose 

expanding the current crisis team to enable the team to offer intensive home based 

treatment service seven days a week 9-5. The crisis team would continue to offer crisis 

assessment and support to young people and families in working hours and expand 

provision to be able to offer cover at weekends. The main benefit of the NCM will be to 

young people and their families.  We firmly believe that the new model will ensure that 

some young people avoid admission and others will have their admission reduced in 

length.  Young people and families tell us that this is what they want.  The other expected 

benefit of this will be an improved ease of access to the beds we have commissioned as 

demand will be less and this means that for those young people who have a clinical need 

for a bed they will be able to access these more swiftly 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   49  

 

Crisis Provision and All Age Psychiatric Liaison  

Our local crisis provision in Kirklees is performing well and is meeting our 4 hour 

assessment target 98% of the time. The development of our intensive and home treatment 

provision has ensured that children and young people who may have previously needed 

admitting to hospital are able to have close monitoring and support in the community. 

Currently this service isn’t offered at weekends due to resourcing issues. The proposal in 

Kirklees is to use the resource saved from the new care models project to expand the 

current crisis team to enable the team to offer intensive home based treatment service 

seven days a week. The crisis team would continue to offer crisis assessment and support 

to young people and families in working hours and expand provision to be able to offer 

cover at weekends. 

We continue to develop our all age psychiatric liaison services and recently have attended 

an information sharing and learning event led by South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 

Foundation Trust. The event aimed to bring together providers and commissioners from 

across Kirklees and Calderdale to hear about the development of a Rapid Assessment, 

Intervention and Discharge Team (RAID) in Greater Manchester Mental Health Foundation 

Trust.  The outcome of the event was that providers and local commissioners will meet to 

determine whether a similar RAID approach will be of benefit to children and young people 

aged up to 18.  

 

Currently we have partially implemented a Psychiatric Liaison model in the Greater 

Huddersfield Clinical Commissioning Group area through the acute hospitals which works 

from aged 16 upwards.  This is recurrently funded from core budgets.   

 

Early Intervention in Psychosis 

The Kirklees Insight Team is a youth focused commissioned service providing support 

across the Kirklees district for people aged between 14 and 35 who are experiencing their 

first episode of psychosis or thought to be at a potential of risk of developing this.  The 

team provides psychosocial interventions (treating and preventing a condition using 

educational and behavioural approaches) to improve the long term outcomes for people 

experiencing psychosis.  The team support people’s treatment and recovery outside of the 

mainstream mental health system.  Referrals for people under 18 years old, self-referrals 

and carer referrals can be made directly to the duty worker in the team.  Young people 

(aged 14 – 18years) will be seen within 14 days – however, if a referral for this age group 

is viewed to be urgent, the referral will be assessed within 4 hours.  Referrals for this age 

group are made directly to the team. 

The service aims to: 

 Reduce the stigma associated with psychosis and improve professional and general 

public awareness of the symptoms of early psychosis. 

 Promoting the need and benefits of an early assessment. 

 Reduce the period of time people remain undiagnosed and untreated. 

Page 109



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   50  

 

 Develop meaningful engagement, provide evidence-based interventions and 

promote recovery during the early stages of psychosis. 

 Increase the stability of the lives of the young people accessing the service 

 Provide a person-centred service that integrates the child, adolescent and adult 

mental health services and works in partnership with primary care services, family 

services and youth services. 

 Work in partnership with other services to ensure that the young people accessing 

the service have quick and easy pathways into services appropriate to meet their 

needs. 

 Provide training, advice, and consultation to other service providers who may be 

working with this group of service users in order to help them respond in more 

efficient ways. 

 Provide structure and activities to develop life and employment skills. 

 

7.2 What are our local challenges in relation to this theme? 

We need to work over the coming years on areas that present significant challenge.  These 

include: 

 Further reduce the Autism Spectrum Disorder assessment waiting list and the Tier 2 

waiting list  

 Co-produce with West Yorkshire New Care Models further intensive community 

support to preventing Tier 4 admissions and better care navigation  

 Reduction of inpatient admissions from the North Kirklees Clinical Commissioning 

Group catchment area. 

 Exploration of implementing a “safe space” for Kirklees.  

 

 

7.3 What priorities will we begin to achieve over the next twelve months? 

We will: 

a. Implement Thrive Elaborated across our local CAMHS provision.  LPS 5 (2.1) 

b. Ensure that Parents and Carers are co-producing service developments with 

Thriving Kirklees including SPA and the ASC services.  

c. To consider the required resources and  implement the required system change in 

order to reduce Tier 2 waiting times and further reduce Autism Assessment waiting 

times  PS 6 (2.2) 

d. To explore All Age Psychiatric Liaison Models across Kirklees   LPS 12 (2.8) and 

LPS 29 (2.9)  

e. Further strengthen the assertive outreach Intensive Home Treatment model in 

partnership with West Yorkshire New Care Models.  Preventing admission to Tier 4, 

assisting transition back to a community setting and developing safe spaces in 

Page 110



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   51  

 

Kirklees   

LPS 2.10 and 3.7 

 

f. To increase access to prevention and treatment services for underrepresented 

groups particularly LGBT Children and Young People  

 

g. Implement the recommendations from the Transforming Care, the Lenahan review, 

“Building the right support” and the NHS England Guidance “Developing support 

and services for children and young people with a learning disability, autism or 

both”.  LPS 2.15 

 

7.4 What outcomes will this impact on? 

The above will work towards achievement of the following: 

1. Care is built around the needs of children, young people and their families. 

2. Children and young people will have timely access to clinically effective mental 

health support when they need it. 

3. Increased use of evidence-based treatments with services rigorously focused on 

outcomes. 

4. Improved care for children and young people in crisis so they are treated in the right 

place at the right time and as close to home as possible. 

5. Mental health support is more visible and easily accessible. 

 

 

7.5  Theme 2 - Measurement of Impact 

Through the Thriving Kirklees contract monitoring process a number of performance 

indicators will be provided to commissioners to help demonstrate impact against each of 

the above five theme outcomes: 

1 % of children and young people receiving specialist support who developed and 

implemented their personalised support in partnership, inclusive of the service user, their 

family/carers and the Thriving Kirklees workforce, by identified issue 

 % of parents who feel they have experienced all of the following when interacting with 

Thriving Kirklees: 

a. Developed a trusting relationship with (at least one) Thriving Kirklees worker 

b. Asked their opinion and felt listened to 

c. Set outcomes they wanted to achieve 

d. who feel they have been involved in the co-production of the support they have 

received  …… by life course stage. 

1 % of children and young people who feel they have experienced all of the following when 

interacting with Thriving Kirklees: 

a. Developed a trusting relationship with (at least one) Thriving Kirklees worker 

b. Asked their opinion and felt listened to 

c. Set outcomes they wanted to achieve 

Page 111



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   52  

 

d. who feel they have been involved in the co-production of the support they have 

received,  ……by life course stage. 

2 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report feeling they were supported in a timely and 

appropriate manner 

 % of crisis referrals to the specialist element of the Thriving Kirklees who are assessed 

within 4 hours, by identified issue. 

 % of children and young people seen by the specialist element of the Thriving Kirklees 

within mandated waiting time targets. 

 Average waiting time for specialist support from identification of issue to treatment, by 

identified issue. 

 Average waiting time for children and young people who received an Autistic Spectrum 

Disorder (ASD) diagnostic assessment. 

 % of children and young people who are receiving the following groups of the Thrive 

Elaborate Model: 

a. Signposting, self-management and one off intervention (Getting Help) 

b. Goal focused, evidence informed and outcome focused intervention. (Coping) 

c. Extensive treatment (Getting more help) 

d. Risk management and crisis response (Getting Risk Support) 

to support them to have good mental and emotional wellbeing, by life course stage 

3 % of children, young people or families using Self-Help resources for support to be able 

to help themselves without needing specialist support. 

4 % of children and young people who are receiving the following groups of the Thrive 

Elaborate Model: 

a. Signposting, self-management and one off intervention (Getting Help) 

b. Goal focused, evidence informed and outcome focused intervention. (Coping) 

c. Extensive treatment (Getting more help) 

d. Risk management and crisis response (Getting Risk Support) 

to support them to have good mental and emotional wellbeing, by life course stage 

5 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report they have appropriate access to resources, 

information and materials to support them with their identified issue. 

 % of children, young people or families using Self-Help resources for support to be able 

to help themselves without needing specialist support. 

 % of children, young people and families who access support via approaches based on 

use of technology and assistive technology. 

 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report feeling they were supported in a timely and 

appropriate manner. 

5 % of children, young people and families reporting that they receive appropriate, 

supportive and a timely response to their needs, by life course stage. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   53  

 

 

8.  Theme 3 - Caring for the most vulnerable. 

      Chapter 6 Future in Mind 

Vulnerable children and young people 

“The need to provide both targeted and specialist mental health interventions, to 

those children most at risk of developing poor mental health is an essential 

aspect of any CAMHS system. The need to provide a flexible approach to this 

provision to engage the most vulnerable is key to engagement and retention of 

children and young people in CAMHS provision. These children often experience 

multiple vulnerabilities and can lead chaotic lifestyles, and live in families where 

there are also multiple parental vulnerabilities” 

Kirklees CAMHS Transformation Plan 2015 

8.1  What have we achieved so far in 2018 

We now have a well-established discrete provision which is integrated within children 

services. The provision provides high quality support and interventions that are flexible and 

meet the needs of looked after children, those at risk of experiencing Child Sexual 

Exploitation and those in the Youth Offending Team system.. 

This year we have further invested in the provision of the multiagency team comprising of a 

psychotherapist, psychologist and emotional health and wellbeing practitioner were 

augmented with care leavers mental health post. This will ensure that the emotional health 

and wellbeing of care leavers are met, and where required clear transition arrangement 

can be made with adult mental health teams.  The need for this provision was highlighted 

through our Ofsted inspection report in 2016 and forms part of our 10 point improvement 

plan. The team provides consultation, support and training to social workers, foster carers, 

Youth Offending Team staff and others in order for them to meet the emotional health and 

wellbeing needs of vulnerable children. The waiting time target for LAC is consistently met 

with the average waiting time from referral to treatment being 15 days.  

The health provision that we have integrated within children social care includes our 

CAMHS discrete provision for vulnerable children, our Youth offending team nurses and 

our looked after children nursing provision. The practitioners across these three teams 

meet regularly to offer support and consultation to each other in their retrospective areas. 

As part of our Ofsted 10 point improvement plan a number of actions have been 

undertaken which complement and augment provision for the most vulnerable children in 

Kirklees. DFE innovation resource has been utilised to establish the following provisions in 

Kirklees.  

 

 

Page 113



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   54  

 

Family Group Conference Team 

FGC is a restorative approach and the process empowers a family and their network to 

draw on their strengths and resources to make a safe plan for their child or children. FGC’s 

ensure the family network have a chance to hear and discuss the concerns. They also give 

an opportunity for everyone to be listened to including the child and young person(s). It can 

be an opportunity to be informed of any resources that could help them improve family life. 

Kirklees has currently been offering FGCs to a low number of families in both early support 

services and children’s social care; however plans are now in place to expand FGCs 

through the innovation funding. The full team has now been recruited to and completed 

training and has expanded from 3 to 12 officers which will allow for up to 320 FGCs to be 

facilitated in a 12 month period. The entitlement for Kirklees families for an FGC is still 

under development; however it is recognised that the service needs to engage with 

families at the earliest opportunity for those on the edge of care or those whose needs may 

otherwise escalate to a point where accommodation is necessary. 

Multi-Systemic Therapy Team 

Multi Systemic Therapy (MST) is an intensive family and community based intervention for 

children and young people aged 11-17, where young people are at risk of out of home 

placement in either care or custody due to their offending or having severe behaviour 

problems. The key goals of MST are to break the cycle of anti-social behaviours by 

keeping young people safely at home, in school, and out of trouble.  

Kirklees does not currently have any family evidence-based preventative services seeking 

to cumulatively address the risks of young people entering the care and custody systems. 

The large population of young people in Kirklees, linked with the statistics shows a 

relatively high proportion of those entering the care and criminal justice systems, with a 

current lack of evidence-based programmes seeking to specifically target these areas 

highlights a significant need for Kirklees to invest in preventative interventions such as 

MST. There is clear alignment between the desired outcomes of MST and the local 

authority, with the need to reduce the numbers of looked after children as a key priority for 

Kirklees and the innovation funding will support development and implementation of the 

programme. Recruitment to the Kirklees MST team will take place in September 2018 and 

will include a Programme Manager/Supervisor, 4 therapists and business support.  Once 

recruited the therapists will receive 5 days of MST model training during 

November/December 2018. 

Family Mental Health Team 

The Family Mental Health service coordinate appropriate early support for parents who 

have mental health difficulties and share information relevant  to the welfare of their 

children, with a focus on managing risk, increasing resilience, building strength and 

encouraging independence and reducing the long term need for services. The service 

works restoratively and uses a whole family approach to identify and explore the impact of 

Page 114



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   55  

 

parental mental health upon families, lifespan and intergenerational issues. 

Kirklees has a long established FMH team with three workers with a fourth worker joining 

the team from Stronger Families in December 2017. The focus has been working across 

Children’s Social Care and Adult Mental Health to reduce the barriers between services 

and enhance practice in order to improve direct work with families. The results of this have 

been positive but additional resources were identified to be required to expand the service 

to support significant improvements in front line practice. 

Recruitment has taken place and there is now a Team Manager, 5 Stronger Families 

consultants and a level 3 Social Worker in post.  There are still vacancies for a Senior 

Practitioner and a L3 Social Worker and plans are being put together to recruit to these 

posts. The team is now up and running and once recruitment to the remaining posts is 

complete the FMH service will be in a position to increase the number of families they can 

support. 

Risk and Vulnerability Team  

The Risk and Vulnerability team within Children’s Social care has been created from 

bringing together the Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing Children’s teams. 

The team will work within a Contextual Safeguarding framework, recognising that the 

relationships and interactions that children and young people have outside of their family 

setting, in their neighbourhoods, schools, colleges and peer groups can feature violence 

and abuse which parents and carers may have limited influence over. 

Health & Justice 

NHS England ‘s Health and Justice specialised commissioning team in Yorkshire and the 

Humber  are currently involved with two of the three work programmes that are focussing 

on improving collaboration between various commissioners of services for those children 

and young people who come into the NHS England Health and Justice pathway. 

Commissioners of such services include NHS England, Office of Police and Crime 

Commissioners, Local Authorities and Public Health England. The two programmes are 1) 

the development of a framework for integrated care for Children and Young People’s 

Secure Estate (CYPSE) known as Secure Stairs and 2) establishing collaborative 

commissioning networks.  

The third work programme involves establishing a Specialist Child and Adolescent Mental 

Health Service for High Risk Young People with Complex Needs (Community F:CAMHS) 

across Yorkshire and the Humber. 

One of the key objectives of these three work programmes includes identifying and 

addressing gaps in mental health provision for children and young people held within, 

and transitioning into or out of, the CYPSE either on youth justice or welfare grounds, Child 

Sexual Assault Assessment Services (CSAAS) and Liaison and Diversion services across 

Yorkshire and the Humber. Another objective involves focussing on those children and 

Page 115



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   56  

 

young people whose mental health needs may not meet traditional service thresholds, 

but for whom the aggregated impact of multiple health and social issues presents not only 

an immediate risk, but also one which may escalate to the point of crisis if left 

unaddressed.  

Local CCG commissioners need to ensure that commissioning for the most vulnerable 

involves supporting those CYP who are transitioning out of Secure Children Homes/YOIs 

back into the community and that they have access to appropriate mental health/emotional 

wellbeing support following that transition. Whole packages of care need to be 

commissioned to ensure that there is full pathway consideration. Priority areas for 

development include increased Speech and Language provision to address 

communication barriers, identification of learning disabilities and improve engagement with 

youth justice services. There needs to be a greater understanding and awareness of the 

impact of complex trauma on CYP across the whole spectrum of health and social care 

and there needs to be the encouragement of a trauma aware approach to working with 

CYP. Psychological support needs to be considered for CYP who come into contact with 

one of the four CSAAS or Youth Offending Teams in Yorkshire and the Humber and how 

they transition into mainstream CAMHS. 

Ensuring seamless transition and integrated working is the key to supporting CYP who 

come into contact with Health and Justice services are some of the most vulnerable in 

Yorkshire and the Humber.   

We continue to work closely with our Local Youth Offending Team.  The CAMHS 

Transformation Commissioning lead is a member of the Youth Offending Team Board and 

has input and oversight of the Youth Justice Plan. 

The CAMHS Transformation Commissioning lead also commissions the Health input into 

the Youth Offending Team as a whole including substance misuse provision, the Nursing 

support includes learning disability provision and CAMHS consultation input. This ensures 

that young people at risk of, or involved in the criminal justice system have a 

comprehensive holistic assessment of their needs and receive the most appropriate 

support. 

Forensic CAMHs (FCAMHs): 

Four local NHS Trusts are working together to provide a Community Forensic CAMH 

Service for children and young people across the Yorkshire and Humber region. 

These Trusts are: 

• South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

• The Humber NHS Foundation Trust 

• Sheffield Children’s NHS Foundation Trust 

• Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

Page 116



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   57  

 

 

They provide services to anyone under the age of 18 whose behaviour/presentation may 

be of concern to professionals, their families and/or their communities. The service 

consists of a variety of multi-disciplinary professionals, including Psychiatry, Psychology, 

Nursing and Social Work. Each has a range of specialist expertise in working with young 

people displaying high risk and concerning behaviours. 

Children referred to FCAMHs may be involved with the youth justice system or be at high 

risk of being so in the future. They are likely to present with behavioural problems like 

violence and aggression towards others, harming themselves, fire setting or engaging in 

sexually inappropriate behaviour. This is a new provision and work will be undertaken with 

staff across the partnership to support the successful integration of this additional 

resource.   

8.2 What are our local challenges in relation to this theme? 

We have made good early progress under this theme by completing and implementing the 

priorities outlined in our original and refresh transformation plans. In terms of impact, there 

has been a significant reduction in waiting times for looked after children and the most 

vulnerable children, and a workforce that feels supported to meet the needs of our most 

vulnerable children. 

A number of systemic challenges remain in terms of future improvements and development 

of children’s services these include. 

 Our looked after children Sufficiency Strategy has been produced and agreed. We 

need now to implement the actions from the strategy .This will ensure over time 

that we have sufficient accommodation and provision locally to reduce the number 

of out of area placements required which includes those for emotional health and 

wellbeing and Autism Spectrum Disorder. 

 Although we now have a Band 7 Nurse overseeing packages of care for LAC out 

of area, the quality assurance  and provision of required interventions remains a 

challenge.  

 

8.3 What priorities will we begin to achieve over the next twelve months? 

We will: 

a. Continue to provide a CAMHS link and consultation model  for the most vulnerable 

children including looked after children, children in the youth offending team, 

children experiencing CSE, care leavers and children on child protection plans 

across Kirklees.  LPS 13 (3.1) and LPS 14 (3.2) 

b. Jointly implement the Kirklees Council Sufficiency Strategy for Looked after Children 

and ensure the Looked after Children CAMHS provision meets locally identified 

needs.  LPS 3.10 

 

Page 117



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   58  

 

c. Ensure that commissioning for the most vulnerable involves supporting those CYP 

who are transitioning out of Secure Children Homes/YOIs back into the community, 

those CYP attending Child Sexual Assault Assessment Services (CSAAS) and 

those CYP attending Liaison and Diversion provision. .  . 

 

d. Ensure Forensic CAMHS, Family Group Conferencing, Multisystem Therapy and 

the Family Mental Health Team provision is integrated within our local treatment 

system.   

8.4 What outcomes will this impact on? 

The above priorities will achieve the following: 

1. An improved offer for the most vulnerable children and young people, making it 

easier for them to access the support that they need when and where they need it. 

2. Increased use of evidence-based treatments with services rigorously focused on 

outcomes. 

3. Professionals who work with children and young people are trained in child 

development and mental health, and understand what can be done to provide help 

and support for those who need it. 

8.5  Theme 3 - Measurement of Impact 

Through the Thriving Kirklees contract monitoring process a number of performance 

indicators will be provided to commissioners to help demonstrate impact against each of 

the above three theme outcomes : 

1 % of Looked After Children / Youth Offenders / Child Sexual Exploitation cases receiving 

a Mental Health intervention within a maximum of 28 days. 

 % Of Thriving Kirklees workforce working with vulnerable groups receiving consultation 

and support from specialists. 

 No of foster carers and professionals receiving consultation and support "Vulnerable 

Young People Team". 

 % of support for children and young people identified as requiring support with a LD who 

experience a seamless transition to Adult Services at the expected time target. 

 % of children and young people identified as requiring support that have an Education, 

Health and Social Care Plan, by identified concern. 

 % of children and young people who feel that they are supported by: 

a. Thriving Kirklees Partnership 

a. Family  

b. School 

c. Community and wider networks 

to have good emotional wellbeing and can easily get help and support whenever they 

may have worries or concerns, by life course stage 

1 % of children, young people or families using Self-Help resources for support to be able 

Page 118



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   59  

 

to help themselves without needing specialist support 

 % of those children and young people identified as requiring specialist support who are: 

a. Supported by the specialist element of Thriving Kirklees, by identified issue. 

b. Waiting for support by the specialist element of Thriving Kirklees, by identified 

issue. 

c. Supported by the generic workforce of Thriving Kirklees, by identified issue are 

supported by other means, including % of other support mechanisms. 

 % of children and young people seen by the specialist element of the Thriving Kirklees 

within mandated waiting time targets. 

 % of crisis referrals to the specialist element of Thriving Kirklees who are assessed within 

4 hours, by identified issue. 

 Average waiting time for children and young people who received an Autistic Spectrum 

Disorder (ASD) diagnostic assessment. 

 % of children and young people identified as requiring support with a Learning Disability 

(LD) waiting for less than 28 days for first appointment. 

2 % of children and young people who demonstrates improvement in their outcomes via the 

use of validated experience measuring tools, by life course stage. 

3 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce who feel they have the confidence, skills and knowledge 

to be able to promote good emotional wellbeing to children, young people and their 

families and be able to identify and support low level mental health problems should they 

arise (for example, in schools). 

 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce who feels that Thriving Kirklees plays a clear and 

integral role within larger evidence based multi-agency pathway of support for Children 

and Young People. 

 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce able to demonstrate awareness of and understand of the 

importance of the parent-infant relationship. 

 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce who report they have the appropriate knowledge, skills 

and expertise to carry out their role. 

 % of Thriving Kirklees  workforce that report they feel that knowledge, skills and expertise 

are shared and disseminated appropriately throughout the workforce and with those that 

interact with it. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

% of Thriving Kirklees workforce who feels that the Thriving Kirklees plays a clear and 

integral role within larger evidence based multi-agency pathway of support for Children 

and Young People. 

 

Page 119



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   60  

 

9.  Theme 4. To be accountable and transparent. 

      Chapter 7 Future in Mind 

 

Kirklees Governance  

Accountability and transparency continue to be an essential part of our transformation 

journey. The Thriving Kirklees contract and our commissioning arrangements have 

ensured the oversight of budgets; performance activity, quality and improvement sit in one 

arrangement with oversight of the whole system.  

Our local system is scrutinised and monitored in a number of ways, this includes regular 

reporting to the Health and Wellbeing Board, oversight by the Kirklees Children’s 

Improvement Board and reporting and engagement into our integrated commissioning 

board. This set of arrangements includes a number of stakeholders including elected 

members, GP’s, Health watch, Voluntary sector representatives, parent representatives, 

school heads.  

Having challenge and representation from individuals and groups who experience our 

services on an individual and case by case basis, gives rich insight into service experience. 

This is enabling us to triangulate the contract monitoring information we receive from the 

provider with peoples lived experience of services.  

The below image shows the governance structures and interdependencies that are 

involved in our local system accountability and decision making.  

 

. 

 

 

Page 120



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   61  

 

The Integrated Commissioning Group reports into the Integrated Commissioning Board as 

outlined in the structure above and have oversight of all aspects of the Transformation 

Plan.   

The oversight of Thriving Kirklees and pooled budget arrangement is discharged through 

the Thriving Kirklees Partnership Board. This was implemented as part of the contract 

delivery process from 1st April 2017 and is made up of representatives from the Local 

Authority, Clinical Commissioning Groups and Education. This Board oversees budgets, 

quality, transformation and performance. It also provides a forum to be able to unblock and 

join up parts of our local system to ensure whole system change can support the Thriving 

Kirklees Contract.  

 

 

 

Mental Health Service Dataset and Transition CQUIN  

The CAMHS MHSDS is being completed fully by our local providers and the national 
information is being shared with all partners. We are currently undertaking a focused piece 
of work to ensure reporting in relation to the access standard is fully representative of our 
current service user group. The latest access data for July 2018 shows that in Greater 
Huddersfield CCG the access target is 32.8% 615 Children and Young People accessing 
treatment from a possible cohort of 4,797 Children and young people with a diagnosable 
mental health condition. For North Kirklees CCG the July 2018 data is showing the access 
target as 25.8%, with 465 children and young people accessing treatment from a possible 
cohort of 4,649 children and young people with a diagnosable mental health condition.  
 
We are undertaking the following actions to understand our current access figures and 
further increase access for children and young people: 
 

Page 121



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   62  

 

 Examine the difference in the access standard between Greater Huddersfield and 
North Kirklees CCG in relation to any population differences that may be affecting 
access e.g. high populations in North Kirklees of traditionally underrepresented 
groups in mental health services.  
 

 Undertake a review of data submission with support from NHS England to ensure 
submission process and quality is correct.  
 

 Examine Tier 2 current waiting lists to see if this may explain not fully meeting the 
access standard.  

 
 
The Transitions out of Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services CQUIN aims 
to incentivise improvements to the experience and outcomes for young people when they 
transition out of Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services (CYPMHS). 
Achievement of this CQUIN is measured by the results of the three components of this 
CQUIN: 
1.   A case note audit in order to assess the extent of Joint-Agency Transition Planning;  

2.   A survey of young people’s transition readiness ahead of the point of transition (Pre-

Transition / Discharge Readiness); and 

3.   A survey of whether young people are meeting their transition goals after transition 

(Post-Transition Goals Achievement). 

  
Locally a Trust-Wide Steering Group was established to implement the improvements 

required to transition. The following actions have been taken. 

 The Trust-Wide transition policy/principles were considered and an agreement to 

interpret and implement the overarching principles into local processes was made. 

 Local area Transition Groups were set up as appropriate. 

 Identified Transition Link/s have been identified across the teams. 

 Worked with Performance and Information Department to produce a monthly report 

which identifies all young people who are aged 17½ years of age in the service to 

inform mangers/clinicians to support the initiation of the transition process 

  Agreed and implemented the information strategy to support the Transition Plan. 

 Opportunities to raise awareness are used such as at manager 1:1’s (using P&I 

information), team meetings and briefings etc. 

  At 17.5yrs (or immediately if they enter the service after this age) the conversation 

starts with the young person and as appropriate with family and support network. 

 
 
 
 
 
        

Page 122



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   63  

 

9.1  What have we achieved so far in 2018 

As outlined in the 2017 Transformation Plan refresh, we had made significant progress in 

relation to our integrated commissioning arrangements.  The CAMHS local transformation 

plan has been a catalyst for the integration agenda,  new and innovative ways of integrated 

budgets, commissioning intentions and governance and oversight arrangements have 

given us a set of arrangements where between commissioning organisations we are doing 

things once through a single process. 

The Kirklees Healthy Child Programme arrangements through which our Thriving Kirklees 

CAMHS provision is now delivered are being used locally and nationally as an example of 

innovative new practice. This doesn’t confine itself to traditional organisational boundaries 

and is truly transformational in nature. 

The process and governance arrangements in relation to the Healthy Child Programme 

within Thriving Kirklees has ensured transparency of budgets across the system, clarity 

around where responsibility sits within commissioning systems, and performance and 

quality  data is widely shared and understood. 

What this has meant locally is that we have implemented the following: 

 The Lead Commissioner for the CAMHS Transformation Plan has the delegated 

responsibility for the Transformation Plan and ongoing monitoring, whole system 

CAMHS budget and associated contracts into a single arrangement. 

 On a monthly basis, arrangements are overseen and monitored by our local 

Integrated Commissioning Group which has whole system membership including 

Community Hubs and children’s social care. 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board is regularly discussing and overseeing the 

Transformation Plan development and monitored progress. 

 We have a single CAMHS pooled budget and a lead commissioner arrangement 

with Kirklees Council governed by a formal Section 75 pooled fund agreement 

under the NHS Act 2006. 

 We have a clear dataset within the Thriving Kirklees Healthy Child Programme and 

processes to ensure outcomes are clearly monitored and reported to the Integrated 

Commissioning Group including the CAMHS minimum data set, the national  

access standard and outcome data for children young people and families. 

 The CAMHS MHDS is being completed fully by our local providers and the national 

information is being shared with all partners  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   64  

 

9.2 What are our local challenges in relation to this theme? 

The main challenges we face in relation to this theme are: 

 Achieving the national access standard for children and young people mental health  

 Ensuring the Transition CQUIN is fully implemented and transition arrangements are 

clear and in place for all Children and Young People.  

 

9.3 What priorities will we begin to achieve over the next twelve months? 

We will: 

a. Continue to provide a single set of quality, performance and outcomes 

measures across the whole emotional health and wellbeing provision. This will 

report to relevant bodies including Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Board 4.11 

b. Undertake a focused review of the reporting of the Mental Health Service 

Dataset to ensure access target is achieved. 

9.4 What outcomes will this impact on? 

The above priorities will achieve the following: 

1. Improved transparency and accountability across the whole system, to drive further 

improvements in outcomes. 

2. Increased use of evidence-based treatments with services rigorously focused on 

outcomes. 

3. Children and young people having timely access to clinically effective mental health 

support when they need it. 

 

9.5  Theme 4- Measurement of Impact 

Through the Thriving Kirklees contract monitoring process a number of performance 

indicators will be provided to commissioners to help demonstrate impact against each of 

the above three theme outcomes: 

1 % of parents who feel they have experienced all of the following when interacting with  

Thriving Kirklees:                                                                                                                                                                                        

a. Developed a trusting relationship with (at least one) Thriving Kirklees worker 

b. Asked their opinion and felt listened to 

c. Set outcomes they wanted to achieve 

d. who feel they have been involved in the co-production of the support they have 

received   ……………by life course stage. 

 % of children and young people who feel they have experienced all of the following when 

interacting with Thriving Kirklees: 

a. Developed a trusting relationship with (at least one) Thriving Kirklees worker 

b. Asked their opinion and felt listened to 

c. Set outcomes they wanted to achieve 

Page 124



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   65  

 

 

 

d. who feel they have been involved in the co-production of the support they have 

received …………… by life course stage. 

 % of children, young people and families reporting that they receive appropriate, 

supportive and a timely response to their needs, by life course stage. 

2 % of children and young people who demonstrates improvement in their outcomes via the 

use of validated experience measuring tools, by life course stage. 

3 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report feeling they were supported in a timely and 

appropriate manner. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 125



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   66  

 

10 Theme 5. Developing the workforce. 

       Chapter 8 Future in Mind 

It is our aim that everyone who works with children, young people and their families is fully 

committed to ensuring every child and young person achieves goals that are meaningful 

and achievable for them. This means being excellent in their professional practice and able 

to deliver the best evidenced care, be committed to partnership and integrated working 

with children, young people, families and their fellow professionals, and be respected and 

valued as professionals themselves. 

Kirklees Integrated Workforce Strategy  

Through our recent Health and Wellbeing Strategy we have articulated our local vision for 

workforce development. We want to ensure our staff have the ability to work together 

across organisational and professional boundaries.  

Our focus will be on shared vision, values and behaviours across Kirklees. We will work 

together to identify what this looks like and shape this into a coherent programme of 

workforce induction and training. Integrated models of care will fundamentally require 

people to work differently from their prescribed roles, to make this a success requires: 

• Co-production of these models with staff who deliver support to people in Kirklees, 

empowering staff to act to deliver the best outcomes.  

• A programme of development to support staff and operational managers to work 

within the new integrated framework, challenge barriers to integrated working, and 

adopt an asset and strength-based approach to support planning. 

• A workforce strategy for Kirklees which identifies our vision, common values and 

behaviours that those supporting people with their health and care should exhibit, 

including delivery methods for doing this. This will build on our local vision for 

Kirklees developed as part of our West Yorkshire & Harrogate Health and Care 

Partnership Workforce Strategy (2018) and local initiatives we are already 

implementing. 

• Establishment of a Kirklees workforce group to oversee workforce developments in 

Kirklees and to take a single approach to, for example, engaging with Huddersfield 

University with regards to future training and workforce requirements. This will have 

strong links to the Kirklees Skills Strategy and action plan.  

• Build on testing of new roles in Kirklees like nurse associate, physicians associates 

and use of allied health professionals such as physiotherapists, pharmacists and 

OTs in primary care, working with our Local Workforce Action Board (LWAB) to 

support us to manage our workforce challenges.  

 

 

Page 126

https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/our-workforce-strategy
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/our-workforce-strategy
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/pdf/examination/local-evidence/CD21_The_Kirklees_Labour_Market_and_Skills_Strategy_2008_2020.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   67  

 

 

10.1   What have we achieved so far in 2018 

Alongside the developing workforce ambition articulated in the Kirklees Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy we have refocused our workforce ambition for emotional health and 

well to reflect the outcomes we have specified with the Thriving Kirklees Healthy Child 

Programme. The Programme scope covers a wide range of professionals and people 

including School Nurses, Health Victors, Teachers, Social Workers, Mental Health Nurses, 

Psychologists, Psychotherapists, Psychiatrists, Volunteers, GP’s, Early Help Staff, 

Children’s and Community Centres. 

We feel if the workforce development programme initially concentrates on this wide range 

of people and professionals this will facilitate the workforce changes we require to impact 

on children and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing in their day to day settings, 

as well as impacting on the quality and timeliness of the interventions they may require. 

We specified following parent and young person coproduction that the central philosophy 

of the service should be doing with not too. This reflects our local children services 

philosophy restorative practice across the workforce.   

 

Thrive Elaborated also embodies a central philosophy in our workforce development 

strategy.  That is to ensure that parents and professional working / living with children and 

young people have access to high quality professionalised consultation and support. 

We feel that ensuring staff and parents feel confident to care and support our children and 

young people by having rapid access to a consultation and advice mechanism will ensure 

the majority of children and young people’s needs can be met in a universal setting, rather 

than a specialist setting. 

 

 

Page 127



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   68  

 

Children and Young People Improving Access to Psychological Therapies. 

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health: One Year On report identifies the need for 

the expansion of services by 2020/21 to have a parallel increase in the number of skilled 

therapists and supervisors to meet the additional demand and is able to provide care and 

treatment for Children and Young People. The report also suggested that all services 

should be working within The Children and Young People’s Improving Access to 

Psychological Therapies programme (CYP IAPT) by 2018. 

The programme is a whole service transformation model delivered by NHS England in 

partnership with Health Education England which provides staff training to increase the use 

of evidence based interventions and use of routine outcome measures.  

Increased workforce engagement in IAPT is included in the Thriving Kirklees delivery 

model to help us build a confident, accessible and responsive workforce for young people 

with staff who share a common language as well as common approaches and strengthen 

the development and delivery of our local Transformation Plan priorities. 

A CYP IAPT steering group is in place with key partners across Calderdale and Kirklees as 

part of the Northwest CYP IAPT collaborative.  An implementation plan being developed to 

ensure a continued joined up approach. The Calderdale and Kirklees partnership has a 

nominated leadership representative who attends partnership meetings and a participation 

lead.  The CAMHS service is actively engaged in the programme and the General 

Manager from Barnsley CAMHS attends the regional Collaborative Board and collates 

partnership returns on behalf of the local services within the partnership. 

Staff from both our local CAMHS provisions have already participated in the programme 

with a manager from ChEWS and worker from Specialist CAMHS completing the IAPT 

leadership course and a Specialist CAMHS staff member having completed the Enhanced 

Evidence Based Practice course.  Both services continue to embed transformation, by 

routinely utilising outcome measures in the support provided. ChEWS is now also routinely 

using goal based outcomes since July 2018 alongside other assessment tools.  

As part of the programme implementation Specialist CAMHS has undertaken a 

participation audit to ensure that children, young people and their families are engaged and 

involved in all aspects of the design and delivery of services including staff training, 

recruitment, staff appraisals, session monitoring and complaints and advocacy.  The 

service has appointed a participation worker to ensure effective engagement with service 

users and their families. 

Kirklees continues to look towards developing and increasing local participation in IAPT 

programmes.  The regional collaborative submitted an area wide application for Phase 8 

training courses which commence in January 2019. 

 

Page 128

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/fyfv-mh-one-year-on.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   69  

 

Postgraduate Diploma - Evidence Based 

Psychological Therapies for Children and Young 

People: 

Cognitive Behaviour Therapy 

Northorpe Hall Child and 

Family Trust. 

3 workers due to complete 

course December 2018 

Postgraduate Certificate - Evidence Based 

Psychological Therapies for Children and Young 

People: 

Interpersonal Therapy for Adolescents with 

Depression 

Specialist CAMHS Kirklees 

1 Clinician due to complete 

course in December 2018 

1 Crisis clinician applied for 

this course for 2019, 

awaiting outcome of 

application 

Enhanced Evidence Based Practice 

Programme for Children and Young People 

Northorpe Hall Child and 

Family Trust 

2 Workers part way through 

the programme and funding 

agreed for another worker 

to apply and start in 2019 

2 Specialist CAMHS 

clinicians ton EEBP course 

during 2018o apply in 2018 

Learning Disability/Autistic Spectrum Disorders 

Northorpe Hall Child and 

Family Trust 

1 worker has submitted an 

application and we are 

awaiting the outcome 

1 Specialist clinician 

applying for this course for 

2019 

 

Children and Young People’s Well-Being 

Practitioners. 

Northorpe Hall Child and 

Family Trust 

Page 129



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   70  

 

1 PWP is in post, employed 

by specialist CAMHS and 

placed at Northorpe Hall.  

Applicant interviews are being held during October and November 2018 so until then we 

cannot confirm any new course allocations.  Participation in the programme has been 

restricted by oversubscription of applicants against the availability of courses being offered 

nationally.  This restriction combined with uncertain budgetary commitments will impact on 

our local priority intention to enable participation in the programme for CAMHS staff and 

more especially for staff from other agencies. 

Staff retention, recruitment and continued funding in the CYP IAPT training programmes 

have been identified as risks in Appendix C. 

Thriving Kirklees Workforce development 

The Progress and challenges in the transformation of children and young people's mental 

health care report highlights the national shortage of mental health professionals and 

training needs that exist and their key findings in one survey included: 

 83 per cent of trusts experienced recruitment difficulties and had to advertise posts 
on multiple occasions to fill roles. 

 Mental health nurses were the most difficult profession to recruit, followed by 
consultant psychiatrists. 

 Recruitment challenges had led to an 82 per cent increase in expenditure on 
temporary staffing in the last two years. 

According to the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, between 2013/14 and 

2014/15, referral rates for CAMHS services increased five times faster than the CAMHS 

workforce. 

These findings are recognised as a key challenge and included as a risk in Appendix C, for 

the ongoing implementation of our transformation plan to close the treatment gap and 

ensure our children and young people can get the support they need. 

The Thriving Kirklees workforce strategy has now been produced and clearly articulated 

and implementation is underway. This vision and the 6 foundation of the strategy are 

outlined below and the full workforce development plan is outlined in appendix H 

The overall aims are: 

 To build an effective workforce, ensuring the right person with the right skill mix and 

knowledge provides timely interventions. 

 Focus on prevention and early intervention to reduce demand on specialist services, 

supporting partner organisations (such as Community Hubs to recognise and 

effectively respond earlier to children’s emotional health and wellbeing needs. 

 To support parents and carers to empower them to meet children’s mental and 

Page 130

https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/progress-and-challenges.pdf
https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/progress-and-challenges.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   71  

 

emotional health themselves (help them to help themselves). 

 Engage with Thriving Kirklees colleagues across the system in pathway design, 

defining the services and teams that will provide care for the children, young people 

and families in each of the THRIVE domains. 

 To work collaboratively with families, young people, schools other education 

organisations, voluntary and community organisations, public sector services, 

commissioners and decision makers to develop a child and family centred service. 

A Thriving Kirklees workforce development group has been established.  Meeting every six 

weeks the group shares responsibility for continuing workforce developments for 2018/19  

 

 

Training and support for the community 

Supporting school staff, parents and other providers to deliver interventions at a universal 

level to increase resilience in children and young people and families is incorporated into 

Thriving Kirklees, who have appointed a learning and development lead to ascertain the 

training and development requirements across the partnership. 

The Kirklees Learning and Skills Service commissioned limited “co-production in Mental 

Health” training for a broad range of partners working in Community Hubs. This has 

included the show casing of one of the community hub areas to other hubs regarding their 

management of emotional health and wellbeing within school.   

Work is currently underway by CAMHS provision working with schools identified as having 

higher than average referrals into emotional health and wellbeing services to increase the 

knowledge and skills of school staff regarding emotional health and wellbeing to ensure 

needs are met early and preventative methods offered. 

Page 131



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   72  

 

Northorpe Hall Child and Family Trust deliver training and information support sessions in 

schools to school staff, parents and carers on a range of topics including self-harm, 

transition, risk and resilience, anxiety, sleep information, self-esteem and managing 

emotions. Ongoing developments include. 

a. The establishment of the emotional wellbeing lead network meeting where identified 

leads were able to share best practice, resources, have training opportunities and to 

identify support needs and ways of working moving forward.  

b. The Yorkshire Children’s Centre are working with South West Yorkshire Partnership 

Foundation Trust to explore the option of providing emotional health and wellbeing 

learning and information to Year 5 pupils through the Safety Rangers scheme. 

c. Training available within the Core offer to schools, developed in consultation with 

schools and CAMHS, includes –  

 Introduction to Children and Young Persons Mental Health  

 Understanding Behaviour as Communication  

 Understanding Attachment Theory  

 Introduction to Self-Harm  

 Understanding and Supporting Anxiety  

 The Teenage Brain  

 Maintaining Positive Emotional Well being 

 Mental Health Services/Pathways in Kirklees  

 Making Appropriate Referrals  

 Resource Sharing  

 

Recently there has been agreement for 2 leads to be sent on the mental health first aid 

training for trainer’s course, one from Locala, one from Northorpe Hall. Training will then be 

widely disseminated across partners in Thriving Kirklees and wider stakeholders. Over the 

exam period Northorpe Hall piloted parent and young people sessions around 

understanding exam anxiety and coping strategies to support this. Northorpe Hall have 

planned and will be introducing further sessions for parents and carers in the following 

quarter to support their understanding of emotional and mental health concerns for children 

and young people.  There will be a new programme of workshops to be delivered from 

January 2019 for children and young people around mental robustness through mood 

master programmes – a CBT based group programme.  

Page 132



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   73  

 

A STOP parent training programme to support parents and carers of young people, 

presenting with anti-social behaviours, has been delivered by the Specialist CAMHS 

provision.  The programme involves 10 sessions to raise awareness about parenting and 

teach parents and carers the techniques.  The programme includes group discussion, 

feedback, videos, role play and homework, to help parents find ways to improve their 

parenting or sustain their own parenting methods. 

Specialist CAMHS have delivered a Dialectical Behaviour Therapy skills training group 

sessions to adolescents and parents.  The training involved a number of selected middle to 

late teen adolescent service users and their parent or carer. Similar groups are being 

developed for future delivery. Specialist CAMHS LD team are currently running CBT 

workshops in our SEN provisions alongside staff from the schools 

A draft solution focused practice pathway for Locala 0-19 practitioners has been developed 

from the NSPCC solution focused practice toolkit https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-

resources/2015/solution-focused-practice-toolkit/  The aim of this is to help young people to 

help themselves and increase resilience by using a strengths based approach, for children 

and young people who are identified as needing support with a mild to moderate emotional 

health issue. Two day training for 24 delegates has been arranged in December 2018 by a 

solution focused practice practitioner. This training will be delivered to Locala 0-19, 

Northorpe Hall and CAMHS practitioners. Following the training the pathway will be tested 

and refined before rolling out to the Locala 0-19 workforce. The intention is that this will be 

developed as the standard first level intervention for emotional health issues in the Locala 

0-19 service (getting advice/ getting help).   

10.2 What are our local challenges in relation to this theme? 

Developing the workforce and creating skill mix teams and new consultation models 

presents a number of new opportunities, but also challenges, these include: 

 Creating consensus and buy in to multi-skilled skill mix teams where in the past 

there might have been a named traditional professional role, for example School 

Nurse or Health Visitor. 

 Ensuring that non-traditional “CAMHS provision” have the capacity and the passion 

to see their roles as central to improving emotional health and wellbeing even 

though this may not be the primary focus of their job for example teachers. 

 Staff and parents feeling that having an intense consultation approach is as valuable 

as one to one interventions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133

https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/2015/solution-focused-practice-toolkit/
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/2015/solution-focused-practice-toolkit/


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   74  

 

 

10.5 Theme 5 - Measurement of Impact 

Through the Thriving Kirklees contract monitoring process a number of performance 

indicators will be provided to commissioners to help demonstrate impact against 

each of the above four theme outcomes: 

1 % of children and young people who demonstrates improvement in their outcomes via 

the use of validated experience measuring tools, by life course stage. 

2 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce who feel they have the confidence, skills and 

knowledge to be able to promote good emotional wellbeing to children, young people 

and their families and be able to identify and support low level mental health problems 

should they arise (for example, in schools). 

 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce who feel that Thriving Kirklees plays a clear and 

10.3 What priorities will we begin to achieve over the next twelve months? 

We will: 

 

 Ensure CAMHS providers are fully participating in Children and Young People 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) programme core 

curriculum in 2018/19.  LPS 25 (5.1) 

 In line with the new Health and Wellbeing Workforce Strategy develop a 

comprehensive workforce strategy for CAMHS across Kirklees.  The strategy will 

inform and direct how workforce development will be supported and implemented 

across all providers involved in the delivery of a tier less service.  LPS 28 (5.4) 

changed  

 To support school based staff, parents, carers and other providers to deliver 

interventions at a universal level to increase resilience in children and young people 

and families.  LPS 5.6 

 

 

10.4 What outcomes will this impact on? 

The above priorities will achieve the following: 

 Increased use of evidence-based treatments with services rigorously focused on 

outcomes that bring about change. 

 Professionals who work with children and young people are trained in child 

development and mental health, and understand what can be done to provide help 

and support for those who need it. 

 Children and young people having timely access to clinically effective mental health 

support when they need it. 

 Making mental health support more visible and easily accessible for children and 

young people. 

Page 134



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   75  

 

integral role within larger evidence based multi-agency pathway of support for Children 

and Young People. 

 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce able to demonstrate awareness of and understand of 

the importance of the parent-infant relationship. 

 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce who report they have the appropriate knowledge, 

skills and expertise to carry out their role. 

 % of Thriving Kirklees workforce that report they feel that knowledge, skills and 

expertise are shared and disseminated appropriately throughout the workforce and 

with those that interact with it. 

3 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report feeling they were supported in a timely and 

appropriate manner. 

 % of crisis referrals to the specialist element of Thriving Kirklees who are assessed 

within 4 hours, by identified issue. 

 % of children and young people seen by the specialist element of Thriving Kirklees 

within mandated waiting time targets. 

 Average waiting time for specialist support from identification of issue to treatment, by 

identified issue. 

 Average waiting time for children and young people who received an Autistic Spectrum 

Condition (ASC) diagnostic assessment. 

4 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report they have appropriate access to resources, 

information and materials to support them with their identified issue. 

 % of children, young people or families using Self-Help resources for support to be 

able to help themselves without needing specialist support. 

 % of children, young people and families who access support via approaches based 

on use of technology and assistive technology. 

 % of Thriving Kirklees users who report feeling they were supported in a timely and 

appropriate manner. 

 % of children, young people and families reporting that they receive appropriate, 

supportive and a timely response to their needs, by life course stage. 

Page 135



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   76  

 

2018 – 2019 Priority descriptions, reporting  processes and progress Year 1 or year 2 
Priority 

LPS 3 
(1.3) 

Implement the Mental Health Support Teams 
Trailblazer and 4 week waiting time Pilot in 
collaboration with Schools 

Themes 1 and 2  

Transformation Plan Refresh  18/19  

Priority also inter-relates with:  LPS 1 (1.1) and 5 (2.1) 

R new priority 
dependant on bid  

LPS 5 
(2.1) 

Transforming CAMHS provisions, to provide a “tier 
free” service model based on the “Thrive 
Elaborated” approaches. 

Themes 1 and 2.   

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala and commissioners. 

Priority also inter-relates with:  LPS 1 (1.1) and 3 (1.3) 

A 

Year 1 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

March 2020 

LPS 2 
(1.2)  

 

LPS 8  
(2.4)  

 

LPS 9  
(2.5) 

Implement clear joint working arrangements 
between schools and emotional health and 
wellbeing provision. The provision will be based on 
the Social, Emotional and Mental Health Difficulties 
(SEMHD) Continuum work. This will include:  

 A CAMHS school link model supporting schools, 
primary care and other universal provisions. 

 Implement a joint training programme to 
support the link roles within primary care, 
schools, CAMHS provisions and to support 
joined up working across services. 

Themes 1, 2 and 5 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, Northorpe Hall, SWYFT, Community 
Hubs and Commissioners. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 2 (1.2), 6 (2.2), 8 (2.4), 9 (2.5) and 27 (5.3) 

Year 1 priority 

Short term 
Achievement  
March 2017 

Long term 
achievement by 

2020 

LPS 6 
(2.2) 

To consider the required resources and  implement 
the required system change in order to reduce Tier 2 
waiting times and further reduce Autism Assessment 
waiting times  LPS 6 (2.2)  

Themes 1 and 2 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, ChEWS, SWYFT, Voluntary Community 
Sector, Autism Spectrum Disorders and Pupil Premium Plus.    Thriving Kirklees 
Performance Measure 76. Reworded in 2018  

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 2 (1.2) and 11 (2.7)  

Year 1 priority 

Short term 
achievement by 
October 2019 

2018 Kirklees Transformation Plan Refreshed Priorities                                                                                   Appendix A 

P
age 136



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   77  

 

LPS 13  
(3.1)  

 

 

LPS 14  
(3.2) 

Continue to provide a CAMHS link and consultation 
model flexible multiagency team within the range of 
provision to address the emotional health and 
wellbeing needs for the most vulnerable children 
including looked after children, children in the youth 
offending team, children experiencing CSE, care 
leavers and children on child protection plans across 
Kirklees. 

Theme 3 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, SWYFT and Northorpe Hall. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 17 (3.5) 

Year 1 priority 

Progressive 
changes from 
March 2017 

LPS 4  
(1.4) 

We will collaboratively co-produce with young 
people peer education programmes for children and 
young people that promote resilience, and assist 
with early identification of emotional health and 
wellbeing issues. 

Theme 1 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Progress updates provided by Home-Start, Northorpe Hall and 
Commissioners. 

Year 1 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

March 2020 

1.5 

Implement the  an early support offer in conjunction 
with children’s social care ,ensuring Thriving Kirklees 
fits in the proposed model to help deliver a common 
set of outcomes improving emotional health and 
wellbeing LPS1.5 

Theme 1 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala., priority reworded 2018  

Year 2 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

2019 

1.6 

 

1.7 

The nurturing parent programme will be delivered 
throughout early help services, children’s centres 
and voluntary sector provision, to improve maternal 
bonding and attachment, having an increased focus 
on supporting and improving perinatal mental health 
provision. 

Theme 1 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, SWYFT, Community Hubs and Early 
Intervention and Prevention. 

Year 2 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

2020 

1.8 

Implement a comprehensive training programme to 
develop children and young people’s resilience, and 
raise their awareness of emotional health and 
wellbeing issues. This will include Kooth and 
Mindmate  

Theme 1 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, ChEWS and Commissioners 

Year 2 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

2020 

P
age 137



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   78  

 

1.9 

 

1.10 

Continue to develop a range of innovative social 
media based interventions to provide support to 
children and young people, helping to build 
resilience and improve health and wellbeing. This 
will include Kooth and Mindmate 

Theme 1 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, ChEWS, Community Hubs and 
Commissioners. Updated wording 2018. 

Year 2 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

2020 

LPS 12  
(2.8)  

 

LPS 29  
(2.9) 

To explore All Age Psychiatric Liaison Models across 
Kirklees   LPS 12 (2.8) and LPS 29 (2.9)  

 

Theme 2 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Reworded 2018  

Progress updates provided by Commissioners, Locala and ChEWS. 

Year 1 priority 

Short term 
achievement by 
May 2019 and 
March 2020. 

2.10 

 

3.7 

Further strengthen the assertive outreach Intensive 
Home Treatment model in partnership with West 
Yorkshire New Care Models.  Preventing admission 
to Tier 4, assisting transition back to a community 
setting and developing safe spaces in Kirklees     

 

Themes 2 and 3 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority 

Reworded 2018  

Progress updates provided by Lead Commissioners. 

Year 2 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

2020 

LPS 30 

To increase access to prevention and treatment 
services for underrepresented groups particularly 
LGBT Children and Young People  

 

Themes 2 and 4 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 new priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, SWYFT and Commissioners. 

Priority for 
2018/19  

LPS 31 
Ensure that Parents and Carers are co-producing 
service developments with Thriving Kirklees 
including SPA and the ASC services 

Themes 2 and 1 Transformation Plan 2018/19 new priority  
Priority for 

2018/19  

LPS 32 

Ensure that commissioning for the most vulnerable 
involves supporting those CYP who are transitioning 
out of Secure Children Homes/YOIs back into the 
community, those CYP attending Child Sexual Assault 
Assessment Services (CSAAS) and those CYP 

Theme 3 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 new priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, SWYFT and Commissioners 

Priority for 18/19 

P
age 138



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   79  

 

attending Liaison and Diversion provision. 

LPS 33 

Ensure Forensic CAMHS, Family Group Conferencing, 
Multisystem Therapy and the Family Mental Health 
Team provision is integrated within our local 
treatment system new priority   

Theme 3  

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 new priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, SWYFT and Commissioners 

Priority for 18/19  

LPS 25  
(5.1) 

Ensure CAMHS providers are fully participating in 
CYP IAPT core curriculum in 2016/17. 

Theme 5 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority and risk reporting 

Progress updates provided by Locala and SWYFT. 

Priority inter-relates with 26 (5.2), 22 (4.5) and 23 (4.6) 

Year 1 priority 

Short term 
achievement by 
September 2017 

LPS 28 
(5.4) 

In line with the new Health and Wellbeing 
Workforce Strategy develop a comprehensive 
workforce strategy for CAMHS across Kirklees.  The 
strategy will inform and direct how workforce 
development will be supported and implemented 
across all providers involved in the delivery of a tier 
less service.  LPS 28 (5.4)   

 

Theme 5 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority reworded  

Progress updates provided by Locala. 

This priority support activities looking to expand, develop and improve delivery 
including responding to several Local Priorities including: 2 (1.2), 3 (1.3), 1.8, 
1.9, 1.10, 6 (2.2), 8 (2.4), 9 (2.5), 27 (5.3) and 28 (5.4) 

Year 1 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

March 2020 

5.6 

To support school based staff, parents and other 
providers to deliver interventions at a universal level 
to increase resilience in children and young people 
and families.  

Theme 5 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala and Workforce Development Manager, 
Community Hubs and Commissioners. 

Long term priority 
achievement by 

2020 

P
age 139



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   80  

 

2.15 

Implement the recommendations from the Lenahan 
review, “building the right support” and the recent 
NHS England Guidance “Developing support and 
services for children and young people with a 
learning disability, autism or both.” 

Theme 2 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by chair of Children and Young People TCP 
Workstream. Head of Children’s Joint Commissioning  

 2018/19 priority 

3.10 

Jointly implement the Kirklees Council Sufficiency 
Strategy for Looked after Children and ensure they 
Looked after Children CAMHS provision meets 
locally identified needs 

Theme 3 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 priority reworded 

Progress updates provided by  Head of Children’s Joint Commissioning 

 2018/19priority 

LPS 34 

Undertake a focused review of the reporting of the 
Mental Health Service Dataset to ensure access 
target is increased. New Priority 

 

Theme 4 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2018/19 new priority 

Progress updates provided by Head of Children’s Joint Commissioning 

20/19 Priority  

4.11 

Continue to provide single set of quality, 
performance and outcomes data across the whole 
emotional health and wellbeing provision.  This will 
report to relevant bodies including our local Health 
and Wellbeing Board. 

Theme 4 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Head of Children’s Joint Commissioning 

 2018/19 priority 

Archived local transformation priorities  

LPS 1 
(1.1) 

Redesign and implement a school nursing service 
that is more focused on emotional health and 
wellbeing, and provides an early intervention 
function across all educational settings. 

Theme 1 

Priority completed following commencement of Thriving Kirklees on 1st April 
2017.  Delivery and contract monitoring plan is in place to transform 0-19 
years services over the length of the 5 year contact. 

Relevant updates provided by Locala and ChEWS 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 3 (1.3) and 5 (2.1) 

G 

Years 1 and  2 
priority 

 

Initial early 
achievement by 

April 2017 

1.11 
Develop a training and support component regarding 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing for School 
Governors to be part of their ongoing training. 

Theme 1 

Commissioners have limited ability to direct school governor attendance on 
training.  

R 

Year 2 priority 

Long term 

P
age 140



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   81  

 

This is not within the delivery specifications for actual delivery but to support 
delivery of interventions by Thriving Kirklees and Community Hubs   

Relevant updates provided by Community Hubs. 

achievement by 
2020 

LPS 7  
(2.3) 

Provide a comprehensive eating disorder service 
across Kirklees, Calderdale, Wakefield and Barnsley in 
line with best practice and guidance issued.  

Theme 2 

The Regional Commissioning Group co-produced a service model providing a 
service for 2016/17 with the contract with existing CAMHS provision being 
extended by 2 years to enable continuance and for a competitive tender 
process to take place. 
Relevant updates provided by SWYFT. 

G 

 

Year 1 priority 

In place by April 
2017 

2.11 

 

Develop our local Tier 4 markets collaboratively with 
NHS England supporting the development of LD/ 
CAMHS inpatient provision. 

Theme 2 

The local markets in Kirklees still require further development to provide in-
patient provision.  NHS England is undertaking a procurement exercise to 
increase capacity.  Is it yet to be seen if process will translate to any provision 
in the Kirklees area. 

Relevant updates provided by Lead Commissioners. 

G 

Year 2 priority 

2.13 
Establish a CAMHS link role to support Learning 
Disability, SEND and assessment for the EHC planning 
process. 

Theme 2 

Embedded into Thriving Kirklees from April 2017.  The learning disability 
nursing services have been incorporated into the mainstream CAMHS service 
from the end of June 2017. 

Relevant updates provided by Locala and SWYFT. 

G 

Year 2 priority 

LPS 
16  
(3.4) 

To provide cohesive CAMHS provision on a regional 
basis for LAC who are placed within the 10 CC (West 
Yorkshire Clinical Commissioning Groups, 
Commissioning Collaborative) footprints. 

Theme 3 

This recommendation has not been adopted by 10cc as a regional footprint.  
Without this endorsement Kirklees has removed it as a delivery option from 
its original Transformation Plan priorities, until national redirection is 
provided.  The proposed budget spend was re-profiled to support increased 
front line capacity for priority 2.2. 

Relevant as necessary by commissioners and relevant links. 

G 

Year 1 priority 

LPS 
17  
(3.5) 

To work with Kirklees Safeguarding Child Board to 
undertake a “deep dive” into the way in which 
vulnerable children and young people experience the 

Theme 3 

Independent report subject to Safeguarding Action Plan to evidence oversight 
and appropriate responses to recommendations within CAMHS provisions of 

G 

Year 1 priority P
age 141



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   82  

 

CAMHS system, and use the learning to inform the 
development of our discrete provision for vulnerable 
children. 

Thriving Kirklees, from April 2017. 

Relevant updates provided by Local, ChEWS and SWYFT. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 13 (3.1) 

3.6 
Include Specialist CAMHS provision in local MASH 
(Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs) arrangement, 
alongside adult mental health service provision. 

Theme 3 

Incorporated into Thriving Kirklees from April 2017. Thriving Kirklees health 
practitioner’s part of the MASH team.  Safeguarding supervision has been 
established in Locala, with a recruitment model for new supervisors in place 
across all Thriving Kirklees teams. 

Relevant updates provided by Locala. 

G 

 

Year 2 priority 

3.8 
Provide CAMHS support to the new Drug and Family 
Court model in Kirklees. 

Theme 3 

We have been supporting the Family and Alcohol Court by using a discrete 
resource and this has been mainstreamed into Thriving Kirklees delivery from 
April 2017. 

Relevant updates provided by Locala and SWYFT 

G 

 

Year 2 priority 

3.9 
Ensure that local provision is available for those 
children and young people requiring forensic CAMHS 
provision. 

Theme 3 

Included Thriving Kirklees specification top provide initial forensic assessment, 
more complex forensic assessment are spot purchased as required. 

Relevant updates provided by Commissioners. 

G 

Year 2 priority 

LPS 
18  
(4.1) 

Implement the lead commissioning arrangement for 
all CAMHS provision covered within the 
Transformation Plan, discharged through the Joint 
Commissioning Manager jointly funded by North 
Kirklees, Greater Huddersfield CCG’s and Kirklees 
Council. 

Theme 4 

Lead commissioning arrangements established which will also ensure 
continuing robust monitoring and scrutiny to 2020. 
Relevant updates as necessary by Commissioners and relevant links. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 19 (4.2), 20 (4.3) and 21 (4.4) 

 

G 

 

Year 1 priority 

LPS 
19  
(4.2) 

Use the Transformation Plan as the basis for our 
commissioning priorities over the next 5 years. 

Theme 4 

Continuing monitoring and scrutiny by the CAMHS lead commissioner, CCGs 
and Integrated Commissioning Group and Children’s Trust Board to ensure 
robust and appropriate responses by 2020. 
Relevant updates as necessary by commissioners and relevant links. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 18 (4.1), 20 (4.3) and 21 (4.4) 

G 

Year 1 

P
age 142



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   83  

 

LPS 
20  
(4.3) 

Embed the responsibility for overseeing the 
commissioning intentions within the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards work plan and oversight function. 

Theme 4 

Integrated processes in place which will ensure continuing long term 
transformation monitoring and scrutiny of this priority. 
Relevant updates as necessary by commissioners and relevant links. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 18 (4.1), 19 (4.2) and 21 (4.4) 

G 

 

Year 1 priority 

LPS 
21  
(4.4) 

Ensure the Integrated Commissioning Group is 
overseeing the implementation of the Future in Mind 
detailed operational commissioning plan.  Ensuring 
that commissioned services are evidence based and 
that NICE guidelines are implemented throughout 
the service provision.  

Theme 4 

Implementation of plan completed. Continuing monitoring and scrutiny by the 
CAMHS lead commissioner, CCGs and Integrated Commissioning Group and 
Children’s Trust Board to ensure robust and appropriate responses by 2020. 

Relevant updates as necessary by Commissioners and relevant links. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 18 (4.1), 19 (4.2) and 21 (4.4) 

 

G 

Year 1 priority 

LPS 
22  
(4.5) 

Ensure the Integrated Commissioning Group closely 
monitor the CAMHS minimum dataset and waiting 
time standards, whilst developing a rigorous 
outcome based dataset to monitor and improve 
performance across the systems.   

Theme 4 

Outcome based dataset has been incorporated into the performance 
monitoring of Incorporated into Thriving Kirklees CAMHS element from April 
2017 including participation in CYP IAPT.  Key performance indicators have 
been agreed and the partnership in place.  Initial data flow and reporting lines 
have been established.  Assurance work continues around information sharing 
between CAMHS and Locala. 

Relevant updates provided by Locala Data Team and SWYFT. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 23 (4.6) 

G 

 

Year 1 priority 

Achievement by 
April 2017 

LPS 
23  
(4.6) 

Implement clear and transparent outcome 
monitoring supported by membership of CORC, 
(CAMHS Outcomes Research Consortium) and the 
implementation of session by session outcome 
monitoring across CAMHS provision.  

Theme 4 

Incorporated into Thriving Kirklees from April 2017.  Existing CAMHS services 
will provide quarterly outcome monitoring reports to agreed timescales. 

Relevant updates provided by Locala Data Team and SWYFT. 
Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 22 (4.5) 

G 

Year 1 priority 

achievement by 
April 2017 

LPS 
24 
(4.7) 

Receive quarterly service feedback from children, 
young people and families in all performance 
reporting to the Integrated Commissioning Group. 
LPS 24   

Theme 4 

Incorporated into Thriving Kirklees from April 2017.  Existing CAMHS services 
will provide quarterly outcome monitoring reports 

Relevant updates provided by Locala Data Team. 

G 

Year 1 priority 

Achievement by 
April 2017 P

age 143



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   84  

 

4.8 

Have a single pooled budget for CAMHS provision 
across Kirklees, and to publish the investment figures 
on local offer website along with referral rates and 
waiting times. 

Theme 4 

Section 75 funding arrangements have been formally agreed and incorporated 
into Thriving Kirklees from April 2017. 

Relevant updates as necessary by commissioners and relevant links. 

G - A 

 

Year 2 priority 

4.10 

Be committed to continuous improvement and 
monitoring of all of our emotional health and 
wellbeing provision,  using the commissioning cycle 
to understand, plan, do and review. 

Theme 4 

Continuing monitoring and scrutiny by the CAMHS lead commissioner, CCGs 
and Integrated Commissioning Group and Children’s Trust Board to ensure 
robust and appropriate responses by 2020. 

Arrangement made for completion of annual refreshed plan which 
incorporates feedback from the North of England Commissioning Support Unit 
and Key Lines Of Enquiry guidance. 
Relevant updates as necessary by commissioners and relevant links. 

G 

 

Year 2 priority 

LPS 
26  
(5.2) 

Ensure that Tier 2 and Tier 3 CAMHS provider 
managers are involved in the introduction to CYP 
IAPT in 2015/16. 

Theme 5 

All provider managers have been trained.  Incorporated into specification of 
Thriving Kirklees CAMHS for continuing participation.  Response cross refers 
with LPS 25 (5.1)  
Relevant updates as necessary by commissioners and relevant links. 

G 

Year 1 priority 

5.5 
Ensure that health and social care staff receive 
appropriate training in order for them to deliver the 
appropriate evidence based interventions. 

Theme 5 

Incorporated into Thriving Kirklees from April 2017. 

Learning and development lead has been appointed within Thriving Kirklees 
to ascertain the training and development requirements across the 
partnership and develop a deliverable workforce strategy. 

Relevant updates provided by Locala. 

G 

Year 2 priority 

 
We will have emotional health and wellbeing 
provisions that are collaboratively commissioned 
with educational settings 

Themes 1 and 2.   

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, Schools as community hubs and 
commissioners. 

Priority also inter-relates with:  LPS 1 (1.1) and 5 (2.1) 

Year 1 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

2020 P
age 144



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   85  

 

LPS 
27 

Ensure that where required staff can access 
appropriate training and continuing development 
opportunities to enable them to deliver relevant 
evidence based interventions.  Access to appropriate 
training should be made available for those who 
need help to support children and young people. 

Themes 1, 2 and 5 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala and Northorpe Hall and any associated 
schools as community Hub activities. 

Priority inter-relates with:  LPS 2 (1.2), 6 (2.2), 8 (2.4) and 9 (2.5) 

 

 
Ensure rapid access to CAMHS interventions for 
those children who are part of the Stronger Families 
programme.  

Theme 3 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, SWYFT and Commissioners 

Year 1 priority 

Short term 
achievement by 

April 2017 

2.14 
Deliver an integrated team for children with learning 
disabilities between specialist CAMHS and Kirklees 
Council Children with a Disability Team. 

Theme 2 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala and SWYFT. 

Year 2 priority 

Long term 
achievement by 

2020 

1.12 

To ensure our 0-19 practitioners and peer supporters 
are intervening earlier around emotional health and 
wellbeing. 

Theme 1 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Commissioners and Locala. 

 

5.7 

To support Workforce development programmes 
that assist in young people’s transition into 
adulthood before they reach 18 years old targeted at 
post 16 support services, further education and 
outside of school provisions. 

Theme 5 

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala and Commissioners. 

Long term priority 
achievement by 

2020 

LPS 
10 
(2.6)  

 

LPS  
11  
(2.7) 

Deliver a 24/7 Single Point of Contact model, one 
stop shop approach for advice, support, signposting, 
consultation and assessment and co-ordination of 
Thriving Kirklees provision delivery. 

Themes 1 and 2.  

Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18 priority 

Progress updates provided by Locala, SPoC and ASK CAMHS. 

Priority also inter-relates with:  LPS 1 (1.1), 2 (1.2) and 6 (2.2) 

G 

Year 1 priority  

Short term 
achievement by 
October 2017 

P
age 145



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   86  

 

Appendix B – Baseline Data Tables.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Activity Tables

Name of Area:

No. Refs. 

15/16

No. Refs. 

16/17

No. Refs. 

17/18

No. Accepted 

Into Services 

15/16

No. Accepted 

Into Services 

16/17

No. Accepted 

Into Services 

17/18

Active Cases 

31/3/16

Active Cases 

31/3/17

Active Cases 

31/3/18

No of 

referrals 

2015/16

No of 

referrals

2016/17

No of 

referrals

2017/18

No. Accepted 

Into Services 

15/16

No. Accepted 

Into Services 

16/17

No. Accepted 

Into Services 

17/18

Active Cases 

31/3/16

Active Cases 

31/3/17

Active 

Cases 

31/3/18

School Based Services

* School Nursing 8,432 NK NK 2,130 NK NK 1,520 NK NK
Learning SEMHD Provision NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

CAMHS Schools link pilot NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 Sub-Total 8,432 0 2,130 0 1,520 0

LA Based Services

* Services targeted at other 

vulnerable children - YOT 179 * 37 * * 11 * * Health Visitors/FNP NK NK NK NK NK NK NK NK NK

Services targeted at other 

vulnerable children - LAC NK NK NK NK NK NK NK NA NK

* Services targeted at other 

vulnerable children - PRS 219 * * 151 * * 134 * *
Sub-Total 398 0 188 0 145 0 0 Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Third Sector Based Services

ChEWS CAMHS Service - area 

based (used to be referred 

to as Tier 2 services 2,297 3,175 3,563 1,711 1,942 1,697 192 290 295

Sub-Total 2,297 3,175 3,563 1,711 1,942 1,697 192 290 295 Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0

NHS Based Services

NHS Provider CAMHS 1,862 1,042 1451 537 932 1380 776 632 802

Looked after Children 

Nursing Team NK 978 NK 978 NK na

Sub-Total 1,862 1,042 1,451 537 932 1,380 776 632 802 Sub-Total 0 978 0 978 0 0

Total 4,557 4,217 2,436 2,874 3,077 1,113 922 Total 8,432 978 2,130 978 1,520 0

* Awaiting data confirmation from services - to be updated in final published  version

School Based Services

LA Based Services

Third Sector Based Services

NHS Based Services

Kirklees

If you are unable to provide information please define whether it is Not Known by entering 'NK', or Not Applicable by entering 'NA' in the appropriate cell.

CORE SERVICES ALLIED SERVICES

P
age 146



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   87  

 

Workforce Tables 
                     

                      Name of Area: Kirklees  

                  If you are unable to provide information please define whether it is Not Known by entering 'NK', or Not Applicable by entering 'NA' in the appropriate cell. 

                

      CORE SERVICES   ALLIED SERVICES 

              

  

Number of Practitioner/Clinical 
Staff in Post June 16 

Number of 
Practitioner/Clinica
l Staff in Post June 
17 

Number of 
Practitioner/Clinica
l Staff in Post June 
18 

  

Number of 
Practitioner/Clinical 
Staff in Post June 
16 

Number of 
Practitioner/Clinical 
Staff in Post June 17 

Number of 
Practitioner/Clinical 
Staff in Post June 18 

              

School Based Services 
[Use/insert as many rows as 
necessary] 

    
School Based Services [Use/insert as many rows as necessary] 

  

                
 

    School Nursing 31.20 31.20 31.20 
                      Learning SEMHD Provision 60% of EP time 60% of EP time 60% of EP time 
                      CAMHS Schools link pilot 0.60 0.60 1.00 

              Sub-Total 0.00 0.00   Sub-Total 32.20 32.20 32.20   
             LA Based Services [Use/insert as many rows as necessary]   LA Based Services [Use/insert as many rows as necessary]   

              Services targeted at other 
vulnerable children - YOT 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Health Visitors/FNP  
Estimated numbers 160.00 160.00 160.00 

                      MST/FGC/FMH N/A N/A 22.00 
              Services targeted at other 

vulnerable children - LAC 1.00 1.00 2.00         
              Services targeted at other 

vulnerable children - PRS 2.00 2.00 2.00         
              Sub-Total 4.00 4.00 5.00 Sub-Total 160.00 160.00 182.00   

             Third Sector Based 
Services [Use/insert as many rows as necessary]   

Third Sector Based 
Services [Use/insert as many rows as necessary]   

              
ChEWS CAMHS Service - 
area based (used to be 
referred to as Tier 2 
services 15.50 21.30 21.30         

              Sub-Total 15.50 21.30 21.30 Sub-Total 0.00   0.00   
             NHS Based Services [Use/insert as many rows as necessary]   NHS Based Services [Use/insert as many rows as necessary]   

              

NHS Provider CAMHS 30.98 32.38 33.38 
Looked after Children 
Nursing Team 2.80   2.80 

              Sub-Total 30.98 32.38 33.38 Sub-Total 2.80   0.00   
             Total 50.48 57.68 59.68 Total 195.00 195.00 217.00   
             

                       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 147



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   88  

 

 

Investment Tables

Name of Area:

Only include any investment in the most appropriate category.  Do not include any service twice.

Service type

LA Funded 

15/16

LA Funded 

16/17

LA Funded 

17/18

CCG 

Funded 

15/16

CCG 

Funded 

16/17

CCG 

Funded 

17/18

Other Funding 

Source 15/16

Other Funding 

Source 16/17

Other Funding 

Source 17/18

Specify Funding Source(s) Comments

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0

School nursing & Health Visiting 7,602,437 7,352,437 43,500 43,500 43,500 Included in Allied Services as below 

Sub-Total 7,602,437 7,352,437 0 43,500 43,500 43,500 0 0

Vulnerable Childrens Team 50,000 170,000 222,000 YOT, LAC. CSE.   LPS 14 (links LPS13 & LPS 17)

YOT Services 140,000 140,000 140,000 Young Offenders

LAC Services 65,800 120,000 170,000 170,000 Looked after Children

PRS Services 29,397 29,397 29,397 29,397 29,297 29,397 School Clusters Pupil Referral Units

Sub-Total 65,800 0 339,397 509,397 561,397 29,397 29,397 29,397

Regional ED Team 217,000 211,000 211,000 LPS 7

CAMHS wait times 340,500 420,000 420,000 LPS 6 (links with LPS 2 and LPS11 )

Single Point of Access 55,000 145,000 145,000 LPS 10 (links with LPS1, LPS2, LPS6 & LPS11 )

ChEWS Tier 2 360,000 360,000 96,000 96,000 96,000

CAMHS services in schools 339,561 339,561 339,561  Estimated spend

CAMHS Tier 3 2,164,190 2,164,190 2,164,190

Sub-Total 360,000 360,000 2,872,690 3,036,190 3,036,190 339,561 339,561

Inpatient Tier  4  CAMHS Exp. 

(paid  for  by  NHS England)

NHS E funding for 

15/16 to be 

supplied by NHS E 

and entered here

NHS E funding for 

16/17 to be 

supplied by NHS E 

and entered here

NHS E funding for 

17/18 to be supplied 

by NHS E and 

entered here

NHS England

Total 8,028,237 360,000 3,255,587 3,641,087 368,958 368,958

Service Type LA Funded 

15/16

LA Funded 

16/17

LA Funded 

17/18

CCG 

Funded 

15/16

CCG 

Funded 

16/17

CCG 

Funded 

17/18

Other Funding 

Source 15/16

Other Funding 

Source 16/17

Other Funding 

Source 17/18

Specify Funding Source(s) Comments

CAMHS Schools link pilot 40,000 40,000 40,000  

Learning SEHM provision 420,000 420,000 420,000 Estimated 

Sub-Total 420,000 420,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 0 0

School Nursing Service
1,504,437 Previous submission counted this twice as was 

included in core services

Health Visiting 6,098,000

Previous submission counted this twice as was 

included in core services

Sub-Total 7,602,437 0 0 0 0 0

Band 7 Clinical Post 70,000

MST/FCG/ FMH N/A N/A 728,000

Sensory Post 17,000

Sub-Total 0 0 0 87,000 0 0

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 8,022,437 1,148,000 40,000 127,000 0 0

ALLIED SERVICES - 2015/16

Services Targeted at Specific Vulnerable Groups

Specialist CAMH Services

Specialist CAMH Services 

Services Targeted at Specific Vulnerable Groups

School Based Early Intervention Services

Early Intervention Services - Other Bases 

If you are unable to provide information please define whether it is Not Known by entering 'NK', or Not Applicable by entering 'NA' in the appropriate cell.

Kirklees

School Based Early Intervention Services 

[Do not use]

CORE SERVICES - 2015/16 and 2016/17

Early Intervention Services - Other Bases

P
age 148



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2018 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2018   89  

 

 

Appendix C -    CAMHS Transformation Plans – Issues and risks to delivery 2018/19 

 

NHS North Kirklees Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Greater Huddersfield Clinical Commissioning Group. 

LPS Number Description of Local Priority Scheme 
Description of issue of risk to delivery of 

2018/19 plan 
Mitigating Actions 

*Date expected 
to deliver 

LPS 6  (2.2) 

To consider the required resources and  
implement the required system change in 
order to reduce Tier 2 waiting times and 
further reduce Autism Assessment 
waiting times  LPS 6 (2.2) 

 

Impacts on LPS 1 (1.1), 2 (1.2), 3 (1.3),  5 (2.1), 
6 (2.2),     10(2.6) and 11 (2.7)  

As outlined in the main body of the plan Tier 2 
waiting times have increased significantly since 
2015. This in part is due to the rebalancing 
across the CAMHS system of inappropriate 
referrals at higher Tiers of provision. In terms of 
Autism waiting times they have reduced from 4 
years to 12months but further work needs to be 
undertake to reduce to nearer the NICE 
guidance Target of 3 Months.  

Waiting time trajectories working 
towards reducing waiting times 
for CAMHS provisions in 2018 as 
a single measure.  Independent 
Consultant looking at whole 
CAMHS system report due 
December 2018 with 
recommendations to be 
presented to commissioners and 
providers  

Ongoing from 
October 2018 

LPS  25 (5.1) 

Ensure CAMHS providers are fully 
participating in CYP IAPT core curriculum 
in 2017/18. 

Impacts on 22 (4.5), 23 (4.6) and  
26 (5.2) 

Applications for the CYP IAPT Programme are 
nationally are oversubscribed.  This is limiting 
access locally combined with potential financial 
challenges for CCGs when national funding 
ceases in 2019.  Current focus being on Thriving 
Kirklees provisions involvement as opposed to 
other agencies.   Continuation by CAMHS staff 
in CYP IAPT training programmes  

CYP IAPT applications are being 
progressed for Phase 8 by 
November 2018.  Work will 
continue to embed IAPT outcome 
measures into practice. 

The Calderdale and Kirklees IAPT 
Steering Group works together to 
progress this priority. 

Ongoing from 
January 2019 

P
age 149



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   90  

 

Appendix D -    Draft Children and Young People Plan 2018 

 
  

Our vision 

All children and young people in Kirklees are nurtured and 

supported to achieve their potential. 

 

Our outcomes 

Children and young people are very clear about what they want 

growing up in Kirklees  

 

 To have the best start in life and be healthy* 

 To aspire, achieve and enjoy life* 

 To feel safe and live in a strong, loving family and  a vibrant 
community* 

 To feel valued and contribute to society 

 To live in a decent home with enough money and confidence in 
their future 

 

We know that not all children and young people have the same 

opportunities to achieve these outcomes. The inequalities 

experienced in childhood lead to lifelong inequalities in income and 

health. We are committed to tackling those inequalities and 

breaking that cycle.  

We recognise the different stages of the child’s journey from 

conception and birth through to becoming an independent adult, 

and that at critical points in that journey they may need more 

support to make the most of the next stage of their life. 

 * = Kirklees Outcome 

Our ways of working 

 Put the child or young person at the heart of what we do   

 Do things with people rather than to them or for them 

 Use Outcomes Based Accountability to understand whether 
children and young people are better off as a result of our 
services and interventions  

 

 

How we will deliver our vision 

We will make this happen by focussing on 6 programmes. All of the programmes will contribute to improving 

the 4 key supporting environments for children and families 

 

How will we know if we have made a difference? 

To have the best start in life 
and be healthy 

1. Healthy birth weight 

2. Healthy weight (at age 11) 

3. Good level of development in Early Years 

To aspire, achieve and enjoy 
life 

4. Attainment gaps at 5, 11, 16, 19 

5. School attendance  

6. Self-reported wellbeing 

To feel safe and live in a 
strong, loving family and a  
vibrant community 

7. Feel loved and cared for 

8. First time entrants to the youth justice system 

9. Looked after children 

10. Children with a child protection plan 

To feel valued and contribute 
to society 

11. Feel they have positive influence 

12. Voter registration (Democracy Commission)* 

13. Volunteering* 

To live in a decent home with 
enough money and 
confidence in their future 

14. Children in poverty 

15. 18-24 worklessness 

16. Decent homes* 

*- work required to develop relevant indicator 

 

Kirklees Children and Young People’s Plan 2017 -2020: Putting children and young people at the heart of everything we do 
 

Our Priorities 

 Support children and families to become more resilient, identify 
and resolve their own problems before crises occur by 
developing a comprehensive network of Community Hubs. These 
will support prevention and early intervention by providing a 
focal point in every community for a wide range of activity, 
establishing the new Community Plus approach, including a new 
youth offer from the Kirklees Youth Alliance, and an Early 
Support offer for children and families (link) 

 Enable all young people, including vulnerable learners, to achieve 
their full potential through improving the quality and range of 
opportunities for learning and skills development from early 
learning to post 16 (link) 

 Enable all children to become active citizens by implementing the 
recommendations of the Kirklees Democracy Commission (link) 
and ensuring that they have voice and influence 

 Improve the physical health and mental wellbeing of all children 
by further developing the Thriving Kirklees (link)approach and 
complete the transformation of child and adolescent mental 
health services (link)  

 As a partnership we will work together to ensure that there is an 
appropriate range of services and coordinated responses to 
meet the needs of our most vulnerable children and young 
people. Where possible we will integrate previously fragmented 
services where it makes sense to enable the delivery of more 
effective and efficient support. 

 Improve outcomes for children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities to enable them to make 
choices that lead to successful adult lives by integrating 
education, health, social care and voluntary sector provision 
(link) 

 

Our enablers 

Delivering these priorities and outcomes can only be achieved if we 

up our game on those ‘enablers’ that provide the conditions for 

success  

 Strong leadership – not just from the Children and Young 
People’s Partnership but from committed people across families, 
communities and partners 

 Building a confident and skilled workforce that can turn this plan 
into a reality for all our children and young people 

 Making the most of digital technology to connect people with 
available opportunities the wider world 

 Bringing the services for our communities together in the most 
appropriate places through the One Public Estate approach 

 

V 4 08/08/17 

P
age 150



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   91  

 

 
Appendix E Kirklees Early Support Strategy  
 
 

                 Kirklees Early Support Strategy 
 

October 2018 
 

 
Early support and our shared approach to 

responding to the needs of children, 
young people and families in Kirklees 

 
 

“Supporting resilient and confident children, 
families and communities in Kirklees” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 151

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwi-6I-lgs7bAhWPZlAKHS2mD54QjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://kirkleesyc.org.uk/come-along-to-our-next-youth-council-meeting/&psig=AOvVaw1y_s_tY7MuVFDq281L5wpT&ust=1528888037916053


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   92  

 

 

Contents 

 
1. Introduction – Why Early Support?      Page 3 

 
2. National Context        Page 4 

      
3. Local Context         Page 5 

 
4. Kirklees Early Support Vision       Page 5-6 

 
5. Our Priorities         Page 6 

 
6. Early Support Partnership Approach      Page 6-7 

 
7. Thrive Concept – Our Approach To Early Support    Page 8-9 

 

8. Outcomes Based Accountability – What difference are we making? Page 9 
 

9. Challenges, risks and responsibilities     Page 10-11 
 

10.  Supporting Strategies and Policies underpinning Early Support    Page 11 
 

11. Sources         Page 11 
 

Appendices          
 
Appendix 1 – Kirklees Needs Analysis      Page 12-13 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign off date:  October 2018 
Due for Review: October 2019 

Page 152



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   93  

 

 

1 Introduction   
It is estimated that over two million children in the UK today are living in challenging family 
circumstances. These include children whose family lives are affected by poverty, poor housing, 
parental drug and alcohol dependency, neglect, domestic abuse, poor mental health or have an 
education health and care plan or are eligible for SEN support. 
 
It is recognised that families and young people in Kirklees can experience either temporary or 
longer term difficulties and pressures which can impact on well-being. For some families, 
without ‘early support’ difficulties can escalate, family circumstances deteriorate and children 
are more at risk of suffering significant harm, adversely affecting their life chance outcomes and 
possibilities. It is crucial that these children and their families benefit from the best quality 
professional help at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Professor Eileen Munro highlighted in her review of child protection, ‘preventative services can 
do more to reduce abuse and neglect than reactive services’.  
 
Early support for children and families is more effective and less expensive than intervening 
when problems become entrenched. Even if early support cannot stop problems escalating, 
targeted and evidence based support for those at most risk can still make a difference and 
reduce the need for the high costs of social care involvement and taking children into care. 
These kinds of services are better for children and families but are also important to ensure that 
the local safeguarding system is sustainable. Without enough of both early and targeted support 
the pressures on social work can become too high, reducing the quality of decision making and 
practice and raising costs. Thus, in summary, effective early support is better for children, better 
for the local safeguarding system and better for the public purse.  
 
A key dynamic for thriving communities in Kirklees is enabling people and communities to have a 
good life and to do more for themselves. All partners in Kirklees recognise that ‘early support’ is 
a collaborative partnership approach not a specific council provision. They will have different 
perspectives on how early support can best impact to improve outcomes, e.g. focus on evidence 
based approaches such as Nurturing Parents and Stronger Families.  The Early Support Strategy 
refers to a way of working that means providing interventions early to support and build 
resilience amongst children, young people and their families – particularly those that may be 
vulnerable. There is an awareness that children with additional needs and their parents/carers 
are often either missed or in some communities are hard to reach by early support services. This 
is a clear area for improvement and by doing this, the aim is to promote positive outcomes and 
prevent the unnecessary development of greater needs in the future.  
 
The strategy is not a stand-alone document and is an integral strand of the Children and Young 
People plan for Kirklees. It has important links to universal services who provide the initial 
support to families and young people across the borough. The vision is to promote preventative 
strategies and approaches that reduce escalation of problems. This is aligned with promoting 
improved learning outcomes and initiatives such as Nurturing Parents which are all fundamental 
elements in the early support offer. The strategy contributes to the Kirklees ambition to achieve 
the aims of Every Child Matters.  A list of the contributing strategies is provided on Page 11.  
 
Good practice has already been identified in Kirklees examples such as the Kirklees Community 
Hubs and the prevention interventions such as Community Resolutions pioneered by the 
Kirklees Youth Offending Team. At the heart of the Children’s Services Improvement Plan are 

Page 153



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   94  

 

innovative initiatives such as Family Group Conferencing, Multi-Systemic Therapy and Family 
Mental Health Services. 
 
This strategy will guide the development of the Early Support Partnership’s own services and 
those services that are commissioned, to ensure that the most vulnerable in our communities 
receive the support they need to achieve the very best they can in all areas of their lives.  It is 
made real and translated into sustainable improvements in outcomes for children, young 
people, families and their communities, and the Kirklees partners.  Its impact will be measured 
and reviewed. 

 

2 National Context 
The national context shows that there has been a rise in the numbers of looked after children on 
a year by year basis. This number continues to increase and has done so steadily over the last 
nine years. At 31 March 2017 there were 72,670 looked after children, an increase of 3% on 
2016.  

 
The number of children starting to be looked after in 2016-17 has also risen in recent years and 
has increased by 2% compared with the previous year.  

 
The number of children ceasing to be looked after in 2016-17 has fallen by 2% compared with 
the previous year. 

 

 

Until last year, like the national picture, the number of looked after children in Kirklees has been 
rising.  Whilst the contributing factors are complex we believe it is possible to make a real 
difference at the local level.  
 
One significant aspect of early support involves those with an education health and care plan. 
There are increasing numbers of children and young people in Kirklees with an EHCP and with 
identified SEND and the trend shows increasing complexity of those needs. 

 
All the research shows that if agencies work as an effective partnership across an area then 
improvements can be made. The key to success is the quality of relationship between partners, 
the local knowledge of services and how services integrate together to address needs. The focus 

The Context – Looked After Children March 2018 

Page 154



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   95  

 

of the early support partnership in Kirklees will be on the voice of the child and what difference 
they are making. 

3 The Local Context 
Even at a time of unprecedented pressure on resources, there is a wealth of provision and talent 
in Kirklees. The challenge for the partners is how this is harnessed, to address gaps, to ensure 
that young people and families do not get lost between partners and that our services are 
timely. Across the partnership we want to agree how we engage with families and how we 
empower them.  
 
Our approach is based on building communities, developing resilience and establishing 
networks. As well as developing a local offer based around 4 geographical and diverse areas we 
recognise that some services work best across the authority as a whole. We want to develop a 
unifying but not uniform offer, reflecting the needs and strengths of young people, families and 
communities.  
 

The strength of Kirklees is its diversity - the range of partners involved including schools, the 
voluntary and community sector, faith organisations, health agencies and local authority 
services. 

 
We already believe there is some evidence to show that the approach outlined in this strategy is 
beginning to slow down the increase in the numbers of looked after children in Kirklees. There is 
still, however, scope for further improvement. 
 

 
 

4 Kirklees Early Support Partnership Vision  
The Kirklees Early Support Partnership has developed a vision of what it is hoping to achieve. It 
outlines a shared understanding of the key issues and how these can be addressed.  
 
Our aspiration is that our practitioners, irrespective of the nature of their formal positions, 
develop a shared language and approach to working with families and young people. 

 

297 307 312 
335 

385 

444 

515 

565 
589 

639 650 
613 622 

652 

699 
669 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Children Looked After at 31st March 2018 

Page 155



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   96  

 

We all believe that every child and young person should have the opportunity to reach their full 
potential and that they are best supported to grow and achieve within their own families and 
communities. There will always be some children, young people and families that will need 
support and we are committed to ensuring we work with them to identify their own solutions, 
building on their strengths. In doing so we will ensure that, where services are needed, they will 
be flexible to meet children’s and families’ needs.  
 
This approach supports a shift of focus away from short-term crises and towards effective 
support for children and young people and their families at an earlier stage, with them at the 
centre of enabling communities rather them being dependent on statutory public services.  
 
We recognise that we engage with children and families in a variety of settings and at different 
times. Our aspiration is that our practitioners, irrespective of the nature of their formal 
positions, ensure that the right conversation takes place at the right time with the right people. 

 

5 Our Priorities 
• Help children to live in safe and supportive families 

• Support children, young people and families to become more resilient and identify and 
resolve their own problems before crises occur 

• Ensure all young people, including vulnerable learners, achieve their full potential through 
improving the quality and range of opportunities for learning and skills development from 
early learning to post 16.  Ensure they are supported to make appropriate choices and 
sustain transitions 

• Improve the physical health and mental wellbeing of all 

• Support approaches that help develop communities that facilitate and support parents and 
families to nurture their children 

• Improve outcomes for children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities 

 
6 Early Support Partnership Approach  
In Kirklees we are committed to working in a way that that builds on and maximises the 
resources and skills across the partnership. We recognise that we need to work to achieve 
integration and coherence though our services and ensure that they contribute to improved 
outcomes. Kirklees is a diverse and varied area and we recognise that different areas will require 
a locally based approach to engage with their communities.  To achieve this across Kirklees we 
are committed to:  

 
• Strengths based approach – enabling rather than deficit based  

• Shared approach and responsibility where professionals talk and share space 

• Develop innovation and sustainable improvements  

• Child’s voice at the centre of decisions 

• Commitment and accountability 

• Encourage young people and their families to aspire to achieve better outcomes for 
themselves 

Page 156



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   97  

 

• Culture of shared experience based on learning 

• Developing family networks and communities  

• Open and honest with families and each other 

• Right Person, Right Service, Right Time 

 
Working with Families 
Early support needs to focus on those adverse experiences and help both the child and the 
parents deal with these. We want to forge a relationship between agencies and children and 
families so that the emphasis of practice is on working with children and families, rather than 
doing things to them or for them.  “Working with” involves high support and high challenge so 
that families find their own lasting solutions to the challenges they face, and are equipped with 
the resilience to move forward successfully.  
 
We are working towards a position where working with is the default option;  basic entitlement 
for all children, young people and families who come into contact with services throughout the 
district, with the child at the heart of decisions that affect them. 

 
 
 
  

Page 157



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   98  

 

 

 

7 Thrive Concept – The Kirklees Approach To Early Support 
The partnership vision promotes the aim to help all families and children to thrive and reach 
their full potential. The Kirklees Early Support concept and approach is designed to address 
situations when this stops happening for a variety of reasons. 
 
Thrive is an approach to early support already being used in areas including health and schools.  
 
The approach is based on working with 

 Strengths-based, asset-based approaches 

 Key transformative approaches that span all staff and partners working to assist step 

up/step down 

 “Working with” approach across the Kirklees Early Support Partnership (co-design, 

collaborate, co-locate) 

 “Pro-social” – expertly tapping into the positive motivations of partners and 

communities 

 “Creative commissioning” – constantly striving to find the best route for effective 

delivery 

 “Networking” – making better collective use of intelligence and resource, systems 

thinking – for professionals and for individuals own support networks 

 Co-invest time, money, expertise and seeking innovation in the approaches and activities 

that have a proven ability to help people sustain their step away from services 

 Tapping in to self-support and self-agency, developing individual capacity and resilience 

 Using evidence based approaches to design the range of activities, actions and self-help 

approaches that aim to get people to thrive  

 

Using the Thrive Concept  
The graphic gives examples of how professionals/services could fulfil their roles within this 
approach whilst recognising that some will need support to fulfil this role. 
 

Page 158



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   99  

 

 
 

8 Outcomes Based Accountability Approach 
It is critical that our approach is based on proven research, supported by clear evidence and can 
be shown to be making a real difference. Using the outcomes based accountability (OBA) 
process, outcomes, measures and action plans will be determined and agreed at a local level by 
all stakeholders. We will ask the key OBA questions: 
 

 How much did we do? 

 How well did we do it? 

 What difference did we make? 
 

Outcomes Based Accountability indicators – What difference are we making? 

We will know that our approach is making a difference when there is evidence of a 
statistically significant impact in key indicators measuring the effectiveness of early 
support interventions. Partners will already have in their action plans key ‘OBA indicators’ which 
collectively will demonstrate the impact and outcomes of the early help support. 
 
In summary these will include some the following: 

 Numbers of Children Looked After, CPP and CIN, some of these may be children with additional 
needs 

 Numbers of children to A & E, average birth weight, numbers of referrals to CAMHS 

Page 159



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   100  

 

 Percentage of children with low attendance at school, percentage of students achieving a level 

3 qualification at age 19 

 Number of community-based interventions being accessed by families 

9 Challenges, Risks and Responsibilities 
 

Emerging Challenges 
Engagement with young people, families and key stakeholders has identified a number of 

potential risks and challenges which need to be addressed to deliver the vision. The greatest 

challenge is cultural, developing the confidence to work and listen to the voice of the child and 

families. The challenges are not unique to Kirklees and with the emerging culture of high support 

and high challenge can be addressed. Some of these risks are as follows: 

 Better clarity in understanding layer(s) of need  

 Strengthened guidance on determining layer(s) of need  

 Consent and information sharing  

 Improving the knowledge about what services and support are available from a 

parents/carers point of view and their ability on how to access 

 Simplified arrangements for accessing appropriate support  

 Lack of shared understanding about what different services contribute to prevention 

 Inter-agency co-ordination can be further improved to ensure resources are used most 

effectively to deliver shared objectives 

 Recognition that there is a gap in the offer of services and support for children with 

additional needs and their parents/carers 

 That parents are being asked the same things over again and sometimes feel judged rather 

than supported 

 That agencies rather than families determine the right time for support 

 There are too many box ticking style performance indicators 

 There is too little one to one support for children with complex needs 

 There is too great a focus on higher tier services 

 There is a long waiting list for Family Support 

 There is uncertainty about future funding 

 Voice of the child is not always heard and evidenced 

In developing the partnership there needs to be clarity about the roles and responsibilities of the key 

stakeholders. 

Local authorities and partner agencies delivering early support to children and families should 

improve the quality and consistency of assessment and plans by:  

 Promoting the use of evidence- and research-informed assessment practice  

 Improving the quality of analysis in assessments  

 Ensuring that assessments reflect the views and experience of the child and family  

 Making the purpose clearer and improving the intended outcome  

 Ensuring plans are regularly reviewed and that these reviews evaluate the child’s and 
family’s progress  

 Provide professional supervision to all staff delivering early support and ensure that their 
work receives regular management oversight, particularly in respect of decisions about 
whether families need more formal help  

 Ensure that all early support professionals have access to effective training   

Page 160



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   101  

 

 Ensure that children’s needs for early support arising from parental substance misuse, 
mental ill health and domestic abuse are addressed in commissioning plans 

 Ensuring that all those who work with families have an understanding of those factors that 
contribute to ensuring that all children have the best start in life  

 

The LSCB should:  

 Critically evaluate the effectiveness of early support and publish these findings in the LSCB 
annual report,  monitor the quality of early support assessment, planning and management 
oversight through effective audit arrangements  

 Develop and monitor local quality standards to ensure that early support professionals have 
access to effective supervision and management oversight   

 Evaluate the effectiveness of the LSCB threshold document to ensure that it is understood 
and used appropriately by all partner agencies and that children and families are helped 
effectively as a result  

 Monitor and evaluate whether children’s emerging needs are appropriately met elsewhere 
when referrals to children’s social care do not meet the locally agreed threshold for 
statutory intervention   

 Ensure that all professionals working with families receive effective early support training   
 

Local authorities should:  

 Ensure that when a child is referred to local authority children’s social care the referrer is 
consistently given good-quality feedback about the outcome of the referral   

 Establish effective processes for evaluating the overall impact of early support 
 

10 Supporting Strategies and Policies underpinning Early Support  
 

 Kirklees Children’s Improvement Plan 

 Nurturing Parents Charter  

 Kirklees Education and Learning (Draft) 

 Kirklees Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-2020 

 Kirklees SEND strategy 

 Securing Sufficient High Quality Learning and Childcare Places School Organisation, 
Planning and Development for 2015-2018 

 Kirklees Safeguarding Children’s Board - Framework for decision making 
 

11 Sources 
This strategy has been developed through a combination of researching best practice and 
holding a series of consultation events with key stakeholders. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 161



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   102  

 

Appendix 1 
 
Kirklees Needs Demand 
The Context – Kirklees Overview – March 2018 
 

  

Batley & 
Spen 

Dewsbury 
& Mirfield Huddersfield 

Kirklees 
Rural 

Address 
Confidential/ 
Live Outside 
Kirklees Total 

Population             

Total No. of children age 
0-18 * 

27,628 21,590 32,757 22,177   104,152 

%  breakdown of children 
aged 0-18 per District 
Committee area  

27% 21% 31% 21%   100% 

No. of children aged 0-18 
living in 0-30% most 
deprived  LSOA 

13,749 15,327 18,109 1,959   49,144 

% children living in 0-30% 
most deprived LSOA 

28% 30% 38% 4%     

Social Care              

 Social Care CIN/CPP/LAC 
a/a 2 March 2018  
(children aged 0-18) ** 

655 544 936 352 120 2607 

% breakdown  of children 
per district committee 

25% 21% 36% 14% 5% 100% 

Breakdown of 
Classification: 

            

 CIN 390 332 549 232 51 1554 

% 25% 21% 35% 15% 3% 100% 

 CPP 100 77 158 29 17 381 

%   26% 20% 41% 8% 4% 100% 

 LAC (home postcode) 165 135 229 91 52 670 

%  25% 20% 34% 14% 8% 100% 

 
Children in Kirklees with an Education Health 
and Care Plan in 2018 (EHCP) 

     

 

Batley 
and Spen 

Dewsbury 
and Mirfield 

Huddersfield 
Kirklees 

Rural 
Total 

Cognition & Learning Needs 152 132 156 104 544 

Percentage of EHCP Population by Area 28% 24% 29% 19%   

Communication & Interaction Needs 212 172 287 170 841 

Percentage of EHCP Population by Area 25% 20% 34% 20%   

Physical & Medical Needs 36 44 65 29 174 

Percentage of EHCP Population by Area 21% 25% 37% 17%   

Social, Emotional, Mental Health Needs 93 53 109 73 328 

Percentage of EHCP Population by Area 28% 16% 33% 22%   

Sensory Impairments (including hearing, vision) 27 25 25 16 93 

Percentage of EHCP Population by Area 29% 27% 27% 17%   

Other categories of need or in assessment 62 65 80 59 266 

Percentage of EHCP Population by Area 23% 24% 30% 22%   

 

Page 162



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   103  

 

The May 2018 school census identified that there were 6,934 children recorded as having SEN 

support. 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   104  

 

Appendix F School Trailblazer Bid   
 
 

PART A - Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health Trailblazer 
Site Expression of Interest Form 

 

Use this form to express interest in being selected to be a 

trailblazer site to deliver a Mental Health Support Team  

 
The expression of interest form is composed of three parts: 
 
Part A) a word document where textual information is collected for Mental Health 
Support Teams 
 
Part B) an excel document, for the collection of financial and analytical  
Information for both Mental Health Support Teams and waiting time pilots  
 
Part C) a word document where textual information is collected for waiting time pilots 
 
 

1 Introduction  

You have been sent this expression of interest pack because your CCG has met a 
series of pre-defined criteria that have been identified as being essential for the 
successful delivery of the first round of trailblazer sites.  Expressions of interest 
should be collaboratively developed with relevant providers, commissioners, local 
authority and educational officials and settings.    
 
Please complete part A and B and C if applicable and send to your Regional Delivery 
Lead by 17th September, 2018 
 
This form should be read alongside the guidance document. 
  

Page 164



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   105  

 

 

Organisation details 

CCG Lead CCG NHS North Kirklees  
 
Our proposal is joint bid between;  
 
NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG/ NHS North Kirklees 
CCG 
 

CCG lead contact name, 
organisation, position 

Tom Brailsford  Head of Joint Commissioning - Children 
 

Other organisations 
involved in the 
application and named 
lead for each 
organisation  
 
This should include: 

 Providers of CYP 
MH services 

 Other key partners 
 

 Northorpe Hall Children and Family Trust;  Tom 
Taylor, Director  

 South West Yorkshire partnership NHS Trust; 
Linda Moon,  General Manager CAMHS   

 Locala Community partnership (CIC); Cliff 
Dunbavin,  Strategic Operations Manager   

 Kirklees Council, Public Health; Clair Ashurst-
Bagshaw, Transformation lead  

 Kirklees Council, Learning and Skills; Jayne 
Whitton, Principal  Educational Psychologist 

 Kirklees Council, Learning and Development; 
Tracy Bodle,  Community Hubs Manager   

Region Yorkshire and Humber  
 

STP Footprint West Yorkshire 
 

VSM approval Penny Woodhead Chief Quality and Nursing Officer 
Greater Huddersfield and North Kirklees CCG  

 
 

Jacqui Gedman Chief Executive Kirklees Council    
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 165



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   106  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The proposal 

 
Proposal – 1,000 words max 
 
Please provide a brief description of your proposal, including details of your 
proposed service model, why it should be funded and your success criteria 
 
Please note applicants in receipt of funding must demonstrate that:  
 

 They are committed to delivering a pilot of the MHST within the timescales 
specified 

 They engaged the right stakeholders in the development  of their proposal 
and have senior strategic commitment to the joint delivery 

 Any funding will be used exclusively for intended purpose 

 Any funding will be in addition to current investment in emotional, behavioural  
and psychological wellbeing or interventions  by any party within the relevant 
settings  

 
In April 2017 the local authority and CCG’s took an innovative approach to CAMHS 
transformation. Joint commissioning existing tier 2 and tier 3 CAMHS, ASD,  learning 
disability provision, school nursing and health visiting services, (for further detail see 
our local CAMHS LTP ) creating a ’tier free’ joined up, accessible, family centred 
health provision with a focus on early intervention and prevention based on the 
Thrive Elaborated approach. The programme is called Thriving Kirklees.    
 
The Kirklees Future in Mind plan 2015-2020 highlights key areas of improvements in 
relation to our school based prevention and early intervention offer. Progress has 
been made in our ambitions for school based support but challenges remain. Rapid 
access to evidence based intervention in our educational settings is essential to 
improving the emotional health and wellbeing of our children and young people.   
 
The Kirklees proposal builds on our innovative, system-wide commissioning 
approach to ensure education providers play a full and leading role in addressing 
local challenges around mental and emotional health support. 
 

Page 166

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/working-with-children/pdf/future-in-mind/Kirklees-Future-In-Mind-Transformation-Plan-Refresh.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/working-with-children/pdf/future-in-mind/Kirklees-Future-In-Mind-Transformation-Plan-Refresh.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   107  

 

Thriving Kirklees has developed strong links with education providers through the 
local CAMHS Link work.  Many schools, Colleges and alternative education 
providers have taken up opportunities for additional school nursing services, senior 
management or whole school training, consultancy and mental health awareness 
training for staff. Over a hundred schools and colleges have a named Designated 
Mental Health Lead and over 70 have attended the new network meetings. (See 
1.2.1). Schools have been encouraged to collaborate and create the Kirklees 
Community Hubs which enable schools to share resources and plans, with a focus 
on early intervention and prevention.  Hubs vary in size and resources, responding to 
local opportunities and needs.  Thriving Kirklees support is aligned to this 
infrastructure and model, reducing duplication, joining up services and ensuring 
children and young people and families receive the right support at the earliest 
possible opportunity.  
 
We have made improvements across our whole CAMHS system in relation to access 
and waiting times; the multi- agency single point of access, (see 1.2.2), has had a 
positive impact on clinical CAMHS waiting times, reducing many assessments and 
services from 12 months to 3 months. Significant challenges still remain, many 
young people need a face to face mental health intervention for common conditions 
such as anxiety and depression are waiting longer than 28 weeks, on average. 
 

The Kirklees Trailblazer Model aims to; ( See Appendix 1) 

 Support a whole school approach to promoting children and young people’s 

emotional health and wellbeing  

 Ensure that where required children and young people have rapid access to 

evidence based interventions  

 Based on co-production –  building on strengths and respectful of pre-

existing capabilities of schools, parents/carers and pupils as experts in their 

own circumstances,  

 Pull together the 3 key areas of support within schools; mental health, SEND 

and safeguarding 

 Place Leadership and Management at the centre, ensuring social and 

emotional wellbeing feature strongly in plans, policies and systems 

 Support schools to develop a community vision (PATH) with development is 

informed by audit 

 Cover key area of focus: ethos and environment, curriculum teaching and 

learning, staff development and wellbeing, student voice and working with 

parents/carers.    

 Deliver interventions are evidence based and underpinned by a knowledge of 

child development, promoting well-being and resilience, emotional and social 

skills, adverse childhood experiences, and mental health.   

 Enable a bespoke programme of support for schools which enhances the 

existing whole school offer. 

 
Our model is a collaboration between two CCGs covered by a single delivery 
consortium, Thriving Kirklees. Two MHST’s will cover hub footprints identified and 
prioritised through a needs analysis, (see Appendix 2). The first MHST covers 3 High 

Page 167



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   108  

 

schools, 17 Primary schools, 1 College base, 1 Special school, 1 PRU.  The second 
MHST covers 4 high schools, 13 Primary schools, 1 Special school and 1 PRU. 
 
Teams will co-locate within hubs, providing fast and responsive mental and 
emotional health interventions to young people who need them.   Data will be in the 
same system, ensuring high levels of data security, care coordination across the 
system and effective reporting to the MHSDS. MHST’s will be multidisciplinary teams 
comprising educational psychology, emotional health and wellbeing workers, family 
mental health workers, with clinical oversight from specialist CAMHS. 
 
Education providers will have access to whole school development resources, 
training and senior leadership team support, enabling them to more effectively 
manage and support children’s emotional wellbeing and create a culture of wellbeing 
and early intervention. School staff will be supported to identify who needs help and 
enabled to respond appropriately. This may include joint delivery and facilitation of 
appropriate interventions, e.g. group work and ensure sustainability.   

 
Our aim is to pilot the provision of mental health support in partnership with schools, 
learn from schools about what they need and what will help them create positive 
environments which sustain and improve all children’s mental health.  
 
The local authority and CCG will support system change with our schools and 
voluntary organisations in key delivery leadership roles. The MHST’s in each 
community will ensure we are responding to place based needs and sharing learning 
across the system. 
 

Our success criteria includes;  
 

 Establishing the MHST  and clear working relationships across all parties, 
including other local services 

 Schools have a ‘whole school development plan for mental and emotional 
health’ 

 School staff know how to identify young people in need of mental health 
support 

 School staff know how to help young people access advice and support 

 Young people know how to seek help  when they need it 

 The MHST responds rapidly and appropriately to every request for support  

 The MHST starts the required intervention quickly  

 4 week waiting times average across Kirklees (waiting times pilot). 

 Feedback from young people, families and school staff accessing advice and 
services is highly positive and evidences impact 

 Assessments and feedback demonstrate improved mental health of those 
accessing the service 

 Improved levels of emotional wellbeing across the target population 

 Length of intervention is scaled and responsive  

 Monitored through six monthly interim evaluation and progress reports, 
sharing learning with key stakeholders. 

 
 

Page 168



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   109  

 

 
Timetable  
 
Please provide a high level timeline for the delivery of MHST. Please indicate any 
key milestones. This could be in the form of a slide or table 
 
Kirklees key timeline for the delivery of MHST  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Supporting documents  
 
Please include any supporting documents which you would like to be considered as 
part of your expression of interest – please highlight sections relevant to this EOI 
 
Appendix 1: Kirklees Trailblazer Model  
Appendix 2: Hubs Needs mapping  
Appendix 3: Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation plan, Q1 18-19 progress 
update.  
 
1.2.1  
 
The schools and colleges Emotional Health and Wellbeing Network meetings have 
been established by Thriving Kirklees. Representatives include; Education 
Provisions, Council and Educational Psychology Team. It provides an opportunity for 
identified leads to share best practice, resources, and training opportunities. 
Identifying support needs and solutions is also a key feature.   
 
 
1.2.2 

Page 169



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   110  

 

 
Single Point of Contact (SPoC) This is the initial point of contact to access Thriving 
Kirklees services. CHAMS, Chews and health are  co-located  to provide timely, 
holistic approach to calls including seamless transfer of  care between services 
where needed 
 

 

Key criteria 

The guidance document lists several criteria which have been identified as essential 
in the delivery mental health support teams into schools and/or 4 week waiting time 
pilots. 
 
In submitting this expression of interest you must indicate that you have read these 
criteria and undertake to deliver them. If you are successful you will need to 
demonstrate your plan to deliver within your plans which will monitored regionally. 
 

  Yes No 

1 There is a Higher Educational Institution in your vicinity 
which is contracted to deliver the curriculum for the MHST 
workforce 

X  

2 You undertake to capture the current (18/19) investment 
into CYP MH across health and education and to at least 
maintain that level of investment. The new funding for 
MHST and/or waiting time pilots will therefore be an entirely 
additional investment into CYP MH services into schools 

X  

3 You have reviewed the data sharing requirements and have 
the infrastructure in place or plans to deliver it within the 
timescales in order to provide the relevant data 

X  

 a. Do you have a clinical lead for data X  

 b. Are your services routinely using data to influence 
quality improvement 

X  

 c. Do you have a digital patient record system in place X  

 d. Does your system/s allow you to flow Snomed codes X  

 e. Do you regularly collect % report paired outcome 
scores 

X  

 f. Are outcome measures routinely used in the clinical 
consultation  

X  

 g. Have you mapped the data sharing issues to support 
your service model & noted any potential associated 
costs 

X  

 h. If there are any cost implications if there funding in 
place   

  

4 You have locally made an assessment of mild to moderate 
mental health need for children and young people 

X  

5 You have locally made an assessment of current provision 
for mild to moderate mental health needs for children and 
young people 

X  

6 Services within your CCG have participated in schools pilot, 
phase 1 or 2 

X  

Page 170



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   111  

 

7 Services in your area currently have an identified schools 
lead from mental health 

X  

8 You agree to take part in the national evaluation for the 
duration of the agreed period 

X  

 
 

4 Week waiting time pilot 

 
Yes we would like to take part in the waiting times pilot (please see completed part C 
word document and the relevant sections of part B excel spreadsheet) 
 
 

Signatories 

 
Signatories should include the Chief Executive Office or Chief Operating Officer of 
CCG(s), the Director(s) of Children’s Services, the Director(s) of Public Health and 
an appropriate representative from the Health and Wellbeing Board, the strategic 
lead for the bid and any other supporting senior strategic signatories that you feel is 
relevant to demonstrate joint sign up 

Organisation Role Signature 

NHS Greater 
Huddersfield CCG/NHS 
North Kirklees CCG 

Head of Joint 
Commissioning- 
Children 
 

 

Kirklees Council  Chief Executive  
 

 
Kirklees Council  Strategic Director - 

Corporate Strategy and 
Public Health 

 
Kirklees Council  Service Director, Family 

Support and Child 
Protection - Targeted 
Support - 

 

Northorpe Hall Children 
and Family Trust  

Director  

 
Kirklees Council   Service Director-

Learning and Early 
Support, Learning and 
Skills 

 

South West Yorkshire 
partnership NHS Trust  

Director of Finance 

 
Locala Community 
partnership (CIC); 

Cliff Dunbavin   

Page 171



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   112  

 

 

Appendix G – 4 Week Waiting Time Pilot.    
 

 

PART C - Children and Young 
Peoples 4 Week Wait Pilot 

Expression of Interest Form 
 

Use this form to express interest in being selected to be a 

trailblazers site to deliver a waiting time pilot 

 
The expression of interest form is composed of three parts: 
 
Part A) a word document where textual information is collected for Mental Health 
Support Teams 
 
Part B) an excel document, largely for the collection of financial and analytical  
Information for both Mental health supports teams and waiting time pilots  
 
Part C) a word document where textual information is collected for waiting time pilots 
 
 

2 Introduction  

You have been sent this expression of interest pack because your CCG has met a 
series of pre-defined criteria that have been identified as being essential for the 
successful delivery of the first round of trailblazer sites.  Expressions of interest 
should be collaboratively developed with relevant providers, commissioners, local 
authority and educational officials.  
 
Please complete part A and B and C if applicable and send to your NHSE Regional 
Delivery Lead by 17th September 
 
This form should be read alongside the guidance document. 
  

Page 172



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   113  

 

3 Organisation Details 

Lead CCG Lead CCG NHS North Kirklees CCG  
 
This is joint proposal between NHS Greater 
Huddersfield CCG/ NHS North Kirklees  

CCG lead contact name, 
organisation, position 

Tom Brailsford  Head of Joint Commissioning - 
Children 
 

Other CCG’s involved in 
the application 

This is joint proposal between NHS Greater 
Huddersfield CCG/ NHS North Kirklees CCG 
 

Other organisations 
involved in the 
application and named 
lead for each 
organisation  
 
This should include: 

 Providers of CYP 
MH services 

 Other key 
partners 
 

 Northorpe Hall Children and Family Trust;  Tom 
Taylor, Director  

 South West Yorkshire partnership NHS Trust; 
Linda Moon, General Manager CAMHS   

 Locala Community partnership (CIC); Cliff 
Dunbavin, Strategic Operations Manager, 
Children’s  

 Kirklees Council, Public Health; Clair Ashurst-
Bagshaw, Transformation lead  

 Kirklees Council, Learning and Skills; Jayne 
Whitton, Principal  Educational Psychologist 

 Kirklees Council, Learning and Development; 
Tracy Bodle,  Community Hubs Manager   

Region North Region 
 

STP Footprint West Yorkshire  
 

VSM approval  Jacqui Gedman Chief Executive Kirklees Council   

 
  

Penny Woodhead Chief Quality and Nursing Officer 
Greater Huddersfield and North Kirklees CCG  

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   114  

 

 

 

 

 

 

4 The proposal 

 
Proposal – 1,000 words max 
 
Please provide a brief description of your proposal to achieve and maintain waiting 
times from referral to evidence based intervention of 4 weeks, including details of 
your proposed service model, why it should be funded and your success criteria, and 
proposals for how you would use extra resources 
 
 
We would welcome information on: 

 the proposed starting average waiting time and  

 the expected proportion of CYP  that will be seen within the waiting time 
 
Please note applicants in receipt of funding must demonstrate that:  
 

 They are committed to delivering a waiting time pilot within the timescales 
specified 

 They engaged the right stakeholders in the development  of their proposal 
and have senior strategic commitment to the joint delivery 

 Any funding will be used exclusively for the purposes it is intended for 

 Any funding will be in addition to current investment  
 
Most referrals into our mental health services single point of access, (See 3.1), come 
from young people and families directly, from GP’s or from education provision, by 
telephone.  We listen, understand their concerns and challenges, helping them to 
reflect and explore the factors impacting on the young person’s mental health.  With 
consent, we contact other services and professionals involved and gather 
information to make a holistic assessment. 

Our experienced, trained telephone support workers provide reassurance, 
information about other services, and advice about managing and improving mental 
health.  If required, our shared duty with CAMHS and Health enables quick 
consultation to occur and the most appropriate professional to respond further.   

This works well and provides a number of supportive, responsive contacts with 
young people and carers in just a few weeks.  By this standard, our waiting times are 
around 8 weeks. 

Our waiting times challenge is for those whose mental health needs are such that 
they need more than information and advice and telephone support. Following case 
consultation, where a face to face mental health intervention is required, current 

Page 174



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   115  

 

waiting times average around 28 weeks. 

The challenge is to reduce our ‘access standard’ waiting time to four weeks, while 
also reducing the waiting time for face to face support significantly. 

How will we do it? We will;  

1. Implement MHST’s, as described in Part A of this application. Ensuring the 
help that children and young people need is accessible to them in schools and 
colleges.  

2. Education providers, as identified in Part A,  will have access to whole school 
development resources, training and senior leadership team support, 
Enabling them to more effectively manage and support children’s emotional 
wellbeing and create a culture of wellbeing and early intervention. School staff 
will be supported to identify who needs help and enabled to respond 
appropriately 

 Increase the service’s capacity to provide telephone support.  For many 
young people and families, telephone support is easy to access, flexible and 
responsive and enables them to understand their needs better and find their 
own ways to improve their health.  Even if they later need more support, they 
find the telephone support helps them be ready to make the best of those 
sessions. 

 Increase the number of staff able to offer face to face evidence based 
interventions with young people and families.  We will ensure that staff are 
properly supported with good case supervision, administrative support and 
data/IT support to make good use of their time and ensure high quality 
recording and reporting. 

 Provide more evidence based group support activities for young people.  
Groups can enable young people to feel less isolated and supported by their 
peers, as well as making good use of staff time.  We will train and support 
staff to use evidence-based group work tools and resources. 

 Support parents and carers better, enabling them to work with their young 
people to understand and improve their mental health.  Our workshops and 
awareness raising sessions have received positive feedback, increasing 
resilience and skills in families.  Our senior practitioner will provide family 
interventions, support, coaching and advice. 

 Integrate the voice and influence of young people into the learning and 
development of our services, driving improvement from their perspective. 

These Kirklees wide services will increase the service offer to all young people and 
families in Kirklees, ensuring a fast and effective response to mental health needs. 

 

3. How many extra staff are required? 
The following full time equivalents: 

- 2 x Emotional Health Worker, delivering group work and workshops 
- 2 x Telephone support workers, taking support requests, gathering information, 

signposting and providing ongoing telephone support and facilitating use of self-
help materials 

- 1 x Senior Practitioner to support above staff and deal with transfers and 
escalations, and a caseload of those with more complex needs 

- 0.5 Young people’s voice worker – ensuring the voice of young people shapes 

Page 175



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   116  

 

and develops services and support offered 
- 0.7 x Administration support 
- 0.3 x Data/IT management 
 

These are additional to the current staff team. 

 

4. How do we know it will work? 
Our information system enables us to analyse the demand and capacity of our 
service and the performance of staff.  Our projection t is that this staff team will 
support an additional 300 young people a year.  Along with two mental health 
support teams in Kirklees, this will add significant capacity to the wider mental health 
system in Kirklees. 

Three staff providing evidence based face to face interventions and two staff 
providing telephone interventions - responsive, evidence-based interventions that for 
9 out of 10 young people will make a real difference to their mental and emotional 
health. 

Through our telephone assessment and support process ensure that emotional 
health workers are allocated only to those who need the face to face support and 
whose needs cannot be met by guided self-help or other local support services. 

We recently participated in the Local Government Association peer challenge 
programme and this helped us understand the importance of young people’s voice 
and participation in developing mental health services and we will integrate this into 
the drive to reduce waiting times. 

5. Impact on waiting times 
Piloting of telephone support calls has shown that two substantial contacts, providing 
valuable listening, information, advice and enabling self-understanding and self-help, 
can be provided within just two weeks of a request for support. 

The target will be for 25% of those requesting support to receive two supportive 
phone calls within 2 weeks.  This will bring the average wait down to under 4 weeks. 

While high demand and a backlog of cases will mean that some will continue to wait 
longer, this quick response will have a significant effect on average waiting times.  
Over the next year, as the MHST’s establish and the new waiting times staff reach 
capacity, waiting times will reduce gradually. 

We will change young people and families expectations of what ‘getting help’ means.  
We will help them understand that help can be effective online, over the phone and 
in groups as well as one to one sessions with a support worker. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 176



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   117  

 

Timetable  
 
Please provide a high level timeline for the delivery of waiting time pilot. Please 
indicate any key milestones. This could be in the form of a slide or table. 

 
 
 
 

 

 
Supporting documents  
 
Please include any supporting documents which you would like to be considered as 
part of your expression of interest - please highlight sections relevant to this EOI 
 
3.1  
 
Single Point of Contact (SPoC) This is the initial point of contact to access Thriving 
Kirklees services. CHAMS, Chews and health are  co-located  to provide timely, 
holistic approach to calls including seamless transfer of  care between services 
where needed 
 
 
 

5 Signatories 

 
Signatories should include the CEO or COO of the CCG, the strategic lead for the 
bid and any other supporting senior strategic signatories that you feel is relevant to 
demonstrate joint sign up 
 
 

Page 177



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   118  

 

Organisation Role Signature 

NHS Greater 
Huddersfield CCG/NHS 
North Kirklees CCG 

Head of Joint 
Commissioning- 
Children  

Kirklees Council Chief Executive 

 
Kirklees Council Strategic Director - 

Corporate Strategy and 
Public Health 

 
Kirklees Council Service Director, Family 

Support and Child 
Protection - Targeted 
Support 

 

Northorpe Hall Children 
and Family Trust 

Director 

 
Kirklees Council Service Director-

Learning and Early 
Support, Learning and 
Skills 

 

South West Yorkshire 
partnership NHS Trust 

Director of Finance  

 
Locala Community 
partnership (CIC); 

Cliff Dunbavin  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 178



 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   119  

 

 
11 References   

 
Kirklees information - accessible at www.kirklees.gov.uk/futureinmind 

1. Kirklees Transformation Plan Refresh – 2017 

2. Kirklees Transformation Plan Refresh – 2016 

3. Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan 2015 to 2020 

4. Various supporting documents and information 

Additional information sources 

1. Brain in Hand” app 

2. The Calderdale Framework 

3. Delivering the Forward View, NHS Planning Guidance 2016/17 

4. Five Year Forward View for Mental Health: One Year on 2017 

5. Five Year Forward View for Mental Health – 2016 report 

6. Five Year Forward View for Mental Health website    

7. Future in Mind: Children and Young People’s Mental Wellbeing 2015 

8. Kirklees Joint Strategic Analysis resource 

9. Lenahan review, “Building the right support ” 

10. NHS England Choices web pages 

11. NHS England Guidance “Developing support and services for children and 
young people with a learning disability, autism or both 

12. Ofsted - Kirklees Improvement Action Plan Progress  

13. The Children’s Commissioner Briefing  in Children’s Mental Healthcare 

14. The Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan 

15. The Lester Tool 

16. The Progress and challenges in the transformation of children and young 
people's mental health care report 

17. Thrive Elaborated model 

18. Thriving Kirklees website 

19. West Yorkshire and Harrogate Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

 

 

 
 

Page 179

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/futureinmind
http://braininhand.co.uk/
http://www.calderdaleframework.com/
http://www.calderdaleframework.com/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/planning-guid-16-17-20-21.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/fyfv-mh-one-year-on.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
http://www.nhsconfed.org/news/2016/07/implementing-the-five-year-forward-view-for-mental-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413393/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/lenehan-review-into-care-of-children-with-learning-disabilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/lenehan-review-into-care-of-children-with-learning-disabilities
https://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/AboutNHSservices/mental-health-services-explained/Pages/about-childrens-mental-health-services.aspx
https://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/AboutNHSservices/mental-health-services-explained/Pages/about-childrens-mental-health-services.aspx
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/developing-support-and-services-for-children-and-young-people-with-a-learning-disability-autism-or-both/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/developing-support-and-services-for-children-and-young-people-with-a-learning-disability-autism-or-both/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/kirklees-childrens-services-report-to-the-secretary-of-state
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/briefing-childrens-mental-healthcare-in-england/
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/briefing-childrens-mental-healthcare-in-england/
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/working-with-children/pdf/future-in-mind/2017-18/KirkleesHealthWellbeingPlan.pdf
https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/progress-and-challenges.pdf
https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/progress-and-challenges.pdf
http://www.annafreud.org/media/3214/thrive-elaborated-2nd-edition29042016.pdf
http://www.thrivingkirklees.org.uk/
http://www.thrivingkirklees.org.uk/
https://www.wakefieldccg.nhs.uk/fileadmin/STP/Publications/Final-draft-submission-plan.pdf


 

Kirklees Future in Mind Transformation Plan – 2017 Refresh and Progress Update          31 October 2017   120  

 

12.  Glossary and Acronyms 
ASD/ASC Autism Spectrum Disorder / Autism Spectrum Condition 

ASK CAMHS Access and Support for Kirklees - Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

CBT Cognitive Behavioural Therapy 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CETR Care, Education and Treatment Reviews 

ChEWS Children’s Emotional Wellbeing Service 

Core 24 24 hours psychiatric liaison service to Accident and Emergency Departments 

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation 

CYPEDS Children and Young People Eating Disorder Service 

CYP IAPT Children and Young People’s Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

DNA Did not attend 

EHC (P) Education Health and Care (Plans) 

EIP Early Intervention and Prevention  

KIHCP Kirklees Integrated Healthy Child Programme 

KJSA Kirklees Joint Strategic Analysis 

KPI Key Performance Indicator – used to  evaluate success at reaching targets 

LPS Local Priority Stream 

LPT CAMHS Local Transformation Plan 

MH & WB Mental Health and Well Being 

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

OT Occupational Therapy 

PCAN Parents of Children with Additional Needs 

PSHCE ed Personal, Social, Health, Citizenship and Economic education 

SALT Speech and Language Therapy 

SEMHD Social, Emotional and Mental Health Difficulties 

SEN Special Educational Needs 

SEND Special Educational Needs and Disability 

SPA Single Point of Access  

SPoC Single Point of Contact 

STP Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

TCP Transforming Care Partnership(s) 

Tier 2 Historical description for practitioners who are CAMHS specialists working in 
community and primary care settings 

Tier 3 Historical description for a multi-disciplinary service, providing a specialised 
service for children and young people with more severe, complex and 
persistent disorders.  

Tier 4 Services for children and young people with the most serious problems, such as 
day units, highly specialised outpatient teams and in-patient units. 

 

Page 180


	Agenda
	2: Minutes of previous meeting
	3: Interests
	7: Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2017-2018
	Item 7a Annual Report 2017-18 Final

	9: Updated Kirklees Joint Strategic Assessment (KJSA) Overview 2018/19
	10: Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) Local Transformation Plan Refresh
	Item 10a Kirklees-Future-In-Mind-Transformation-Plan-Refresh


